EFFECTS OF TEMPERATURE REGIMES UNDER LOW LIGHT CONDITIONS ON GROWTH RATE AND PHYTOCHEMICAL COMPOSITION OF LETTUCE AND CARROT PLANTS

Najia Shwerif

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor Philosophy



School of Agriculture Food and Rural Development (AFRD) University of Newcastle

January 2014

Abstract

Environmental conditions such as temperature have a large impact on the growth and development of plants. Lettuce and carrot contain phytochemicals (secondary metabolites) with high nutritional value. The temperature conditions that the plant is grown in may affect the content of phytochemicals, which in turn affects the quality of crops. In view of climate change this may be important for the supply of human food resources for a growing population, if the increase of temperature systematically affects food quality.

The objective of this study was to determine the effects of different growth temperatures on plant growth parameters and nutritionally relevant phytochemicals in different varieties of lettuce and carrots.

Plants of two varieties each of carrots and lettuce were grown in controlled environments at different day/night temperatures: 12/8, 17/13, 22/18, 27/23 and 32/28 °C for lettuce and 12/8, 17/13, 22/18 and 27/23 °C for carrots. Each temperature treatment was applied at a separate time and the plants were harvested after having produced 10-12 leaves (lettuce) and 6-8 leaves (carrots). The light was constant 150 μ mol /m²/s with an 11-hr-light/13-hr-dark cycle, approximately corresponding to winter outdoor conditions in Southern Europe.

Growth parameters such as number of leaves, plant height, leaf area of lettuce, fresh and dry weight were recorded. The sugar levels, nitrate concentration, phenolic compounds, carotenoids and chlorophyll pigments were determined in leaves and root of both species, in addition to polyacetylene compounds in carrot roots.

The results showed that temperature had a highly significant effect on growth parameters. The lowest temperature (12/8 °C) produced the highest dry matter content of both shoots and roots; the biomass of both species peaked at 17/13 °C and the leaf area of lettuce was greatest at 22/18 °C. The rate of leaf production was more rapid at higher temperatures than below 18 °C. Lettuce varieties responded more positively to high temperature than the carrots. Carrot root growth was inhibited with increasing temperatures above (22/18 °C).

Concentrations of phytochemicals were also affected significantly by growth temperature. Polyacetylenes in carrot roots increased by at least 50 % when grown at the lowest temperature of 12/8 °C. The accumulation of phenolic compounds in both carrots and lettuce leaves was associated with both low and high temperatures over the range tested, while the levels at 22/18 °C were only 3-50 % of the highest values. High temperatures (17, 22, 27 °C) also more than doubled nitrate contents, particularly in lettuce. In contrast there were higher levels of sugar in plants grown at low temperature compared with high temperature. Temperatures above 22 °C increased accumulation of chlorophylls in lettuce leaves. Contents of carotenoids (lutein, α -carotene and β -carotene and lutein in lettuce leaves were slightly higher at 22/18 °C than other regimes. Growth temperature had a greater effect on the composition of carrots and lettuce than variety (genotype).

The directions of the effects on composition were as expected from the physiological mechanisms involved. However for most of the measured compounds, the present study is the first to determine magnitudes of the effects. Such information could be useful to growers as it may help them to make decisions about variety choice or fertilizer application rates dependent on the temperature regimes experienced or applied during growth.

These effects could become increasingly important aspects as climate change and global warming proceeds with potentially substantial implications for the links between diet and human health.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research project was financially supported by the Higher Education Ministry of Libya. I would like to show my gratitude to both my supervisors, Dr Kirsten Brandt and Dr Stephen Wilcockson for their helpful advice during the course of this project.

Many thanks to technician team: Wendy Bal, Fiona Maclachlan, Peter Shotton, Chris Bulman, Brian Brown and Steven Hall for their support, help with laboratory work and health and safety. Also I would like to thank all the staff members in the School of Agriculture, Food and Rural Development for their cooperation. Finally, but not least my sincere thanks to my husband, my mother and brothers for their encouragement, support and endless prayers.

Abbreviations used

Abbreviation Formatting	Description
NO ₃	Nitrate
Temp	Temperature
Var	Variety
Chla	Chlorophyll a
Chlb	Chlorophyll b
Abs	Absorption
Car	Carotenoids
Cx+c	Total carotenoids
FaDOH	Falcarindiol
FaDOAc	Falcarinol 3- acetate
FaOH	Falcarinol
α- Carotene	Alpha carotene
β-Carotene	Beta carotene
Lut	Lutein
DW	Dry weight
FW	Fresh weight
СР	Carrot variety Parmex
CLF	Carrot variety Little Finger
LD	Lettuce variety Dixter
LE	Lettuce variety Exbury
hr	Hours
HPLC	High Performance Liquid Chromatography
RT	Retention time
GLM	General Linear Model
SEM	Standard Error of Mean
LA	Leaf area
Con	Concentration
H_2O	Water
TFA	Trifluoroacetic acid
CAN	Acetonitrile
3-CQA	Chlorogenic acid (3-Caffeoylquinic acid)
C3G	Cyanidin 3-glucoside
NEDD	N-(1-Naphthyl) ethylenediamine
	dihydrochloride

Table of contents

ABSTRACT	I
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	III
ABBREVIATIONS USED	IV
TABLE OF CONTENTS	V
LIST OF TABLES	IX
LIST OF FIGURES	X

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW

1. Introduction	1
1.1 Plant growth and development	2
1.1.1 Carrot (Daucus carota L)	4
1.1.2 Lettuce (<i>Lactuca sativa L</i>)	5
1.2 Abiotic environmental stress of plants	6
1.2.1 Effect of temperature on plant growth and development	7
1.2.1.1 The influence of low temperature on plants	8
1.2.1.2 Effects of high temperature on plant growth	10
1.3 Phytochemicals	11
1.3.1 Carotenoids	12
1.3.1.1 Beta Carotene (β-Car)	14
1.3.1.2 Lutein	15
1.3.2 Chlorophylls structure and function	16
1.3.3 Sugar content in plants	18
1.3.4 Plant nitrate accumulation	19
1.3.5 Phenolic acids	21
1.3.5.1 Chlorogenic acid (CGA)	22
1.3.5.2 Caffeic acid	22
1.3.6 Polyacetylene compounds	23
1.4 Aims and objectives	25

CHAPTER 2. MATERIAL AND METHODS

2.1 Preliminary experiments	27
2.1.1 Growth chamber test	27
2.1.2 Screening lettuce varieties	28
2.1.3 Watering system	30
2.1.4 Light and temperature test in the growth chamber	32
2.2 Experimental set up	33
2.2.1 Planting and growth parameters measurement	34
2.3.1.1 Location, Design of experiments	34
2.2.1.2 Plant materials and growth conditions	34
2.2.1.3 Plant growth parameters recorded and strategy of harvest	35
2.2.1.4 Biomass determination	35
2.2.1.5 Storage conditions	36
2.2.1.6 Measuring leaf area	36
2.2.2 Phytochemicals analysis	37
2.2.2.1 Sugar content analysis (total soluble solids)	37
2.2.2.2 Measurement of Nitrate (spectrophotometer)	38
2.2.2.1 Developments and modifications of method	38
2.2.2.2 Final method used for main experiments	40
2.2.2.3 Extraction of carotenes, chlorophylls and polyacetylenes	41
2.2.2.3.1 Chlorophylls measurement spectrophotometrically (method A)	41
2.2.2.3.2 Development and modifications of the HPLC method (B)	44
2.2.2.3.3 Final method used for main experiments	46
2.2.2.3.4 UV-Visible Spectroscopy	46
2.2.2.3.5 HPLC Analysis of carotenes, chlorophylls and polyacetylenes	48
2.2.2.3.6 Identification and quantification	48
2.2.2.4 Extraction of phenolic acids	50
2.3.2.4.1 Development and modifications of method	50
2.2.2.4.2 Final method used for main experiments	53
2.2.3.4.3 HPLC analyses	53
2.2.3.4.4 Quantification of phenolic compounds	54
2.3 Statistical analysis	56

CHAPTER 3. RESULTS

3.1 Growth rate parameters	58
3.1.1 Effect of temperature on rate of leaf production and harvest period	58
3.1.2 Leaf production rate	60
3.1.3 Plant height (growth rate)	64
3.1.4 Leaf area	68
3.1.5 Fresh and dry weight (plant biomass)	69
3.1.6 Dry matter (%)	73
3.1.7 Root /shoot dry weight	75
3.2 Phytochemicals	77
3.2.1 Sugar content (soluble solids)	77
3.2.2 Nitrate concentration	80
3.2.4 Chlorophylls and carotenoids (HPLC analysis)	83
3.2.4.1 Chlorophylls	84
3.2.4.2 Carotenoids	86
3.2.5 Polyacetylene compounds of carrot root	90
3.2.6 Phenolic compounds	93
3.2.6.1 Phenolic acids in Lettuce:	93
3.2.6.2 Quercetin derivatives in lettuce	96
3.2.6.3 Anthocyanin in lettuce leaves	97
3.2.6.4 Comparisons with standards of phenolic acids in carrot:	100

CHAPTER 4. DISCUSSION

4.1 Effect of temperature on plant growth parameters	112
4.1.1 Effect of temperature on plant growth rate and time to harvest	112
4.1.2 Growth and plant biomass production	112
4.1.3 Leaf area	114
4.2 Phytochemicals	114
4.2.1 Sugar content	115
4.2.2 Nitrate concentration	115
4.2.3 Chlorophyll pigments	118
4.2.4 Carotenoid composition	119
4.2.5 Polyacetylene compounds of carrot root	120

4.2.6 Phenolic compounds	121
4.2.6.1 Phenolic acids	121
4.2.6.2 Anthocyanin of lettuce	122
4.2.7 Effects of temperature on plant composition	124

CHAPTER 5 . CONCLUSION AND FUTURE WORK

5.1	Conclusion	127
5.2	Future work and recommendation	128

CHAPTER 6. REFERENCES

6. R	rences1	3	0
------	---------	---	---

CHAPTER 7. APPENDIX

7.1 Materials and methods	157
7.1.1 Experimental overview	157
7.1.2 Growth parameters	158
7.1.2.1 Leaf area analysis	158
7.1.3 Phytochemicals analysis	159
7.1.3.1 Nitrate measurement	159
7.2 Results	160
7.2.1 Growth rate	160
7.2.1.1 Plant biomass	160
7.2.2 Chlorophylls and carotenoids	164
7.2.3 Polyacetylene compounds (HPLC)	168
7.2.4 Phenolic compounds	169

List of Tables

Table 1.1 Main carotenoids identified in carrot and lettuce (Nicolle et al., 2004; Larsen
and Christensen, 2005; Kopsell and Kopsell, 2006)13
Table 1.2 Maximum levels of nitrate according to European Commission (EC)regulation No. 1822/200519
Table 2.1 Accurate specific (α) and millimolar (ϵ mM) extinction coefficients for chlorophyll a, b (Chl), lutein (Lut) and α , β - carotene (α , β - car) in different solvents.49
Table 2.2 Shows the three methods used to test phenolic compounds
Table 2.3 List of standards used to compare and identify phenolic compounds. All standards were prepared as stock concentration of 0.1 mg/mL in 70 % Methanol55
Table 3.1 Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) for the phenolic peaks of leaf and root of
carrot varieties grown at different temperatures

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Average household consumption of fruit and vegetables 1990-2010 in the
UK, UK household purchased quantities of food and drink (2011)
Figure 1.2 Plant growth rate responses to minimum (T min), optimum (T opt) and maximum temperatures (T max), (Fitter and Hay, 2002)7
Figure 1.3 Main classification of phytochemicals according to (Tiwari and Cummins, 2011)
Figure 1.4 Chemical structures of β - carotene and α - carotene. (Baranska <i>et al.</i> , 2005).
Figure 1.5 The chemical structure of chlorophyll a, (Nobel, 2009)17
Figure 1.6 Chemical structure of two main phenolic acid classes (Manach <i>et al.</i> , 2004).
Figure 1.7 Chemical structure of the main polyacetylenes, (1) falcarinol (FaOH), (2)
falcarindiol (FaDOH), (3) falcaridiol -3-acetate (FaDOAc) present in carrot roots24
Figure 2.1 Effect of different cabinets Fisons and Sanyo on carrot growth after 8 weeks at 22/18 °C. The lengths of the roots in both chambers were more or less the same about 3 cm
Figure 2.2 Effect of the different type of cabinets Fisons and Sanyo on a fresh weight
of lettuce varieties (Ashbrook and Dixter) grown after 5 weeks at 22/18 °C. The values
represent the means, the error bars indicate the SEM, (n=2)
Figure 2.3 Fresh leaf weight of different lettuce varieties grown at 22/18 °C (Sanyo
growth chamber). Values are the mean, the error bars indicate the SEM, (n=2)
Figure 2.4 Numbers of leaves per plant and height of different lettuce varieties grown at $22/18$ °C (Sanyo growth chamber). Values are the mean, the error bars indicate the SEM, (n=2)
Figure 2.5 Water systems (A) and (B) tested during the preliminary experiment (section
2.1.2) at (22/18 °C), in the Sanyo growth chamber
Figure 2.6 Amount of water supplied to plants in two different watering systems at
22/18 °C
V

Figure 2.7 Effect of fresh plant (FW) and dry weight (DW) per plant of different lettuce varieties grown after a 6 week period at 22/18 °C within two watering systems (A and B). Values are the mean, error bars indicate the SEM, (n = 2)......31

Figure 2.10 Standard curves for the sugar determination of carrot (A) and lettuce (B).38

Figure 2.13 The effect of lettuce variety (Dixter, Exbury) and temperature on chlorophylls (chl a and b) and total carotenoids ($C_x + C$), (measured spectrophotometrically). Means with different letters within a chlorophyll type are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate SEM, (n = 3).......42

Figure 2.15 Tests undertaken on different quantities of samples (dry material) and extraction time (40 and 70 mg for 2 days and 2 g for 3 days) for relative variability percentage of polyacetylenes (falcarindiol, falcarindiol 3-acetate and falcarinol) and carotenes (α and β -carotenes) in carrot root which were analysed by HPLC.......45

Figure 2.16 Visible spectra of chlorophylls a and b standard......47

Figure 2.17 Visible spectra of lutein, α -carotene and β -carotene standard......47

Figure 3.1 Effects of different temperatures on weeks to harvest of lettuce and carrot.

Figure 3.7 Effect of temperature regimes on height of lettuce (Dixter and Exbury). 64

Figure 3.9 Effect of temperature regimes on height of carrot (Parmex and Little Finger).

Figure 3.10 The effect of carrot variety (Parmex and Little Finger) and different growth temperature regimes on growth rate (as height change) until harvest (when the plants

Figure 3.17 The effect of carrot variety (Parmex and Little Finger) and temperature regime on dry matter content of leaves and root. Means with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n = 3). 74

Figure 3.31 The effect of carrot variety (Parmex and Little Finger) and temperature on root lutein, α -carotene, β -carotene and *Cis* β -carotene. Means with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n = 3). 89

Figure 3.34 The effect of carrot variety (Parmex and Little Finger) and temperature on root falcarindiol, falcariniol-3-acetate and falcarinol concentrations. Means with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate SEM, (n = 3).

Figure 3.47 The effect of carrot variety (Little Finger) and temperature regimes on individual phenolic acids concentration in the leaf (shown in Figure 3.42). Means with

Figure 3.50 The effect of carrot variety (Little Finger) and temperature regimes on individual phenolic acid concentrations in the roots. Means with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n = 3).

CHAPTER 1 . INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW

1. Introduction

Temperature is an environmental factor that has large effects on growth, development, yield and quality of food crops. Currently, relatively little is known about the extent to which temperature influences the phytochemical composition and concentration of plant tissues. However, many researchers have previously shown the major importance of phytochemicals in the human diet. Some phytochemicals have beneficial health effects and may help to resist diseases such as some forms of cancers, whilst others may actually encourage disease.

Clearly therefore, the effects of temperature on growth yield and phytochemical content of important vegetable crops such as lettuce and carrot, which have high nutritional value and are widely consumed, may have very important implications. This is becoming more significant in view of a) global warming – temperature changes and stresses will undoubtedly influence plant composition - and b) the increasing interest in the link between diet and human health. Appropriate investigations to improve our knowledge and understanding of the inter-relationships should make it possible to identify the impact of increasing temperature on the functionality of these foods.

The research programme reported in this thesis aims to investigate the effects of different temperature regimes, on a) The growth and development of lettuce and carrot in growth chambers, b) Concentrations of different components such as sugar content, chlorophyll, nitrate, carotenoids, phenolic acids, and polyacetylene compound levels. These are important characteristics in terms of food quality, and may be manipulated to advantage by growing plants at appropriate and desirable temperatures.

Carrot and lettuce were chosen for this project, because both are widely cultivated and consumed around the world, and have high nutritional value. On a more practical note, these two species were easy to manage as test plants by growing them in modules in growth chambers over relatively short periods of time.

1.1 Plant growth and development

The growth environment of plants, particularly the combination of solar radiation, water supply and temperature affects their survival, development, productivity and quality (Stringer and Dennis, 2000). The combination of biotic (associated with living-organisms' functions, processes and interactions) and abiotic (physical) factors (e.g. temperature, water supply) affect plants from the molecular to the whole-plant level. Therefore, an understanding of the different balances of these different types of factors is necessary to allow a precise analysis of the plant condition in different growth environments (Rojdestvenski *et al.*, 1999; Hirt and Shinozaki, 2003; Souza and Cardoso, 2003; Pinheiro and Chaves, 2011; Vítolo *et al.*, 2012)

The climatic conditions play a significant role on plant growth, yield, maturation and quality, (Chormova, 2010). Moreover, Khoo *et al.* (2011) have reported that the growing conditions, maturity stage, carotenoid concentration and food processing are considered to be the primary factors affecting the compositional characteristics of vegetables and fruits.

Temperature, light intensity, CO_2 , humidity, water and mineral supply are abiotic factors and are the main environmental factors that can affect a plant's development. At sub-optimal levels, stress occurs with negative impacts on the plant, (Galindo *et al.*, 2007). Most of the development processes of plants and their rates, are controlled primarily by temperature, while other environmental factors have less marked effects (Fitter and Hay, 2002). Moreover responses to environmental changes differ between the cultivated species, especially between C_3 and C_4 plants, (Vitolo *et al.*, 2012).

Vegetables are an important part of the human diet and increasing their consumption is highly recommended. They are a major source of dietary fibre and micronutrients, including, the antioxidant compounds, such as carotenoids and polyphenols: 70-90 % of carotenoids are provided by fruits and vegetables in the diet (Granado-Lorencio *et al.*, 2007; Singh *et al.*, 2012). In their raw state, alliums (onions and garlic), green vegetables, carrots and tomatoes are known to be protective against cancer, (Barbosa-Filho *et al.*, 2008). However, there are large variations in antioxidant contents (phytochemical) between the different fruits and vegetables, which reflect species differences in response to the environmental conditions under which the crop is produced (Hayashi *et al.*, 2012).

The World Health Organization (WHO, 2003) recommends that at least five portions of fruit and vegetables are eaten per person day (80 g is a typical portion, resulting in 5×80 = 400 g per day and 2800 g per week). However the consumption rate in England is still below the required levels (Doyle and Hosfield, 2001), at about 3 portions a day. This represents a low daily intake according to UK government recommendations with an increased risk factor of contracting certain diseases as a consequence (Block, 1992; Sanders, 2007). However, Figure 1.1 below shows an average household's fruit and vegetables consumption in the UK during the period (1990-2010). According to (UK household purchased quantities of food and drink, 2011), it shows an increasing rate of fruit consumption from 1990-1998, increasing and decreasing until 2004 then increasing to the highest consumption level (1313g/person/week) in 2006 before decreasing again until 2010. Vegetables also show variable consumption levels during the ten years while 1990 -1992 had the highest consumption rate (~1200 g/person/week). One of the top ten factors affecting the global mortality rate is the low consumption of fruit and vegetables (WHO, 2003).



Figure 1.1 Average household consumption of fruit and vegetables 1990-2010 in the UK, UK household purchased quantities of food and drink (2011).

1.1.1 Carrot (*Daucus carota L*)

The carrot (*Daucus carota* L.) storage root vegetable belongs to the Umbelliferae group. In many countries it is considered a primary vegetable in a person's diet all-year-round (Nicolle *et al.*, 2004; Gajewski *et al.*, 2010; Singh *et al.*, 2012). It has a pleasant flavor and contains a high concentration of minerals, vitamins and fibre which provide health benefits (Alasalvar *et al.*, 2001). Over the past few decades the consumption of carrots has been increasing in the U.S (Lucier and Lin, 2007) and the UK (Wright, 2005) relative to most other commonly consumed vegetables. Annual carrot production equates to approximately 28 million tonnes globally (FAOSTAT, 2009).

Carrot crops are grown in temperate and subtropical regions (Macko and Grzebelus, 2008). They are direct seeded (not transplanted) and establishment is sensitive to both low or high temperatures which can cause poor stands and low yields (Nascimento *et al.*, 2008). Carrots have a deeper root system than almost all other vegetables (Thorup-Kristensen, 2006) and require deep fertile soil with good water holding capacity, free of stones and loose consistency for optimum development (Munro and Small, 1997).

There are different sizes and shapes of carrot roots such as cylindrical or tapering roots. The Nantes, conical Chantenays, Autumn King and Berlicum varieties are the main types in the UK, (Stringer and Dennis, 2000). The common varieties of carrot available in the United States are Imperator (most common), Nantes, Chantenay and Danvers (Lucier and Lin, 2007). They can be eaten raw or processed into a range of foods, including, cooked, canned, frozen and dehydrated products (Kreutzmann *et al.*, 2008).

Unlike some other vegetables, an important feature of carrots is the possibility of being harvested at different times during the growth cycle to achieve high prices, depending on the size and conditions of the market. The crop may be harvested early when roots are small although it is often harvested when it has grown to its full size and may be stored for long periods prior to consumption (Martin *et al.*, 2009).

In general, concentrations of bioactive compounds found in the storage roots of carrots, which are the basic content for both human nutrition and taste, are mostly affected by growing conditions and crop agronomy (Singh *et al.*, 2012). The carrot contains a number of mineral elements and other micronutrients (Nicolle *et al.*, 2004).

The phytochemicals include anthocyanin, phenolic acids and carotenoids, which are responsible for various colours in carrot varieties such as orange, yellow, red, and purple and white. However, the colour of some plants is determined by the concentration of phytochemicals.

High concentrations of α - and β -carotene present in carrots gives the characteristic orange colour, while increased lycopene gives the red colour. Yellow carrots contain increased lutein concentrations while white carrots have lower concentrations of all carotenoids, as observed by (Poudyal *et al.*, 2010). The genotype, plant development (growth stages) and growth temperature are the main influences that determine the colour of the carrot (Nicolle *et al.*, 2004).

However, Nicolle *et al.* (2004) conclude that there are high correlations between the carrot root colour and carotenoid levels, with high carotenoid concentration correlated (associated) with the dark orange carrot roots.

Krinsky and Johnson (2005) have reported that the β -carotene concentration of raw carrots and cooked carrots are 18.3 and 8.0 mg/100 g fresh weight respectively. This provides an indication of the effect of food processing on carotenoid concentrations.

1.1.2 Lettuce (*Lactuca sativa L*)

Lettuce is an important worldwide, dietary, leafy vegetable that is primarily cultivated and consumed as a fresh product or in salad mixes. It is an important source of phytonutrients, (Liu et al., 2007; Khoo et al., 2011; Cruz et al., 2012). Lettuce is an annual herbaceous plant belonging to the Compositae (Asteraceae family). It is abundant and there are many types that probably originated in Mediterranean areas. Now it is commercially distributed throughout the world. Within the European Union, lettuce is the fourth most important vegetable crop in a human's diet (Boo et al., 2011; Baslam and Goicoechea, 2012), but fifth in the United States (Lucier and Jerardo, 2005). There are different types of lettuce cultivars such as head romaine (cos) and leaf (loose), with diverse colours, shapes and textures, (Hedges and Lister, 2005; Koike et al., 2006). Specific types of lettuce grown in the UK are called round, cos, iceberg, baby leaf, little gem and coloured lettuce. Green leafy vegetables are a good source of vitamins and minerals, (Raju et al., 2007) and lettuce particularly so. In addition to these nutrients, the phenolic antioxidants are one of the most important components present in lettuce (Romani et al., 2002). Whereas the most important pigments which most lettuce cultivars contain are β -carotene, lutein, zeaxanthin, green cultivars contain chlorophyll, and red cultivars anthocyanin, (Hedges and Lister, 2005).

It has been shown by (DuPont *et al.*, 2000; Manach *et al.*, 2004) that the phenolic components in lettuce are probably affected by genotype, crop agronomy and environmental factors. Since lettuce is shallow rooting, irrigation is required for improvement of growth and development (Baslam and Goicoechea, 2012). Lettuce is a cool temperature crop, growing best within a range between 10-20 °C, (Joy and Roger, 2003) although Kimball *et al.* (1967) report that the optimum temperature ranges are 17-28 °C day temperature and 2-11 °C night temperature. However, lettuce seeds fail to germinate at 25 °C, as they are small-seeded and hence they rapidly dehydrate, (Fountain and Bewley, 1976). According to FAOSTAT, (2010) the production of lettuce and chicory was 133,900 tonnes in the United Kingdom and 4,105,580 tonnes in the United States of America respectively in 2010.

1.2 Abiotic environmental stress of plants

Temperature (low or high), drought, light, and salinity are among the common environmental factors that cause abiotic stresses, (Rao *et al.*, 2006; Toivonen and Hodges, 2011). Abiotic stresses are considered to be major factors that negatively affect plant growth and productivity at different stages of growth (Levitt, 1972; Haferkamp, 1987; Gao *et al.*, 2007; Hodges and Tolvonen, 2008). Moreover, prolonged exposure to stress can cause plant death, (Rao *et al.*, 2006). According to Cramer *et al.* (2011) it is the sub-optimal environmental conditions that cause abiotic stresses which can cause a reduction of plant growth and yield

Plant growth, productivity and many morphological, physiological and molecular processes respond and adapt to abiotic stresses through various mechanisms (Cao *et al.*, 2011; Sanghera *et al.*, 2011). For example, plants exposed to abiotic stress may stimulate some genes to initiate a metabolic process and hence increase protein levels to provide protection against these stresses, (Sanghera *et al.*, 2011). Various plant species differ in their response to abiotic stress which may have more damaging effects at certain plant growth stages (Jones *et al.*, 1989).

1.2.1 Effect of temperature on plant growth and development

Temperature is one of the major ecological abiotic factors that limits the geographical distribution of plants (Berry and Bjorkman, 1980; Kopsell, 2010) and has an effect on plant growth, development and function (Morison and Lawlor, 1999) with important implications for agricultural crop production. Furthermore, the genetic adaption of plants to different temperature regimes is considered a key factor to growth and survival of a species in their environment, (Criddle *et al.*, 1997). For each plant species there are defined minimum (below 0 °C), optimum and maximum (above 40 °C) temperatures for growth (Figure 1.2). Therefore the temperate and tropical plant classification is based on the response to different temperatures. On this basis the overall physiology component processes can be varied in response to temperature and thus determine the net photosynthesis (Fitter and Hay, 2002; Qin *et al.*, 2007).



Figure 1.2 Plant growth rate responses to minimum (T min), optimum (T opt) and maximum temperatures (T max), (Fitter and Hay, 2002).

Temperature is considered to have the most important influence on sensory and chemical aspects of crop quality although light seems to have the main effect on morphological growth parameters such as total leaf and root dry weight, leaf area, length and diameter of roots, additionally to light intensity effects, (Albayrak and Çamas, 2007; Seljasen *et al.*, 2012). However, whatever the pattern and timing of plant

development, the temperature parameter may be key for these processes, (Fitter and Hay, 2002).

To achieve high productivity and good quality crops the whole plants require optimal day and night temperatures, (Kimball et al., 1967) whilst sub-optimal temperatures restrict the processes of plant growth and development to some extent, (Vítolo et al., 2012). The temperature range of plant growth is from 0 to 40 °C (Figure 1.2), and within this range the performance of most physiological processes behaves normally, while very high and very low temperatures ranges can cause injury effects, (Went, 1953). The main functions that are essential to plant growth and development are photosynthesis, respiration and transpiration (Llorach *et al.*, 2008). Photosynthesis is strongly affected by temperature regimes and typically is near to maximal within a range of moderate temperatures (15-30 °C) for most temperate species and plants (Atkinson et al., 2010). Due to the effect of enzymatically catalysed reactions of photosynthesis processes (Lambers et al., 2008), there is an instant reduction in net CO₂ exchange in light, caused by the exposure to high (Seemann et al., 1984) or low temperatures (Berry and Bjorkman, 1980). The change of net photosynthesis with temperature has been summarized by (Fitter and Hay, 2002). Below 0 °C and above 40 °C gross photosynthesis stops, at high temperatures due to the increasing rate of respiration, and at intermediate temperatures < 20 °C respiration rates are slightly lower than at higher temperatures. Different plant species respond differently to the environmental variables, however many may differ in their ability to resist temperature extremes during their different growth stages. During each stage of growth and development a plant has its own specific optimum temperature range that differs with different species, as well as with a plant's age, (Agrios, 2005).

1.2.1.1 The influence of low temperature on plants

Plant growth processes such as photosynthesis, water transport, survival, cell division and yield are affected by low temperature. Therefore low temperature is an abiotic factor that affects plant growth and productivity, (Gray *et al.*, 1997; Badea and Basu, 2009; Sanghera *et al.*, 2011). Plant metabolism rates, growth and development slow down at low temperatures (Fitter and Hay, 2002). Two stress conditions of low growth temperature are chilling (< 20 °C) and freezing (< 0 °C) and are classified under cold stress. This can have in some cases significant negative effects on growth and development of plants and thus plays a key, limiting role in plant productivity and distribution (Chinnusamy *et al.*, 2007; Badea and Basu, 2009). In contrast, some crop genotypes exhibit cold tolerance and have the ability to survive and perform considerably better than some other less tolerant genotypes under low temperature conditions, (Sanghera *et al.*, 2011).

At low temperatures in the range 1-12 °C, several plant species are either injured or killed, whilst other species appear to be more tolerant to low temperatures and can survive below 0 °C (Lyons, 1973).

Agrios (2005) shows that plants affected by low temperature, deteriorate or/and may at times stop growing when the temperature becomes near to, or in, the freezing range. On the other hand, the ability of plants to withstand temperature differs between growth stages: generally, young seedlings are less able to resist cold temperatures than older plants. Moreover, different organs of the same plant type may have a different ability to resist low temperatures, (Badea and Basu, 2009). The response of plants to cold stress has different phenotypic symptoms as described by (Yadav, 2010; Sanghera et al., 2011). These symptoms are poor germination or growth retardation, stunted growth of seedlings, chlorosis (yellowing leaves) and wilting. However, the primary injury effect of cold stress occurs in the cellular membranes and this damage leads to dehydration. Protection of the plant membrane's stability is a common defence mechanism and the first reaction to exposure to cold stress is via changing of membrane lipid composition by the increase of fatty acid unsaturation rate, (Badea and Basu, 2009; Sanghera et al., 2011). In addition to causing membrane injury, cold stress damages the chloroplasts and decreases photosynthesis, (Sanghera et al., 2011) but the extent of the adverse effects depends upon the intensity and duration of the stresses, (Jan et al., 2009).

It has been demonstrated that (Chinnusamy *et al.*, 2007) plant metabolic reactions are affected both directly and indirectly by low temperature. The membrane fluidity, water and nutrient absorption and DNA formation represent the direct effects, these reduce the rates of biochemical reactions immediately or by an indirect effect through the genetic change over the much longer term. One way of responding to cold stress is the expression of genes that represent increasing a number of metabolites, some of which are known to act as protection factors against damage caused by cold stress, (Sanghera *et al.*, 2011).

1.2.1.2 Effects of high temperature on plant growth

The other abiotic stress that belongs to extreme temperatures and has an unfavourable effect on plant growth and which is often associated with deficiency of water is high temperature. This is due to the increased demand of evaporation through transpiration. In general, growth occurs within the temperature range 0-40 °C, although the optimum growth occurs between 15-30 °C. However, when the temperature rises above the maximum, plants deteriorate more rapidly than when the temperature is lower than the minimum, (Agrios, 2005). Shahrzad and Bitsch (1996) and Schwarz et al. (2010) show that the metabolic rates of a plant increase exponentially with temperature above 25–30 °C. The complex process resulting from high temperature depends on duration, intensity and the range of change temperature. However, photosynthesis, respiration, membrane stability, hormone levels, and thus metabolites (primary and secondary) are possibly adversely affected, (Wahid et al., 2007). Heat stress effects on photosynthetic reactions are the most sensitive processes (thermosensitive) of a plant function, which may cause growth limitations due to extremely high temperatures, whereas the damage to photosynthetic electron transport is one of the primary consequences caused by high temperature stress (Seemann et al., 1984; Taub et al., 2000).

Carrots grown in high temperature (mainly in the summer) may establish poorly and show limited growth and development (Nascimento *et al.*, 2008). Although the growth of lettuce root is inhibited and the root diameter increased when grown at high temperature e.g. 38 °C, this is due to the limitation of enzymes metabolism activity (Qin *et al.*, 2007).

The length of the germination period and germination percentage for carrot genotypes differs when grown in high temperatures (Nascimento *et al.*, 2008). The germination period decreased as temperatures increase up to 20 °C, whilst germination percentage decreased with an increase of temperature for most seed cultivars of carrot grown at 35 °C, (Pereira *et al.*, 2007). Both the genotypes and environmental conditions control performance of lettuce germination in high temperatures when the temperature increases above 28 °C, (Sung *et al.*, 1998). This difference in ability of lettuce to grow in high temperatures led to two groups being identified: thermotolerant and thermosensitive, (Kozarewa *et al.*, 2006).

1.3 Phytochemicals

Phytochemicals are natural chemical bioactive compounds present in fruit and vegetables. They make an important nutritional contribution to the human diet, providing health benefits (McCann et al., 2005). The levels of phytochemicals in various vegetables and fruits change over pre and post-harvest stages, between raw and processed states and according to the colour of vegetables:- dark coloured vegetables contain higher levels compared with paler coloured vegetables (Tiwari and Cummins, 2011). Also several plant foods have very low levels of phytochemicals or none at all. On the basis of their chemical structure, function and source, phytochemicals have been classified in many fruit and vegetables, (Tiwari and Cummins, 2011). In excess of more than 100 different phytochemicals have been found in plant food. Among these compounds are phenols and polyphenol, Bioflavonoids, Carotenoids, Flavonoids and Isoflavones distributed in a wide range of food plants (Figure 1.3). They are characterised by their numerous health benefits (Hark and Deen, 2005), due to the phytochemicals' functions that act as antioxidants, (Lv et al., 2012), that are reported to have potential health effects such as reducing cancer risk (McCann et al., 2005). Many researchers agree that the concentration of phytochemicals has strong correlations with various factors including genotype, environmental conditions, agricultural practices, food processes and storage conditions, (Tiwari and Cummins, 2011).



Figure 1.3 Main classification of phytochemicals according to (Tiwari and Cummins, 2011).

1.3.1 Carotenoids

A very important group of pigments in fruit and vegetable-based products are called carotenoids, (Knockaert *et al.*, 2012). Carotenoids are widely distributed with a significantly structural range and various functions. More than 600 carotenoids have been isolated and characterised from natural sources, with around 40 found in the normal human diet. The simple identification of carotenoids are lipid-soluble (insoluble in water) pigments present in all photosynthetic organisms: these are considered bioactive substances in foods for their antioxidant activities, (Paiva and Russell, 1999; Kopsell and Kopsell, 2006; Marinova and Ribarova, 2007).

The central location that extends the conjugated double-bond system is considered to be the important characteristic which constitutes the light-absorbing chromosphere. This gives the colour of carotenoids as well as providing the visible absorption spectrum that is determined through their identification and quantification, (Hendry and Houghton, 1996; Rodriguez-Amaya and Kimura, 2004). Carotenes act as a precursor for vitamin A, which is the most important antioxidant known to play a role in the prevention of certain diseases, (Singh *et al.*, 2012). The absorption spectrum (λ) of carotenoids ranging from 400 -500 nm, and the number of conjugated double bonds determines the absorption, (Berg et al., 2000). Carotenoids are classified into two main groups: the first is called carotenes (hydrocarbons) such as α - and β - carotene and lycopene, while the second group is xanthophylls (oxocarotenoids) that contain an oxygen atom in their molecule structure such as lutein, zeaxanthin (Rodic et al., 2012). Due to the carotenoid pigments and anthocyanin present in the carrot, these create different colours such as orange, red, purple, black and white, produced in roots during maturation and are present in high concentrations in carrots, (Kjellenberg et al., 2012; Knockaert et al., 2012; Singh et al., 2012). Numerous studies have been focused on carotenoids due to their important biological functions for humans and also as a natural pigment (Pinheiro-Sant'Ana et al., 1998). There is a wide abundance of carotenoid pigments in many fruits and vegetables in diverse forms involved in photobiology, photochemistry and photomedicine (Dutta et al., 2005). Many epidemiological studies have shown clear correlation between the rich sources of carotenoids provided by vegetables and fruit in fresh, frozen and canned food products and cardiovascular diseases and incidence of cancer, (Mueller, 1997; Rickman et al., 2007). The quality and the quantity of carotenoid composition differ. The leafy and non-leafy green vegetables are known to

contain major carotenoids such as lutein, β -carotene, violaxanthin, and neoxanthin, in addition to small concentrations of other carotene like α -carotene, zeaxanthin (Rodriguez-Amaya and Kimura, 2004).

Hendry and Houghton (1996) considered the pigments to be quite large molecules, however the molecular weights of most common pigments range from 200, 300, 400, 500 to 800 Daltons for anthraquinones, anthocyanidins, betalaines, carotenoids and chlorophylls respectively. As previously mentioned carotenes concentration is mainly influenced by genotype/cultivar, production area, and other environmental factors, biotic (e.g. oxidation) and abiotic (e.g. temperature). Due to the structure of carotenoids and lipophilic features, during their exposure to biotic or abiotic factors the molecules of carotenoids, oxidation and isomerization degradation may occur that affects the biochemistry and bioavailability of carotenoids, (Baranska and Schulz, 2005; Kopsell and Kopsell, 2006). Within the plants, the process of biosynthesis of carotenoids occurs as per the following sequence: - phytoene \rightarrow phytofluene $\rightarrow \zeta$ -carotene \rightarrow neurosporene \rightarrow lycopene $\rightarrow \gamma$ -carotene $\rightarrow \beta$ -carotene as observed by (Paiva and Russell, 1999). The carotenes have a similar chemical structure in plants, bacteria and protists but the synthetic make-up of carotene is different during the primary steps between different organisms (Kim and DellaPenna, 2006).

Table 1.1 Main carotenoids identified in carrot and lettuce (Nicolle *et al.*, 2004; Larsen and Christensen, 2005; Kopsell and Kopsell, 2006).

Food plant	Carotenoids identified
Carrot	All-trans β -carotene (highest concentration), all- <i>trans</i> α -carotene, lutein and lycopene.
Lettuce	All- <i>trans</i> β -carotene, lactucaxanthin, all-translutein, 9- <i>cis</i> lutein, 9'- <i>cis</i> lutein, 13- <i>cis</i> lutein, all- <i>trans</i> and cis lutein epoxide, neolutein, all- <i>trans</i> neoxanthin, 9'- <i>cis</i> neoxanthin, violaxanthin, all- <i>trans</i> zeaxanthin, 9- <i>cis</i> zeaxanthin and 13- <i>cis</i> zeaxanthin.

1.3.1.1 Beta Carotene (β-Car)

 α - and β - carotene shown in Figure 1.4 are the main carotenoid compounds contained in fruits and vegetables, and most abundant in carrot roots that are responsible for the orange colour (Gajewski *et al.*, 2010). β -carotene is located in the chromoplasts (surrounded by a double bilayer membrane) of the plant cells (surrounded by a cell membrane and a cell wall), where it is often associated with proteins and/or residual membranes, as found in chromoplasts of carrot (Knockaert *et al.*, 2012). Due to the ability of β -Carotene to convert into a vitamin A, it is considered to be one of the most important compounds that has health benefits, (Krinsky and Johnson, 2005).



Figure 1.4 Chemical structures of β - carotene and α - carotene. (Baranska *et al.*, 2005).

The other derivatives of β -carotene are present in many vegetables and fruits, but are usually found at low rates compared to *trans*-isomer (Khoo *et al.*, 2011). They are *Cis*-isomers (9, 13 and 15-*Cis*- β -carotene) (O'Sullivan *et al.*, 2010) and exist in two forms either naturally present in the matrix of food, or generated as solubilised substance as a result of diverse food processing. There is a high correlation between the high levels of β - carotene in blood and the low rate of some types of cancer spreading as shown in several Epidemiological studies,(Christensen and Brandt, 2006). There were highly correlated values between the intake of α and β - carotene and carrot consumption in North America and European countries (Christensen and Kreutzmann, 2007).

Observations by (Mueller, 1997) indicate that the β -carotene concentration in lettuce 1.29 mg/100g FW and for large, medium and young size carrots was 9.02, 6.50 and 4.65 mg/100g FW respectively. In contrast (Ben-Amotz and Fishler, 1998) found that lettuce contained 104 µg/g DW of β - carotene among 198 µg/g DW of total carotenoids while

carrot contained 1030 μ g/g DW of β - carotene among a total 1608 μ g/g DW of other carotenoids.

1.3.1.2 Lutein

Lutein (3*R*, 3'*R*- β , ε -carotene-3, 3'-diol) belongs to xanthophyll carotenoids (hydroxylcarotenoid) and a rich source is the photosynthetic apparatus of higher plants (Dall'Osto *et al.*, 2006). The lutein in chemical terms is a Dihydroxy derivative of Alpha-carotene (β -ring and ε -ring) mainly playing roles in light harvesting complex II (LHCII), structure and function, while the synthesis process of lutein occurs by the sequence of four enzymatic reactions of lycopene, (Kim and DellaPenna, 2006).

Kijlstra et al. (2012) have described the chemical structure of lutein as a long carbon chain with a single followed by double (carbon-carbon bonds) connected with methyl groups. Furthermore cyclic hexenyl with hydroxyl groups are both ends of this carbon chain, whereas the site of the double bonds in the hexenyl ring and the site of methyl groups on this chain are considered to be the difference between the lutein and zeaxanthin in terms of chemical structure. Two significant functions of lutein in plants and humans are present, the first function acts as a filter of blue light energy and as an antioxidant that is caused by reactive oxygen species (ROS), that were described by (Alves-Rodrigues and Shao, 2004). Lutein is the most common of carotenoids present in green vegetables, leaves, (Kayser, 2012) egg yolks (Johnson, 2002) and flowers, whereas lutein accounts for about 45 % of carotenoids in leaves, (Rodriguez-Amaya, 2001). The lutein appears in food supplements in two forms, either as free lutein (green leafy vegetables) or a mixture of lutein diesters with saturated high fatty acids as in flowers (Maci, 2011; Rodic et al., 2012). All-trans-lutein, cis-lutein, epoxi-lutein, and lutein associated to proteins represent the different forms of lutein found in vegetables and fruits according to (Calvo, 2005). Lutein is either a yellow colour compound (Calvo, 2005) or orange depending on the concentration (Kijlstra et al., 2012). The main dietary source of lutein is peas in the UK and Republic of Ireland (O'Neill et al., 2001).

1.3.2 Chlorophylls structure and function

Chlorophyll is originally a Greek word composed of two sections green (*chloros*) and leaves (*phyllos*) (Scheer, 2006). Chlorophylls are almost the only natural green plant pigment and definitely the only ones in great abundance. Photosynthetic activity in organelles such as chloroplasts mainly depends on chlorophylls (mostly) and carotenoids (as accessory pigment). Therefore the chlorophylls act as an absorbent for light energy for the transfer of energy (Hendry and Houghton, 1996; Liu *et al.*, 2012). Photosynthesis efficiency is affected by chlorophyll concentrations (Liang *et al.*, 2013).

Li *et al.* (2012) have reported five different forms of chlorophylls and their discovery through the centuries until the current time. In the 19^{th} century the following chlorophylls were identified: a, b and c (Govindjee and Krogmann, 2004), more than 70 years later, in 1943 chlorophyll d was identified (Manning and Strain, 1943). A new one was reported in 2010 called chlorophyll f, whose absorption corresponds to the red wavelength spectrum with a maximum absorption at 706 nm, (Chen *et al.*, 2010). All these chlorophylls types have different absorption properties. In the higher plants, more than 17 enzymes are required for the process of chlorophyll biosynthesis to occur (Tripathy and Pattanayak, 2012).

Generally, the chlorophylls contain the single Mg atom present in a central position and at C_{17} is a connection with the long-chain esterifying alcohol, with a spectral range between 330-800 nm (Scheer, 2006). Figure 1.5, shows the chlorophyll structure Chlorophyll b structure is similar to chlorophyll a, except for the presence of formyl group (-CHO) instead of methyl group (-CH₃) on ring B of chlorophyll a, (Nobel, 2009). In most organisms that contain both chlorophyll a and b, the ratio between them is 3:1 (Nobel, 2009).



Figure 1.5 The chemical structure of chlorophyll a, (Nobel, 2009)

The chlorophyll pigments found in plants such as chlorophyll a (Chl a) and bacteriochlorophyll (BChl) (Tamiaki *et al.*, 2007), are from different groups of macrocyclic tetrapyrrole pigments, and play a major role in light-harvesting of photosynthesis (Scheer, 2006). Chlorophyll a is considered the most widespread and major green pigment in plants with a complex structure and is extremely reactive and sensitive (Woodward, 1961).

Light, temperature, oxygen conditions and chemical degradation are considered the most influential factors on the sensitive structure of chlorophyll, especially during the extraction process, (Pocock *et al.*, 2004). Due to the acquisition of chlorophylls and their unique optical properties (structure is relatively rare in nature and is likely to have a high photodynamic property) photosynthetic organisms have been adapt to different light environments (Scheer, 2006; Tsuchiya *et al.*, 2012).
1.3.3 Sugar content in plants

Sugars are organic compounds in plants resulting from photosynthesis, which play an important role in respiration by providing the energy. Sugars are condensed to store energy in the form of starch, whilst the energy is transported in sucrose form and sugars play a key role in cell wall structure, (Harborne, 1998). In addition to these functions, sugars perform a regulatory role in numerous mechanisms of plant growth and development (Rosa *et al.*, 2009). They aid control of plant metabolism and different stress responses during the whole growth stages from embryogenesis to senescence, involving a number of sugar signals that are generated depending on the surrounding environmental conditions (Rolland *et al.*, 2006).

Physiologically, the production and consumption of sugars are performed by plants, whereas the environmental abiotic stresses are some of the main factors that have an influence on soluble sugars due to their sensitivity. However, the soluble sugar levels increase in a plant with low temperature conditions (Rosa *et al.*, 2009). According to molecular size the sugars are divided into three groups: monosaccharides such as glucose and fructose, oligosaccharide and polysaccharides (Harborne, 1998). The main sugars present in carrot root are sucrose, glucose, and fructose in different ratios. The highest level for fresh carrot was for sucrose at 353 g/kg DM then glucose at 120 g/kg DM with the lowest value for fructose at 113 g/kg DM (Svanberg et al., 1997). Gaweda (2007) observed that sucrose formed about 80 % of the total sugar of root vegetables and for carrot roots, they consisted of 50.60, 14.02 and 8.22 mg/kg FM for sucrose, glucose, and fructose. In contrast, for leafy vegetables including lettuce, fructose contributed the highest concentration (about 55 %) of total soluble sugars. In a lettuce plant sugar content changes during the late stages of growth and development as plants age and continues to increase. Furthermore, sugar levels increase from winter to summer when grown in greenhouses (Gent, 2012). This may be due to the light intensity during the growth of plants.

1.3.4 Plant nitrate accumulation

The consumption of vegetables is considered to be one of the most important sources through which the body obtains nitrate, (Rousta *et al.*, 2010). A total of 70-90 % nitrate intake is supplied by vegetables, (Food Standards Agency, 2001).

Vegetables accumulate nitrate in different parts of a plant to different extents, the leaves have greater levels (lettuce and spinach) of nitrate accumulated than either seeds or tubers. Moreover the concentrations of nitrate accumulation are affected by several abiotic and biotic factors, (Alexander *et al.*, 2008), among which are the growing conditions, season, temperature, light and fertilizer use (Dich *et al.*, 1996). Carrot roots have been classified as vegetables that contain low nitrate levels (200- 500 mg/kg fresh weight) according to (Santamaria, 2006).

Nitrate is one component of the human diet that is potentially harmful. Whilst it is considered a relatively non-toxic compound in its common form, the products resulting from its metabolism could be the cause of a number of health effects (Santamaria, 2006). Therefore, the European Commission adopted EC Regulation No. 1822/2005 which determined the maximum level of nitrate permitted in lettuce and spinach (Table 1.2) and this value depends on the season and harvest time. These levels should not be exceeded because they may cause possible health risks to humans.

Vegetables	Harvest period	Maximum level (mg NO ₃ ⁻ /Kg)		
Fresh spinach (Spinacia oleracea)	1 October to 31 March	3,000		
	1 April to 31 September	2,500		
Preserved, deep-frozen or frozen spinach		2,000		
Fresh lettuce (Lactuca sativa L.)	1 October to 31 March			
(protected and open-grown lettuce)	- grown under cover	4,500		
Excluding "iceberg" type lettuce	- grown in open air	4,000		
	1 April to 30 September			
	- grown under cover	3,500		
	-grown in open air	2,500		
Lettuce (Iceberg type)	Lettuce grown under cover	2,500		
	Lettuce grown in the open air	2,000		

Table 1.2 Maximum levels of nitrate according to European Commission (EC) regulation No. 1822/2005.

The data shown in Table 1.2 indicates that the vegetables grown during the winter season have potentially higher levels of nitrate than those grown during the summer. This could be due to exposure to sufficient light intensity in summer, as

demonstrated by (Byrne *et al.*, 2004). In higher plants, the most important inorganic nitrogen components that the root system absorbs are nitrate (Ruiz *et al.*, 2000) and ammonium; (Lastra *et al.*, 2009) describes the part of the nitrogen cycle that plays a role in the function and nutrition of plants, (Alexander *et al.*, 2008).

The sufficient supply of nitrogen (N) is necessary for the formation of proteins, amino acids and nucleic acids upon which plant growth and development depends (Ruiz *et al.*, 2000). Whereas nitrate is assimilated by the plants in a sequential process by the reduction of the nitrate (NO₃) to nitrite (NO₂), it is then converted from NO₂ to ammonium (NH₄), before finally being incorporated into organic compounds (Migge and Becker, 1996; Sivasankar and Oaks, 1996). The observations by Frota and Tucker (1972) noted that an increase of air and root temperature lead to an increase of nitrate and ammonium absorption in lettuce. In addition Demsar *et al.* (2004) and Gent (2012) have demonstrated the agricultural application and use of nitrogenous fertiliser and low light conditions are associated with the accumulations of high concentrations of nitrate in lettuce.

There is a broad and diverse distribution of nitrate in a number of the important vegetables in the human diet. Nitrate concentration represents a side benefit to human health in terms of biological activity and its role in the immune system, (Bryan and Grinsven, 2013).

The detriments of nitrate concentration on human health are usually accompanied by toxic effects e.g. the formation of carcinogenic nitroso compounds, as one of metabolic products, (Bryan and Grinsven, 2013; Gorenjak and Cencic, 2013).

In humans it is known that the nitrite reacts with haemoglobin in the formation of methaemoglobin and nitrate. Therefore, this form of methaemoglobin cans impede the delivery of oxygen to the tissues of the body, which can lead to death, (Bryan and Grinsven, 2013; Gorenjak and Cencic, 2013; Weitzberg and Lundberg, 2013).

1.3.5 Phenolic acids

The polyphenols are one of the major groups of plant metabolites and have many essential functions in different species of plant (Pandey and Rizvi, 2009). The phenolic acids are one of the four polyphenol categories in addition to flavonoids, lignans and stilbenes that are classified on the basis of chemical structure (Spencer *et al.*, 2008). Polyphenols have been identified and estimated at around 8000 polyphenolics as the main part of the human diet (Pandey and Rizvi, 2009). The benzoic and cinnamic acid derivatives are primary structures of phenolic acids distributed and dispersed throughout seeds, leaves and roots of plants. They are considered mainly for their many vital functions such as photosynthesis and structural components (Mendoza *et al.*, 2011) whereas the hydroxycinnamic acids are more abundant and contain a less complex structure than hydroxybenzoic acids, (Figure 1.6) (Manach *et al.*, 2004).



Figure 1.6 Chemical structure of two main phenolic acid classes (Manach et al., 2004).

Naturally, the occurrence of phenolic compounds is in three forms that are ethers, mixtures and free acid, (Shahrzad and Bitsch, 1996; Marques and Farah, 2009), however, in plant food most of the phenolic acids are found in bound form. The caffeic, ferulic and p-coumaric acids that belong to the hydroxycinnamic group occur by way of the simple ester with quinic acid or glucose in food (Mattila and Hellstrom, 2007). Phenolic compounds have been found in vegetables especially in high concentration levels and in plants generally. For example in the UK the two main sources of phenolic acids present in lettuce are cichoric acid (dicaffeoyltartaric) and caffeoylmalic acid with (5-15 mg) and (> 3 mg) per 100g respectively, as indicated by Clifford (2000).

They are considered secondary metabolites and most important antioxidants: thus they are necessary components in humans' nutritional diet (Jacobo-Velazquez and Cisneros-Zevallos, 2009; You *et al.*, 2011). Therefore, many research topics have shown the

relationship between phenolics and their ability to reduce the risk of some types of cancers and cardiovascular disease associated with the consumption of fruit and vegetables. Thus protection against some diseases and improvement of human health possibly depends on high levels of phenolics in plant food (Du *et al.*, 2012).

Temperature during growth is considered to be a major factor affecting phenolic acid concentration, in addition. But different growth stages and maturation of plants also have an effect (Ellnain-Wojtaszek *et al.*, 2001; Wang and Zheng, 2001). It has been concluded that increase in night temperature along with a constant day temperature can lead to a significant increase in the phenolic acid levels, as well as increasing flavonols, and anthocyanins in strawberry fruit (Wang and Zheng, 2001). However, the different stages of growth lead to a change of phenolic compounds: whereas at the ripening stage the phenolic acid decreases, in contrast, the concentration of anthocyanins increases, (Manach *et al.*, 2004; Spencer *et al.*, 2008).

1.3.5.1 Chlorogenic acid (CGA)

Chlorogenic acid is formed by a combination of caffeic and quinic acid which is present in high concentrations in numerous fruits, vegetables and coffee. It is one of the main antioxidant dietary polyphenols in the human diet. Chlorogenic acid is structured according to its identity, number and position of the acyl residue and can be divided into four sub-groups which are: mono-esters group (most common) of caffeic acid , pcoumaric acid and ferulic acid, di-esters (diCQA), tri-esters (triCQA) and the single tetra-ester group of caffeic acid, mixed di-esters group of caffeic and ferulic acid, and the fourth group is mixed esters, (Clifford, 2000). Chlorogenic acid or (3-Ocaffeoylquinic acid/ 5-O-caffeoylquinic acid) is a phenolic acid abundant in carrots and has been identified in addition to other phenolics, (Kreutzmann *et al.*, 2008).

1.3.5.2 Caffeic acid

Caffeic acid is a natural essential phenolic compound in plants (Lin and Yan, 2012). It belongs to hydroxycinnamic acid derivatives found commonly in the plant kingdom. However, it is the most abundant of phenolic acids in fruits either in the free (seldom) or esterified form, that represents 75-100 % of hydroxycinnamic quantity present in fruit Manach *et al.* (2004), while coffee and beans are commonly considered the main

sources of caffeic acid production (Lin and Yan, 2012). In addition, Llorach *et al.* (2008) have shown that the caffeic acid derivatives are major phenolics found in green varieties of lettuce. Like other phenolics, the previous studies demonstrated that there are various biological activities and properties of caffeic acid which are represented in antioxidant activity (RiceEvans *et al.*, 1996), anti-virus (Ikeda *et al.*, 2011) and anti-cancer (Rajendra *et al.*, 2011). It is reported that caffeic acid has the ability to reduce the risk of chronic cardiovascular diseases (Park, 2009). In plants, caffeic acid is formed from p-coumaric acid and cinnamic acid through shikimic acid metabolism (Katsuragi *et al.*, 2010).

1.3.6 Polyacetylene compounds

The aliphatic C_{17} -polyacetylenes are bioactive compounds belonging to the Apiaceae family, which has cytotoxicity against cancer cells, as many epidemiological studies have indicated (Kobæk-Larsen et al., 2005; Christensen and Brandt, 2006). It may also exhibit antiallergenic effects (Wang et al., 2001), and some polyacetylenes have antiinflammatory activities (Resch et al., 2001; Zidorn et al., 2005). Additionally for beneficial effects on human health, polyacetylenes are characterised by several features which are of great importance for the plant due to their antifungal activities, resisting infection and pathogens (Mercier et al., 1993; Baranska and Schulz, 2005). Some polyacetylenes e.g. falcarinol are classified as substances that have toxic properties when present at high concentration levels, and can become an undesirable substance in food (Baranska and Schulz, 2005; Christensen and Brandt, 2006). In higher plants, especially the widespread families such as Apiaceae, Araliaceae, and Asteraceae, different polyacetylenes exceeding 1400 compounds have been isolated. The three common components that have been found in carrot root are called falcarinol, falcarindiol and falcarindiol-3-acetate, (Rawson et al., 2012), (Figure 1.7). They have also been found in other food plants such as celery, and parsley (Christensen and Brandt, 2006). In the carrot root, the falcarinol is considered the most abundant bioactive of polyacetylenes (Matsunaga et al., 1990; Hansen et al., 2003; Kobæk-Larsen et al., 2005). Moreover, the concentration of polyacetylenes in the different parts of carrots has been investigated and there is a different ability for the accumulation in upper, lower, xylem and phloem parts of the root. The distribution of Falcarindiol

23

shows the highest concentration and maximum accumulation in the upper and phloem parts, with a smaller amount in the lower and xylem part. Falcarinol has a similar amount in a whole carrot, whilst the concentration of Falcarindiol 3-acetate was higher in the upper part than the lower part of the carrot root (Czepa and Hofmann, 2004; Baranska *et al.*, 2005). The unsaturated fatty acids are considered to be a biosynthesis of most of the polyacetylenes (Christensen and Brandt, 2006).

One of the main difficulties with polyacetylene compounds studies is that they are sensitive to light and heat accounting for their unstable properties, which could hamper any research investigations of these compounds (Baranska and Schulz, 2005).

A diverse range of other factors could have also an effect on polyacetylenes levels

in carrots, including cultivar (genotypes) (Baranska et al., 2005) location, climate,

water stress, storage and processing (Hansen *et al.*, 2003; Kjeldsen *et al.*, 2003; Christensen and Kreutzmann, 2007).

Moreover, Kjellenberg *et al.* (2012) have demonstrated that there is a positive correlation between the falcarinol ratio, root size and sucrose ratio for both fresh and stored carrots, while the correlation was the inverse between polyacetylenes of stored carrots and the total sugar.

Polyacetylenes have been considered in many studies and indicate that they are responsible for the bitter taste of both fresh and stored carrot roots, whereas the bitter off-taste is mostly influenced by falcarindiol among other compounds (Czepa and Hofmann, 2003; Czepa and Hofmann, 2004).



Figure 1.7 Chemical structure of the main polyacetylenes, (1) falcarinol (FaOH), (2) falcarindiol (FaDOH), (3) falcaridiol -3-acetate (FaDOAc) present in carrot roots.

1.4 Aims and objectives

Very little is known about the effects of environmental factors on phenolic acid concentrations and other phytochemicals, although temperature, plant growth stage and degree of maturity may all be important. Increased knowledge and understanding is required for a number of reasons. There is an urgent need to further exploit the potential benefits of dietary vegetable phytochemicals, to promote human health. Climate change will influence future ambient conditions and therefore the composition of major plant foods and indications about the extent of this response would be very useful. Vegetable growers need to be aware how the production environment may be manipulated to advantage by growing plants at appropriate and desirable temperatures to influence crop quality

The research programme aimed to investigate these issues and the objectives were to determine the effects of different growth temperature regimes on

a) Growth and development of lettuce and carrot in growth chambers.

b) Concentrations of different components including sugars, chlorophyll, nitrate, carotenoids and phenolic acids in both species and polyacetylene compounds levels in carrot roots.

CHAPTER 2 . MATERIAL AND METHODS

2.1 Preliminary experiments

2.1.1 Growth chamber test

For this study, two different types of cabinets were available to grow the carrot and lettuce plants: Fisons (Fi-totron 600) growth chamber (tungsten and fluorescent light) and Sanyo (MLR-351) growth chamber with fluorescent light. The two cabinets operated in the same temperature ranges (22/18 °C) and provided the same overall PAR (150 μ mol/ m²/s). Each growth chamber contained two trays, one tray for each species. Each tray contained 12 plants: - two varieties of carrot (6 of Parmex, 6 of Little Finger) and two varieties of lettuce (6 of Ashbrook, 6 of Dixter). Both trays were placed in the middle shelf to ensure uniform illumination. The lettuce varieties were harvested after 5 weeks and the carrot varieties after 8 weeks.

Preliminary tests were done to determine which was the best one to use.

In the Fisons growth cabinet the seedlings were taller and thinner than the plants in the Sanyo growth cabinet, mainly because of differences in light quality. This difference in light quality influenced the size of the leaves and roots and biomass of the plants as shown in Figures 2.1 and 2.2 respectively.

The combination of tungsten and fluorescent light in the Fisons growth chamber was less favourable for growth than in the Sanyo growth chamber which had fluorescent lighting only providing better light quality.



Figure 2.1 Effect of different cabinets Fisons and Sanyo on carrot growth after 8 weeks at 22/18 °C. The lengths of the roots in both chambers were more or less the same about 3 cm.



Figure 2.2 Effect of the different type of cabinets Fisons and Sanyo on a fresh weight of lettuce varieties (Ashbrook and Dixter) grown after 5 weeks at 22/18 °C. The values represent the means, the error bars indicate the SEM, (n=2).

2.1.2 Screening lettuce varieties

During the preliminary experiments, six varieties of lettuce were tested: Ashbrook, Exbury, Osterley, Wentworth, Bridgemere and Dixter, all grown at 22/18 °C for 6 weeks (Sanyo growth chamber). The growth chamber was set to an 11-hr-light/13-hr-dark cycle. Levington Seed and Modular plus sand (F2+Sand) compost was used, this is a specialist and general purpose peat-based compost for all plant raising requirements (Low conductivity - 300 - 360 µs, Standard pH - 5.3 - 5.7, Levington, 2010).

Two trays, each containing 12 plants of two varieties, were used for this test. The plants were watered by system A (section 2.1.3).

The number of leaves and plant height were recorded weekly until the harvest time (after 5 weeks). At the harvest time the fresh weight per plant was also recorded.

Dixter and Exbury were chosen because they grew most rapidly under those conditions as shown by data on fresh weight, height and leaf number in Figures 2.2, 2.3 and 2.6.



Figure 2.3 Fresh leaf weight of different lettuce varieties grown at 22/18 °C (Sanyo growth chamber). Values are the mean, the error bars indicate the SEM, (n=2).



Figure 2.4 Numbers of leaves per plant and height of different lettuce varieties grown at 22/18 °C (Sanyo growth chamber). Values are the mean, the error bars indicate the SEM, (n=2).

2.1.3 Watering system

In the course of the first experimental year, plants were watered by two different systems in the same experiment (section 2.1.2). Two trays were used, containing two plants each of six varieties of lettuce: Ashbrook, Exbury, Osterley, Wentworth, Bridgemere and Dixter:

System A: the tray was put on a water-holding mat inside a tray (direct absorption of water) and system B: the ends of the capillary mat hung over into the water reservoir, Figure 2.5.



Figure 2.5 Water systems (A) and (B) tested during the preliminary experiment (section 2.1.2) at (22/18 °C), in the Sanyo growth chamber.

The system capacity to provide sufficient water for the plants without suffering water stress was taken into consideration. During the testing period, the water quantity (ml/week/tray) was recorded every week in each system, (Figure 2.5, and 2.6).



Figure 2.6 Amount of water supplied to plants in two different watering systems at 22/18 °C.



Figure 2.7 Effect of fresh plant (FW) and dry weight (DW) per plant of different lettuce varieties grown after a 6 week period at 22/18 °C within two watering systems (A and B). Values are the mean, error bars indicate the SEM, (n = 2).

ANOVA (GLM) was done on data to compare efficacy of the systems. There was a significant effect (P < 0.05) of the watering systems on fresh weight of plants, but no significant effect on dry weight of plants. There seems to be more difference in the efficacy of both systems for some varieties than for others, including Exbury and Dixter. The results showed that the plants grew better with system A than B (Figure 2.7). This was because the direct absorption method supplied water more efficiently to meet plant requirements even when the rate of water demand increased, whereas system B was less efficient with some pots experiencing drought. Also, the type of mat did not allow for effective distribution of the water in the whole pots in the tray. In conclusion, system A was chosen.

2.1.4 Light and temperature test in the growth chamber

A Photometer light meter (Gossen Profisix) was used to ensure the light supply was stable and the amount of light reaching each shelf was similar. To avoid any effect of shadow and to ensure uniform illumination of plants inside the cabinet, the trays were moved to different shelves twice a week throughout the growing period, until the time of harvest.

However, the light levels were recorded weekly in for the three shelves (for 6 weeks during the preliminary experiment (section 2.1.2).

The readings were only slightly different from one shelf to another and the average reading was in the range of 150 μ mol /m² /s (preliminary work on a borrowed photometer went missing). The results were checked with a current student using the same chamber (Mr Othman Qadir) and his light levels measurements for the three shelves were 140, 150 and 160 μ mol /m²/s, so this confirmed the average (150 μ mol /m²/s) was correct and the differences less than 8 %.

The temperature regime was checked for consistency and uniformity using thermometers on each shelf in the cabinet at different times during the preliminary experiment (for 5 weeks).

The average reading at the temperature regime (22/18 °C) was between 21.7 to 22 °C, there was no significant change in the adjusted regime.

2.2 Experimental set up



Figure 2.8 Overview of experimental design beginning with planting, growing, harvesting and analysis stages.

2.2.1 Planting and growth parameters measurement

2.3.1.1 Location, Design of experiments

All experiments were done in the School of Agriculture, Food and Rural Development, Newcastle University, in growth chamber with different temperature regimes to determine which conditions are optimal for plant growth and composition. Three replications were used for each plant variety and temperature treatment.

2.2.1.2 Plant materials and growth conditions

Certified seeds of two varieties of lettuce (*Lactuca sativa* L.), Exbury and Dixter and two varieties of carrot (*Daucus carota* L.), Parmex and Little Finger (Nickys Nursery Ltd, UK) were selected based on their suitability for growth chamber experiments, including tolerance of low light conditions and for carrot, a miniature growth habit.

A growth chamber, Sanyo (MLR-351 H) was purchased from Sanyo Electric Co., Ltd, with fluorescent light (photoperiod with a photosynthetically active photon flux: 150 μ mol /m²/s⁾. The growth chamber was set to an 11-hr-light/13-hr-dark cycle with 4°C day/night temperature difference. Plants were grown at different temperatures ranges 12/8, 17/13, 22/18, 27/23 and 32/28 °C for lettuce (5 times at the 5 different temperature regimes), and 12/8, 17/13, 22/18 and 27/23 °C for carrots (4 times at the 4 different temperature regimes). Levington Seed and Modular plus sand (F2+Sand) compost was used, this is a specialist and general purpose peat-based compost for all plant raising requirements (Low conductivity - 300 - 360 µs, Standard pH - 5.3 - 5.7, Levington, 2010), (N 150, P 200 and N 150). The plants were grown in a modular tray with 15 individual square (5cm×6.5cm) cells within a watering tray and on a capillary matting base (direct absorption of water) were purchased from VACAPOT & VACAPAK (H. Smith Plastics Ltd, Essex, UK). Cell 15 was cut off and used to check the water level and apply water. Before sowing the compost was weighed and mixed with half the amount (volume: weight) of water (approx. 600 mL). 3-5 seeds per cell were sown 10 mm deep. The water reservoir was filled with 1L water for each tray. The plastic lid of the propagator was placed over the tray (to increase humidity until germination started). After germination, unwanted seedlings were removed from the

34

soil carefully with tweezers to leave suitable space for one plant per module. The experiments were performed with each treatment temperature separately and both the carrot and lettuce varieties were grown concurrently in the growth chamber.

To avoid any effect of shadow and to ensure uniform illumination of plants inside the cabinet, the trays were moved to different shelves twice a week throughout the growing period, until the time of harvest.

Due to the limitations of space, a growth chamber contained three trays of each species each with seven plants. The plants were subjected to regime conditions until harvest.

2.2.1.3 Plant growth parameters recorded and strategy of harvest

Records of plant growth included number of leaves, length of shoot, which was measured on a weekly basis (using a ruler). The amount of water used was also recorded each week.

The period from sowing until harvest ranged from 6 to 14 weeks depending on temperature, being shortest for the highest temperature regime with the fastest growth rate and longest for the lowest. Irrespective of temperature regime and rate of plant growth, harvest took place when lettuce plants had between 10-12 leaves and carrots 6-8 leaves. This specific stage or number of leaves for harvest was determined because the plants had reached an appropriate size to be marketable as baby vegetables (Figure 3.2). Fresh and dry weight of leaves and root were measured after harvest for each plant individually, and leaf area for lettuce varieties only.

2.2.1.4 Biomass determination

Seven plants per treatment were harvested and divided into roots and shoots. For both varieties of carrot and lettuce the roots were washed carefully in flowing tap water and dried using soft tissue. All leaves and the root for each plant were placed in small plastic bags separately.

After measuring fresh weight of roots and shoots by a digital measuring device (Adam Equipment PW124 Lab Balance), the samples were kept in a freezer for 2-3 days at (-80 °C) before transfer to freeze–drying in a Lyolab G freezer-drier for a week. The samples

were dried at -20 °C until the pressure reached ≤ 0.06 m bar, then the temperature was allowed to reach room temperature for nearly 24 hours and the dried samples were weighed to record their dry weights.

2.2.1.5 Storage conditions

After freeze drying and dry matter determination, the samples were milled using a 1093 Cyclotec Sample Mill. All 7 plants for each variety in each tray (which are separate samples within the treatment) were milled together and the dry material put in separate, new plastic bags from which the air was expelled. These were transferred to the freezer (-20 °C) and kept in the dark in a black bag to minimize degradation until analysis.

2.2.1.6 Measuring leaf area

The method was as described by (Davidson, 2010). Fresh leaves were harvested then were directly separated and flattened onto a background with a grid of known dimensions (42 cm x 39 cm). Photographs were taken of each plant separately by using a vertically positioned digital camera, mounted 40cm above the surface without macro focus and no flash to avoid shadows. The images were downloaded and saved to computer, the background or an object of known dimensions or form was used for scale reference when analysing image. The *ImageJ 1.38x* software (Figure 2.9) was downloaded to computer from the link: <u>http://rsb.info.nih.gov/ij/download.html</u>, (section 7.1.3.1 Appendixes).



Figure 2.9 ImageJ 1.38x software

2.2.2 Phytochemicals analysis

Different methods and modifications were investigated, to take account of the number of samples and phytochemicals to be assessed in this project and to determine the minimum quantities per sample required for the assays.

2.2.2.1 Sugar content analysis (total soluble solids)

For estimates of sugar content of freeze dried carrot and lettuce samples, 1 mL ultra – pure water was added to 100 mg of samples, vortex mixed for a few minutes then the concentrated extracts were measured by hand with a refractometer (Bellingham and Stanley Eclipse refractometer, 0-30 BRIX°). The reading of each sample was repeated twice for confirmation. Between each reading the refractometer was rinsed with distilled water and dried.

The afore mentioned method was done by calculating the average values of each sugar (glucose, fructose and sucrose) found in the lettuce and carrot samples in order to prepare a standard for estimating the total sugar content.

For carrot, the concentration of standard solution was prepared as follows: 1.92 g, 1.13 g and 6.95g / 100 mL for glucose, fructose and sucrose respectively (the values of standard for each sugar were estimated according to data published by (Gaweda, 2007) in carrot root), according to the standard curve that provided the conversion of BRIX^o unit to sugar gram per 100 mL: therefore one BRIX corresponded to 1.1075g/ 100 mL (Figure 2.10 A).

For lettuce, the concentrations of sugars were proportionally distributed as glucose 2.9 g, fructose 5.4 g and sucrose 1.7g / 100 mL (the values of standard for each sugar were estimated according to data published by (Gaweda, 2007) in lettuce leaf). The standard curve provided the conversion of BRIX° unit to sugar gram per 100 mL, therefore one BRIX corresponded to 1.1125g / 100 mL (Figure 2.10 B).



Figure 2.10 Standard curves for the sugar determination of carrot (A) and lettuce (B).

Non-sugar content: however, the residue (non-sugar or insoluble solids) mg/100g FW was calculated by subtracting the sugar content (mg sugar /100g FW) from total dry matter (g dry weight /100g FW) values.

2.2.2.2 Measurement of Nitrate (spectrophotometer)

The method was adapted from the method devised by (Miranda *et al.*, 2001): the principle of this assay is reduction of nitrate by vanadium (III) combined with detection by the acidic Griess reaction.

2.2.2.1 Developments and modifications of method

The method chosen for nitrate analysis (section 2.3.6.2) was based on preliminary tests with the duration of incubation adjusted and with different sample sizes. The results of tests for the determination of appropriate durations and sample sizes and for nitrate analysis (absorption at 540 nm) are shown in Figures 2.11 and 2.12 respectively.



Figure 2.11 The effects of nitrate concentration and duration of incubation i.e. half an hour, one hour, two hours and three hours on the standard absorbance curve of nitrate measurement.

10, 50 and 100 mg of either carrot root or lettuce leaf were mixed with 3 and 5 mL of water. Absorbance values (Figure 2.14) were in accord with the range of maximum standard absorption in Figure 2.13. Absorbance values for lettuce leaves were more than double that for carrot root samples at all concentrations, but the carrot root samples were still within the range of the standard and thus acceptable (Figure 2.12).



Figure 2.12 The effects of sample size (mg dry weight) and quantity of water diluent on nitrate absorption of lettuce leaf and carrot root. Values represent the means (7 replications of each sample), error bars indicate the SEM.

Following these tests, 10-20 mg dry weight of samples (both shoot and root) were mixed with 5-50 mL of water, to keep the concentration of samples within range of the standard (0-0.7). The optimal duration (incubation time of standard and samples) for absorbance reading was between 1-2 hours to reach the maximum (0.7). The absorption of samples was read at least 3 times (at 30, 60 and 120 min), to make sure the absorption of samples was in the range of standard absorption.

2.2.2.2 Final method used for main experiments

Preparation of stock solutions: Saturated V(III) solution was prepared quickly because it reacts with air, by dissolving 400 mg of VCl₃ in 50 mL of 1 M HCl and the excess solid was removed by using filter paper. Secondly, 0.1 % NEDD solution was prepared by dissolving 0.1 g N-(1-Naphthyl) ethylenediamine dihydrochloride in 100 mL of H₂O, which required heating and stirring. Finally, 2 % sulphanilamide solution was prepared, where 2 g of sulphanilamide was dissolved in 100 mL of 5% HCl requiring heating and stirring. All the stock solutions were stored in the dark at 4°C and were stable for at least a few weeks.

Procedure for analysis: The analyses were performed at room temperature with some modification as follows. Vanadium cocktail was prepared daily and only enough volume for a day (e.g. 50 mL). In a 100 mL beaker, 5 mL of saturated V(III) was added, 0.33 mL of 2% sulphanilamide, 0.66 mL of 0.1% NEDD and 40 mL of H₂O, then it was purged with N₂ (5-10 min) and kept in a closed container. Nitrate stock solution (10 mM) was prepared by dissolving 0.101 g of KNO₃ in 100 mL of ultrapure water and stored in the dark at 4 °C. 200 µM nitrate standards were prepared daily by pipetting 2mL of 10 mM stock solution into 100 mL volumetric flask, and then making up to 100 mL using sample matrix (H_2O). Nitrate standard curve solutions were prepared in concentrations of 0-200 µM by diluting 200 µM nitrate standard with water to 10 ml final volume. 10-20 mg of each sample was weighed accurately into a screw glass-top tube then 5-50 mL pure ultra-water was added depending on which plant part (leaf or root) was tested and adjusted. The solution was vortex mixed for 10 min then transferred to a centrifuge and centrifuged for 10 min at 4000 g. The clear supernatant was filtered using Whatman no 1 filter paper. 100 µL of sample and standard (0-200 μM) were pipetted into a 96-well plate (PS, Flat bottom Greiner Bio-One Ltd), then 100

 μ L of vanadium cocktail solution were added. The microplate was shaken for a few minutes by putting the plate in a spectrophotometer (Molecular Devices-UV plate reader, Spectra max plus 384), and then incubated at room temperature for 1-2 hours. Finally the absorbance was read at 540 nm after 30 minutes, 1 hour and 2 hour to obtain optimal absorption data (Figure 2.11).

2.2.2.3 Extraction of carotenes, chlorophylls and polyacetylenes

The chlorophylls and carotenoids were measured using two different methods:

Method (A): The chlorophylls and carotenoids were measured spectrophotometrically in fresh plant material as described by Wellburn (1994).

Method (B): Was based on (Rashed, 2009), separating carotenoid, chlorophyll and polyacetylene compounds by HPLC.

2.2.2.3.1 Chlorophylls measurement spectrophotometrically (method A)

The use of fresh material for the analysis of chlorophyll is an important aspect for consideration with common methods for chlorophyll measurement. Thus, in accordance with (Wellburn, 1994), three fresh leaf discs per sample (carrot and lettuce from the main experiments) were cut from three randomly selected plants (for each variety and tray) and weighed (0.1-0.2 g). Then the samples were transferred into separate 15 mL Falcon tubes and placed in a freezer overnight. Each leaf disc was extracted by grinding with a pestle using 5 mL 80 % acetone (Sigma Aldrich Co, UK). The acetone extract was then decanted into a Falcon tube, thoroughly mixed, then left in the fridge overnight. The Falcon tubes were centrifuged for 5min at 4000 rpm, then the supernatant was decanted into another tube and the pellet resuspended in 2 mL acetone before being placed in the fridge again for 1h. After centrifugation, the acetone extract was decanted into the same tube as the first extract. The total volume of acetone in the tube was measured and the supernatant was transferred into quartz cuvettes. The determination of photosynthetic pigment content was performed under low light condition to avoid any degradation of pigments. Absorbance on the spectrophotometer

(UV-2401 PC, SHIMADZU) was read at wavelengths 663, 645 and 470 nm against a blank of 80 % acetone as reference.

Chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b and carotenoids concentration were calculated using the following equations:

Chla = 12.25*A663.2 - 2.79*A646.8	(1)
Chlb = 21.5*A646.8 - 5.1*A663.2	
Carotenoids (Cx+c) = (1000*A470 – 1.82*Ca – 85.02*Cb) /198	(3)



Figure 2.13 The effect of lettuce variety (Dixter, Exbury) and temperature on chlorophylls (chl a and b) and total carotenoids ($C_{x} + C$), (measured spectrophotometrically). Means with different letters within a chlorophyll type are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate SEM, (n = 3).



Figure 2.14 The effect of carrot variety (Parmex and Little Finger) and temperature on chlorophylls (chl a and b) and total carotenoids ($C_{x} + C$), (measured spectrophotometrically). Means with different letters within a chlorophyll type are significantly different (P < 0.05).

Due mainly to the lack of detailed knowledge (the limited range of absorbance in the spectrophotometer and/or limits absorption) and the saturation of the samples (the concentration of fresh samples may well have exceeded the absorbance of the machine used) even after ten times dilution, the results showed that temperature had no effect on Chlorophyll concentration, (Figures 2.13 and 2.14). Therefore, it was decided to use more reliable and accurate methods such as HPLC, as mentioned in (section 2.3.6.2).

2.2.2.3.2 Development and modifications of the HPLC method (B)

In the original method by Rashed (2009), 2 g of dry plant material were extracted with ethyl acetate for three days. Each time they were left one day in the refrigerator before centrifugation. The supernatants were combined and filtered then the samples were directly analysed by HPLC.

Because of the large amount of plant material used (2 g) for the analysis of carotenoid, chlorophyll and polyacetylenes and the long extraction time (3 days) for this method and also the number of components to be investigated in this study, it was necessary to test a smaller amount of plant material in proportion to the amount available from the experiments. The extraction was tested in a shorter time than the time used in the original reference.

The modifications were as follows:- The amount of plant material was reduced from 2 g to 70 mg through the testing of different quantities, including matching the amount of solvent required (g plant material in mL solvent): this ensured successful methods and results. Furthermore, the duration of extraction of total carotenoids and polyacetylenes was tested by using a small amount for the analysis and reducing the time of extraction from 3 days to 1 hour on the second day: the results were similar (no effect on number of peaks or time absorption) for both methods (extraction duration for 3 days and 2 days (1 hour next day)).

The average peak areas of each of the compounds and their standard deviation were used to calculate the relative variability (%), (standard deviation of peak area divided by the mean of peak area * 100). The values in Figure (2.15) are broadly similar with each quantity.



Figure 2.15 Tests undertaken on different quantities of samples (dry material) and extraction time (40 and 70 mg for 2 days and 2 g for 3 days) for relative variability percentage of polyacetylenes (falcarindiol, falcarindiol 3-acetate and falcarinol) and carotenes (α and β -carotenes) in carrot root which were analysed by HPLC.

The preliminary work on a tested large quantity (2 g) went missing; However Figure 2.15 includes results of analyses of 2 g samples that were done by another student (Mrs Huda Saleh).

Clearly both quantities (plant dry material) were satisfactory as identified and described in the section 2.2.2.3.3. However, 70 mg powdered dry plant material was chosen as the appropriate amount for analysis for each experiment.

2.2.2.3.3 Final method used for main experiments

70 mg of freeze dried sample was homogenized with 1mL of ethyl acetate in 10 mL centrifuge tubes, samples were then vortexed for a few minutes, covered to keep them dark and placed in the refrigerator at 4 °C overnight. The next day the samples were centrifuged for 10 minutes at a speed of 4000 g and the supernatant put into a new screw-top test tube. 0.25 mL of ethyl acetate was added to the residue tube and mixed. Again, the samples were covered and put in the refrigerator for 1 hour. After that the samples were centrifuged and the supernatant transferred to screw-top test tube for extraction, and 0.1 mL of ethyl acetate was added to the residue tube and kept for 1hour again. Samples were then centrifuged and the supernatant removed. In total, the extraction procedure was carried out three times with the supernatant being placed into the same screw-top test tubes. They were then filtered using 1mL syringe and filtered (0.2 μ m). The extracts were combined and directly analyzed by high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC).

2.2.2.3.4 UV-Visible Spectroscopy

UV-Visible spectra were obtained with a UV-2401 PC, SHIMADZU double beam scanning spectrophotometer (ranging between 200 to 800 nm) at room temperature. The standards were measured on the same day the HPLC analysis was done. Baseline spectra were taken for each solvent prior to measurement, and every experiment was performed under low light conditions, in a laboratory with the lights turned off and all windows closed and covered with curtains, (Figure 2. 16 and 2. 17).



Figure 2.16 Visible spectra of chlorophylls a and b standard



Figure 2.17 Visible spectra of lutein, α -carotene and β -carotene standard

2.2.2.3.5 HPLC Analysis of carotenes, chlorophylls and polyacetylenes

Both the carotene and polyacetylene analysis was carried out on the same HPLC. The column was a HyperClone Reverse phase C18 (250×4.6 mm, 5um), and column oven set at 40 °C. The flow rate was 1 mL/min, injection volume 20 µl and detection at 205 nm of polyacetylenes, and the detection of carotenoids was at 450 nm.

The mobile phase was, pure water solvent (A), methanol solvent (B), and ethyl acetate solvent (C) (Fisher scientific, UK). The solvent gradient ratios are shown in Figure 2.18.



Figure 2.18 Percentages and ratio of solvents added at specific time points.

2.2.2.3.6 Identification and quantification

Peak area and retention times of carotenoids were quantified by comparison with corresponding authentic standards, which were checked with photodiode array detector (DAD) on HPLC. α -carotene, β -carotene, lutein, chlorophyll a from alga and chlorophyll b from spinach were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Ltd. The retention times of the identified carotenoids at 450 nm were as follows: Lutein 38.25 min, chlorophyll b 40.52 min, chlorophyll a 41.85 min, α -carotene 45.47 min, β -carotene

45.79 min and *Cis*- β -carotene 46.23 min, (Figure 3.25 and 3.26, Table 7.5 Appendix). In addition, the peak area of polyacetylenes was quantified by comparison with falcarindiol, falcarinol 3- acetate and falcarinol standards isolated from carrots by students (Ahlam Rashed and Huda Saleh) in Newcastle University, and the retention time of polyacetylenes compounds at 205 nm, falcarindiol 19.02 min, falcarinol 3- acetate 23.14 min and falcarinol 26.5 min. The accurate carotenoid concentrations of the standards were determined spectrophotometrically using corresponding extinction coefficients Table 2.1, (Alpha values (α) were used in the calculations).

The Polyacetylene compounds: Falcarinol, falcarinol 3-acetate and falcarindiol authentic standards were isolated from carrot root and were calculated as falcarinol equivalents at the three UV maxima $\lambda = 256$ nm ($\varepsilon = 445$ /M), 242 nm ($\varepsilon = 739$ /M) and 230 nm ($\varepsilon = 986$ /M) in methanol based on (Hansen and Boll, 1986).

Table 2.1 Accurate specific (α) and millimolar (ϵ mM) extinction coefficients for chlorophyll a, b (Chl), lutein (Lut) and α , β - carotene (α , β - car) in different solvents

			Extinction coefficients		_	
Pigments	Solvent	Wavelengths (nm)	(e) l/mM/cm	(a) (E $^{1\%}_{1cm}$)	References	
Chl a Chl b	80% Acetone 80% Acetone	663 645	76.79 47.04	840 518	(Pocock <i>et al.</i> , 2004) (Pocock <i>et al.</i> , 2004)	
Lut	Methanol	442	149.60	2629	(Craft and Soares, 1992)	
α-Car	Hexane	445	145	2710	(Rodriguez-Amaya, 2001)	
β-Car	Ethanol	450	135.80	2529	(Craft and Soares, 1992)	

2.2.2.4 Extraction of phenolic acids

Three different methods were used to investigate the phenolic compounds using HPLC.

2.3.2.4.1 Development and modifications of method

Three methods were tested for phenolics analysis to determine the clearest separation of peaks and the characteristics of phenolics, including absorption spectra: all separations were done on the same HPLC and by the same column HyperClone Reverse –phase C18 (250×4.6 mm, 5um):

Method A based on (Rashed, 2009) (solvent extraction 40 % acetonitrile adjusted to pH 3 with phosphoric acid, analysis duration 70 min), (Table 2.2).

Method B based on (Mpofu *et al.*, 2006) with some modification by Lucas Patzek, (solvent extraction 80 % methanol, 2M NaOH was added for 4 hrs for hydrolysis reaction, analysis duration 42 min), (Table 2.2).

Method C according to (Almuairfi *et al.*, 2010) (solvent extraction 70 % v/v methanol. The samples were completely dried with nitrogen gas, the residues were re-suspended in the original volume taken with water, analysis duration 65 min) as described in methods (Table 2.2 and section 2.2.2.4.2).

Method A (40% ACN)		Method B (80 % MeOH)		Method C (70 % MeOH)				
HPLC Analysis of phenolic acids								
Flow rate: 0.1 mL/min, oven temperature: 40°C		Flow rate: 1.5 mL/min, oven temperature 25°C		Flow rate: 0.1 mL/min, oven temperature: 25°C				
	Solvent gradient (%)							
Time (min)	A (2% (v/v) acetic acid in H2O)	B (acetonitrile)	Time (min)	A (2% (v/v) acetic acid in H2O)	B (acetonitrile)	Time (min)	A (0.1% (v/v) TFA in H2O)	B (0.1% (v/v) TFA in acetonitrile (%)
0	100	0	0	85	15	0	100	0
30	85	15	10	80	20	5	100	0
50	50	50	16	77	23	15	83	17
55	0	100	24	73	27	17	83	17
60	100	0	28	73	27	22	75	25
70	Stop	Stop	30	0	100	30	65	35
			35	0	100	35	50	50
			37	85	15	40	0	100
			42	85	15	50	0	100
			42	Stop	Stop	55	100	0
						65	100	0
						65	Stop	Stop

Table 2.2 Shows the three methods used to test phenolic compounds



Figure 2.19 HPLC absorbance of phenolic compounds was recorded at 320 nm from the carrot root in each of the three methods A (40% ACN), B (80 % MeOH) and C (70 % MeOH).

As Figure 2.19 shows, methods A and B were not as successful as method C, which gave clearer separation and the greatest number of peaks (according to UV spectra of the phenolics). It also gave the clearest separation of peaks and the flattest baseline. For these reasons, method C was chosen.

2.2.2.4.2 Final method used for main experiments

The method (C) was chosen according to (Bennett et al., 2004) with some modifications by (Almuairfi et al., 2010). 40 mg freeze dried powder was weighed into a 10 mL screw glass-top tube, and the heating block was pre –set to 70 °C to start the extractions. To each sample 950 μ L of 70 % v/v HPLC-grade methanol in ultra –pure water was added, the tubes sealed and vortex mixed for 10 seconds. The tubes were opened and 50 µL of 0.1 mg/mL Naringin (naringenin 7- O-retinoside) purchased from Sigma was added as the internal standard (IS), then the tubes sealed and vortex mixed. Samples were extracted for 20 min at 70 °C with vortex mixing every 5min to optimize extraction. The samples were then centrifuged (4000 g, 4 °C, 20 min) and the supernatants processed as follows: $600 \ \mu L$ of the supernatant was transferred to a new micro tube using a Gilson pipette. The samples were completely dried with nitrogen gas using a concentrator system in combination with the heating block set at 50 °C. The residues were re-suspended in the original volume taken with ultra-pure water (Nanopure- Diamond ultra-water system). The samples were vortex mixed for 5-10 min and left to stand at room temperature for 10 min. Then the samples were vortex mixed again and the whole sample taken up into a 1mL syringe and filtered (0.2 µm) into screw top HPLC vials and sealed with standard HPLC vial caps and PTFE inserts, (Supplier VWR International Ltd, UK). The samples were stored at -20 °C in a freezer (not analysed immediately) prior to analysis.

2.2.3.4.3 HPLC analyses

The HPLC column used was a HyperClone Reverse –phase C18 (250×4.6 mm, 5um), and column oven was set at 25 °C. The PDA was set to collect all data from 200-600 nm. The detection of the separated compounds was monitored at 280 and 320 nm, with
a flow rate 0.1mL/min, 20µL of each sample was injected into an HPLC (Shimadzu Corporation. Kyoto, Japan), system equipped with a Shimadzu 2 LC-10AD pump, SiL-10A system Auto sampler (controller), SPD-M 10A photodiode array UV-VIS detector, CTO-10AD column oven and CLASSVP.

0.1% v/v trifluoroacetic acid (TFA) in ultra-pure water (solvent A) and 0.1% v/v trifluoroacetic acid in HPLC- grade acetonitrile ACN (solvent B), and the solvent gradient was: ($H_2O+0.1\%$ TFA): (ACN+0.1% TFA), 0 min (100:0), 5 min (100:0), 15 min (83:17), 17 min (83:17), 22 min (75:25), 30 min (65:35), 35 min (50:50), 40 min (0:100), 50 min (0:100), 55 min (100:0) and 65 min (100:0).

2.2.3.4.4 Quantification of phenolic compounds

A diode-array detector was set at 320 nm and 520 nm to detect the phenolic acids and anthocyanin, respectively, in extracted lettuce and carrot samples. Table 2.3 shows the different standards that were tested for the identification, where all the phenolic acids represent compounds that have been reported to be present in lettuce and/or carrots (Tackenberg, 2007; Kreutzmann *et al.*, 2008; Bumgarner *et al.*, 2012). The quantification of the concentration of unknown phenolics was carried out as chlorogenic acid standard equivalents for those phenolic acids which could not be identified individually, but where the peaks had absorption spectra characteristic of caffeic acid derivatives (a broad peak near 325 nm with a shoulder near 295 nm), Figure 3.44.

For lettuce the anthocyanin concentration (Figure 3.40) was expressed in mg of cyanidin 3-O-glucoside equivalents at 520 nm as in (McCann *et al.*, 2005), (Figure 7.7 Appendix). For peaks with absorption spectra resembling quercetin or kaempferol derivatives (peaks near 354 nm or 255 nm) the concentrations were calculated as rutin equivalents.

Some phenolic compounds were found where the retention time and absorption spectra resembled literature description of compounds identified in carrot root such as *Cis*-5-caffeoylquinic acid (Samuoliene and Duchovskis, 2006; Tackenberg, 2007; Simoes *et al.*, 2011), where however the identity could not be confirmed, as it was not possible to find a commercial standard.

Scientific name	Common name	CAS No	Sourced
3-Caffeoylquinic acid	Chlorogenic acid	327-97-9	Chemstrong scientific Co Ltd
4 -Caffeoylquinic acid	Cryptochlorogenic acid	905-99-7	Biopurify Phytochemicals Ltd
5 -Caffeoylquinic acid	Neochlorogenic acid	906-33-2	Biopurify Phytochemicals Ltd
1,3-Dicaffeoylquinic acid	Cynarin, Cynarine	19870-46-3	Biopurify Phytochemicals Ltd
3,5-Dicaffeoylquinic acid	Isochlorogenic acid A	2450-53-5	Biopurify Phytochemicals Ltd
3,4-Dicaffeoylquinic acid	Isochlorogenic acid B	14534-61-3	Biopurify Phytochemicals Ltd
4,5-Dicaffeoylquinic acid	Isochlorogenic acid C	32451-88-0	Biopurify Phytochemicals Ltd
Dicaffeoyltartaric acid	Cichoric acid	70831-56-0	Biopurify Phytochemicals Ltd
Caffeoyltartaric acid	Caftaric acid	67879-58-7	Biopurify Phytochemicals Ltd
3,4-Dihydroxycinamic	Caffeic acid	331-39-5	Sigma-Aldrich Company Ltd
4-Hydroxycinnamic acid	P-coumaric acid	501-98-4	Sigma-Aldrich Company Ltd
Quercetin-3-O-rutinoside	Rutin	153-18-4	Sigma-Aldrich Company Ltd
Cyanidin 3-O-glucoside	Kuromanin chloride	7084-24-4	Sigma-Aldrich Company Ltd

Table 2.3 List of standards used to compare and identify phenolic compounds. All standards were prepared as stock concentration of 0.1 mg/mL in 70 % Methanol.

2.3 Statistical analysis

All data were subjected to statistical analysis using Minitab 16, ANOVA- general linear model (GLM). Statistically the different experiment variables and their interactions were determined. Thereafter the whole data sets were tested for normality distribution of residual data using the Anderson-Darling test. The P < 0.05 was considered a significance level. Where the residuals were not normally distributed (P < 0.05) the data were either logarithmically or square root transformed. Tukey's test was used for pair wise comparisons between the temperature regimes' effects.

Leaf production rate was calculated as the slope of the linear relationship between leaf number recorded and weeks for each replication of each experiment. Then the gradient values were analysed using Minitab 16, ANOVA (GLM).

All experiments were carried out using triplicate samples of each variety. The results show the mean \pm standard error of mean (SEM). All the results were expressed as milligram per 100 gram fresh weight (FW). Analysis of values on a fresh weight basis is consistent with the inclusion and consumption of these vegetables in the fresh rather than dried state in human nutrition. However, some compounds were also analysed as milligram per g dry weight (DW).

The residue (non-sugar or insoluble solids) mg/100g FW was calculated by subtracting the sugar content (mg sugar /100g FW) from dry matter (g dry weight /100g FW) values.

CHAPTER 3. RESULTS

3.1 Growth rate parameters

3.1.1 Effect of temperature on rate of leaf production and harvest period

There was a large effect of temperature regime on growth of lettuce and carrot varieties, the rate of leaf production and consequently harvest time (Figures 3.1, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5, and 3.6). Low temperature regimes resulted in slow growth and leaf production and thus a longer period until harvest as plants were harvested when they had produced 10-12 leaves (lettuce) or 6-8 leaves (carrot). In contrast, high temperature encouraged rapid growth.



Figure 3.1 Effects of different temperatures on weeks to harvest of lettuce and carrot.



Figure 3.2 The effect of temperature regimes on shoot and root growth of carrot varieties (Parmex and Little Finger) (left side) and lettuce varieties (Dixter and Exbury) (right side) at harvest stage. The carrot root length was approximately 3-5 cm.



Figure 3.3 Effect of temperature regimes on leaf production rate of lettuce varieties (Dixter and Exbury).

There was as a significant effect of varieties (P < 0.05), and a highly significant effect of temperature regime (P < 0.001) on the rate of leaf production in both varieties of lettuce, at the low temperature (12/8 °C) both varieties had the lowest rate of leaf production, but no significant interaction effects were found between the varieties and temperature, (Figure 3.4).



Figure 3.4 The effect of lettuce variety (Dixter and Exbury) and different growth temperature on the average rate of leaf production until harvest. Means with different letters differ significantly at (P < 0.05), error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n = 3).



Figure 3.5 Effect of temperature regimes on leaf production rate of carrot (Parmex and Little Finger).

For carrot, there was no significant effect of variety, but there was a significant effect of temperature regime (P < 0.001) on the rate of leaf production, at the low temperature regime (12/8 °C) both varieties had the lowest rate of leaf production. No significant interaction effects were found between the varieties and temperature, (Figure 3.6).



Figure 3.6 The effect of carrot variety (Parmex and Little Finger) and different growth temperatures on the average rate of leaf production until harvest. Means with different letters differ significantly at (P < 0.05), error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean (SEM), (n = 3).

3.1.3 Plant height (growth rate)

There were consistent and large effects of temperature regimes on plant height with both varieties of lettuce and of carrot showing a similar response (Figure 3.7).



Figure 3.7 Effect of temperature regimes on height of lettuce (Dixter and Exbury).

For lettuce, there was a significant effect of variety (P < 0.01) and a highly significant effect of temperature regime (P < 0.001) on plant height, an plant height increased with increasing temperature, at the high temperature regime (32/28 °C) both varieties had the highest plant height. No significant interactions were found between the varieties and temperature, (Figure 3.8).



Figure 3.8 The effect of lettuce variety (Dixter and Exbury) and different growth temperature regimes on growth rate (as height change) until harvest (when the plants had 10-12 leaves). Means with different letters differ significantly at (P < 0.05), error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n = 3).



Figure 3.9 Effect of temperature regimes on height of carrot (Parmex and Little Finger).

There was no significant effect of variety but a highly significant effect of temperature on height (P < 0.001); the plant height increased with the increasing temperature, moreover, no significant interaction was found between the varieties and temperature, (Figure 3.10).



Figure 3.10 The effect of carrot variety (Parmex and Little Finger) and different growth temperature regimes on growth rate (as height change) until harvest (when the plants had 6 - 8 leaves). Means with different letters differ significantly at (P < 0.05), error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n=3).

3.1.4 Leaf area

There was a significant effect of varieties (P < 0.001) and a highly significant effect of temperature on leaf area (P < 0.001) of lettuce varieties. The highest leaf area was at a moderate temperature regime (22/18 °C) of both varieties. As well as a significant interaction effect between variety and temperature (P < 0.05), for the variety Dixter there was a gradual increase in leaf area at (22/18 °C) which began to decrease at temperatures above this regime. Exbury had smaller leaf area at the lower and higher temperature regimes and larger at the moderate temperature regime (22/18 °C), (Figure 3.11).



Figure 3.11 The effect of lettuce variety (Dixter and Exbury) and temperature regimes on leaf area. Means with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05), error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n = 3).

3.1.5 Fresh and dry weight (plant biomass)

There were highly significant effects of variety (P < 0.001) and temperature (P < 0.001) on fresh weight of lettuce leaves and roots of both varieties. Furthermore a significant interaction (P < 0.01) was found between variety and temperature. Whilst the fresh weight of Exbury was similar at all temperature regimes, Dixter produced the highest fresh weight at 17/13 °C, and generally growth of this variety was better when grown at lower temperature regimes (Figure 3.12).



Figure 3.12 The effect of lettuce variety (Dixter and Exbury) and temperature regimes on leaf fresh weight per plant. Means with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05), error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n = 3).

Also there were highly significant effects of variety (P < 0.001) and temperature (P < 0.001) on dry weight of lettuce leaves and roots of both varieties and a significant interaction (P < 0.001) was found between variety and temperature. Again varieties differed in their response: Dixter had the highest DW at the lowest regimes and decreased gradually as temperature increased, while Exbury had a significantly lower DW at a temperature regime of (27/23 °C) than other regimes, (Figure 3.13).



Figure 3.13 The effect of lettuce variety (Dixter and Exbury) and temperature regime on leaf dry weight. Means with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05), error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n = 3).

For carrot, there were significant effects of variety (P < 0.001) and temperature regime (P < 0.001) on fresh weight of carrot root. Increasing temperature to 27 °C inhibited carrot root growth. Significant interaction (P < 0.001) was found between variety and temperature, Parmex had higher FW than Little Finger at all temperature regimes with comparable response, (Figure 3.14). There were also significant effects of temperature on fresh weight of carrot leaves (Figure 7.7 Appendix).



Figure 3.14 The effect of carrot variety (Parmex and Little Finger) and temperature regimes on root fresh weight. Means with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n=3).

There were also highly significant effects of variety (P < 0.001), temperature regimes (P < 0.001) on dry weight of carrot root and a significant interaction (P < 0.001) between variety and temperature (Figure 3.15). At 17/13 °C both carrot varieties had the highest dry weight of roots. There were also significant effects of temperature on dry weight of carrot leaves (Figure 7.23 Appendix).



Figure 3.15 The effect of carrot variety (Parmex and Little Finger) and temperature regimes on root dry weight. Means with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n=3).

3.1.6 Dry matter (%)

There were highly significant effects of variety (P < 0.001) and temperature regimes (P < 0.001) on dry matter % leaves and root of lettuce varieties.

The highest DM % was at a low temperature regime (12/8 °C) of both varieties (Dixter and Exbury). A highly significant interaction effect (P < 0.001) was found between variety and temperature. At low temperature (12/8 °C) Dixter had higher DM % than Exbury, but with other regimes the DM % was broadly similar, (Figure 3.16).



Figure 3.16 The effect of lettuce variety (Dixter and Exbury) and temperature regimes on dry matter content of leaves and root. Means with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n = 3).

For carrot, there were no significant effects of variety on leaf dry matter percentage, but there was a significant effect on the root (P < 0.05). Temperature regimes had significant effects (P < 0.001 and P < 0.05) on dry matter percentage of leaf and root respectively. No significant interaction for leaf and root was found between variety and temperature, (Figure 3.17).



Figure 3.17 The effect of carrot variety (Parmex and Little Finger) and temperature regime on dry matter content of leaves and root. Means with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n = 3).

3.1.7 Root /shoot dry weight

There was a significant effect of variety (P < 0.001) and highly significant effect of temperature (P < 0.001) on root/shoot dry weight ratio of lettuce. The root /shoot ratio was greater at the lowest temperature (12/8 °C) than higher temperature regimes: there was also a significant interaction (P < 0.001) between variety and temperature. Dixter had a higher ratio than Exbury at all temperature regimes (Figure 3.18).



Figure 3.18 The effect of lettuce variety (Dixter and Exbury) and temperature regimes on root/shoot dry weight ratio. Means with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n = 3).

For carrot, there were a significant effect of variety (P < 0.01) and temperature regimes (P < 0.001) on root/shoot dry weight ratio of variety, the highest root/ shoot ratio was at 17/13 °C, and at high temperature, the growth of the root was inhibited. Significant interaction (P < 0.01) between variety and temperature, Parmex had a higher root/shoot dry weight ratio than Little Finger at all temperature regimes, (Figure 3.19).



Figure 3.19 The effect of carrot variety (Parmex and Little Finger) and temperature regimes on root/shoot dry weight ratio. Means with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n = 3).

3.2 Phytochemicals

3.2.1 Sugar content (soluble solids)

There were significant effects of variety (P < 0.01) on sugar content of both leaf and root: lettuce Dixter had higher sugar content than Exbury. Temperature regimes had a highly significant effect (P < 0.001) on shoot and root sugar contents of both lettuce varieties. The highest content of sugar was at low temperature (12/8 °C) and it decreased as temperature increased (Figure 3.20). Moreover a significant interaction (P < 0.001) was found between variety and temperature regime of both leaf and root of lettuce variety.

The non-sugar content (insoluble solids) of lettuce varied between the varieties and plant parts. There were no significant effects of variety on leaf and root, but significant effects of temperature regimes (P < 0.001) on both leaf and root. No significant interaction effects were found between the varieties and temperature for leaf, but there was significant effect of a root (P < 0.05), (Figure 3.20).

For carrot, there were no significant effects of variety on sugar content of leaf but there were significant effects (P < 0.001) on root.

There were highly significant effects (P < 0.001) of temperature on sugar content of both leaf and root of carrot varieties. No significant interaction effects were found between the varieties and temperature regimes of leaf or of root Figure 3. 21.

There were no significant effects of variety on either leaf or root non-sugar content (insoluble solids) of carrot varieties, but significant effects of temperature regimes (P < 0.01) on both leaf and root contents. No significant interaction effects were found between the varieties and temperature for leaf but there was a significant interaction for root, Figure 3. 21.



Figure 3.20 The effect of lettuce variety (Dixter and Exbury) and temperature on sugar and non-sugar content of leaves and root. Means with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicated SEM, (n=3).



Figure 3.21 The effect of carrot variety (Parmex and Little Finger) and temperature regime on dry matter content of leaves and root. Means with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean.

3.2.2 Nitrate concentration

There were highly significant effects of variety (P < 0.001) and temperature (P < 0.001) on nitrate concentration of lettuce leaves and root. The nitrate concentration increased gradually with temperature increase, then seemed to decrease at highest temperature regimes (32/28 °C). Furthermore there were highly significant interactions (P < 0.001 for leaf and P < 0.05 for root) between variety and temperature regimes. Lettuce Exbury had higher concentrations than Dixter in both shoots and root at all temperature regimes, (Figure 3.22).



Figure 3.22 The effect of lettuce variety (Dixter and Exbury) and the temperature regime on nitrate concentration of leaves and root. Means with different letters within a plant fraction are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n= 3).

For the carrots, there were no significant effects of variety on nitrate concentration of leaves and root, but there were significant effects of temperature on nitrate concentration and greater on leaves (P < 0.001) than on the roots (P < 0.01). In addition, there was a highly significant interaction (P < 0.01) between variety and temperature regimes for leaves, but not for carrot root (Figure 3.23 and 3.24). Parmex leaves had higher concentrations than Little Finger at 22/18 °C compared with lower temperature, while in other regimes Little Finger had higher levels than Parmex in leaves and roots. Very large increase in leaf nitrate concentration of both Parmex and Little Finger between 22/18 °C and 27/23 °C



Figure 3.23 The effect of carrot variety (Parmex and Little Finger) and temperature regimes on nitrate concentration of leaves. Means with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n=3).



Figure 3.24 The effect of carrot variety (Parmex and Little Finger) and temperature regimes on nitrate concentration of root. Means with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n=3).

3.2.4 Chlorophylls and carotenoids (HPLC analysis)

The main chlorophylls and carotenoids were separated and identified in lettuce leaf and carrot root (Figure 3.25 and 3.26).



Figure 3.25 HPLC chromatogram recorded at 450 nm with diode array detector of chlorophylls and carotenoid compounds in lettuce leaf (Dixter) : 1, lutein; 2, chlorophyll b; 3, chlorophyll a; 4, β -carotene; 4 and 5, *Cis* β -carotene.



Figure 3.26 HPLC chromatogram recorded at 450 nm with diode array detector of carotenoid compounds in carrot root: 1, lutein; 2, α -carotene; 3, β -carotene; 4, *Cis* β -carotene.

3.2.4.1 Chlorophylls

There were significant effects of variety (P < 0.001) and of temperature (P < 0.001) on leaf chlorophylls (a and b) of lettuce varieties. Moreover a significant interaction (P < 0.01) was found between variety and temperature regime (Figure 3.27). Chlorophylls increased with increasing temperature. Dixter had higher concentrations than Exbury. At the highest temperature (32/28 °C) Exbury responded in different way to Dixter as chlorophylls a and b decreased.



Figure 3.27 The effect of lettuce variety (Dixter and Exbury) and temperature on leaf chlorophylls a (Chl a) and b (Chl b). Means with different letters within a chlorophyll type are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n = 3).

For carrot, there were significant effects of variety (P < 0.001) and of temperature (P < 0.05) and (P < 0.001) on leaf chlorophylls a and b respectively. There were no significant interactions between variety and temperature, for chl a and for chl b (Figure 3.28). The highest concentration of chlorophylls were recorded at moderate temperatures (17 and 22 °C) and decreased at the highest temperatures. The chlorophylls of Little Finger tended to increase with increasing temperature up to the highest concentration at 22/18 °C, and then decreased at 27/23 °C.



Figure 3.28 The effect of carrot variety (Parmex and Little Finger) and temperature on leaf chlorophylls a (Chl a) and b (Chl b). Means with different letters for each chlorophyll type are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n = 3).

3.2.4.2 Carotenoids

There were highly significant effects of variety (P < 0.001) and of temperature (P < 0.001) on carotenoids (lutein, β -carotene and *Cis* β -carotene) of lettuce leaves, as well as highly significant interaction (P < 0.001) for each of the carotenoids between variety and temperature regime (Figure 3.29). At 22/18 °C Dixter had the highest concentrations of lutein, β -carotene and *Cis* β -carotene but the concentrations were similar at all the other temperature regimes. In contrast, Exbury had the highest concentrations of each at 22 and 27 °C than other regimes.



Figure 3.29 The effect of lettuce variety (Dixter and Exbury) and temperature on leaf lutein, β -carotene and *Cis* β -carotene concentrations. Means with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate SEM, (n = 3).

For carrot leaf, no significant effect of variety was observed for lutein, but there was significant effect of variety (P < 0.05 and P < 0.05) on β -carotene and *Cis* β -carotene respectively.

There was a highly significant effect (P < 0.001) of temperature regimes on lutein, β , and *Cis* β -carotene. The highest concentration of lutein was achieved at low temperature (12/8 °C) and decreased gradually with increasing temperature of both varieties. β -carotene accumulated its highest concentration in moderate temperature at 22/18 °C, Little Finger at this regime had greater concentration than Parmex.

Although there was no significant interaction between variety and temperature regimes on lutein, but a significant interaction (P < 0.01) and (P < 0.05) of β , and *Cis*-carotene respectively was found between variety and temperature regimes (Figure 3.30).

For carrot root, there was a highly significant effect (P < 0.001) of variety and temperature (P < 0.001) on lutein, α -carotene, β -carotene and *Cis* β -carotene respectively. The lutein concentration increased gradually with temperature increase. Parmex had a higher concentration of lutein than Little Finger. The α , β -carotene and *Cis* β -carotene responded similarly to temperature regimes and had highest concentrations at 17/13 °C.

A highly significant interaction (P < 0.001) between variety and temperature regimes,

Parmex had a higher concentration of α , β , and *Cis* -carotene than Little Finger (Figure 3.31).

In contrast for carrot leaf, the lowest concentration of lutein was achieved at low temperature and increased gradually with increasing temperature.



Figure 3.30 The effect of carrot variety (Parmex and Little Finger) and temperature on leaf lutein, β -carotene and *Cis* β -carotene. Means with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n = 3).



Figure 3.31 The effect of carrot variety (Parmex and Little Finger) and temperature on root lutein, α -carotene, β -carotene and *Cis* β -carotene. Means with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n = 3).
3.2.5 Polyacetylene compounds of carrot root

The three main compounds found and identified in carrot root were falcarindiol at 19.1 min; falcarinol 3-acetate at 23.14 min and falcarinol at 26 min respectively, (Figure 3.32 and 3.33).

Whilst there was no significant effect of variety on falcarindiol, it was significant for falcarindiol 3-acetate (P < 0.05) and falcarinol (P < 0.001) respectively.

Temperature significantly (P < 0.01, 0.01 and 0.001) affected polyacetylene compound concentrations of falcarindiol, falcarindiol 3-acetate and falcarinol respectively, which were higher at low temperatures and deceased with increasing temperature.

Moreover, no significant interaction was found between variety and temperature regime of falcarindiol and falcarindiol 3-acetate respectively, but it was significant (P < 0.01) for falcarinol (Figure 3.34).



Figure 3.32 HPLC chromatogram recorded at 205 nm with diode array detector of polyacetylene compounds in carrot Parmex root: 1, falcarindiol (FaDOH, Rt = 19.1 min; λ_{max} 233, 245, 259 nm); 2, falcarinol 3-acetate (FaDOAc) (RT = 23.14 min; λ_{max} 234, 246, 260 nm) and 3, falcarinol (FaOH) (Rt = 26 min; λ_{max} 231, 244, 256 nm) respectively.



Figure 3.33 UV spectra characteristics of 1, falcarindiol (FaDOH); 2, falcarinol 3acetate (FaDOAc) and 3, falcarinol (FaOH) in carrot root (Parmex variety) collected at 205 nm.



Figure 3.34 The effect of carrot variety (Parmex and Little Finger) and temperature on root falcarindiol, falcariniol-3-acetate and falcarinol concentrations. Means with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate SEM, (n = 3).

3.2.6 Phenolic compounds

3.2.6.1 Phenolic acids in Lettuce:

The three main phenolic acids - caftaric acid (Caffeoyltartaric acid), chlorogenic acid (3-caffeoylquinic acid) and cichoric acid (Dicaffeoyltartaric acid) were abundant in high concentrations in lettuce leaves indicated by peaks 1, 2 and 6 respectively, (Figure 3.35).



Figure 3.35 Typical HPLC-DAD chromatogram of phenolic acids of lettuce leaf extract recorded at $\lambda = 320$ nm. Peaks are 1, caftaric acid; 2, chlorogenic acid (3-CQA); 3,4 unknown phenolic acids; 5, 8, quercetin derivatives; 6, cichoric acid, 7, internal standard (naringenin).



Figure 3.36 UV spectra characteristics of main phenolic peaks 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 6 in lettuce leaf (as shown in Figure 3.35 when detected at 320 nm).

There was a highly significant effect (P < 0.001) of variety and temperature (P < 0.001) on caftaric acid, chlorogenic acid and cichoric acid levels (Figure 3.37). Phenolic concentration was affected significantly by temperature: at the lowest temperature 12/8 °C concentrations were significantly higher than at higher temperatures as it decreased

gradually until 27/23 °C. Thereafter there appeared to be a significant increase once again. There was a highly significant interaction (P < 0.001) between variety and temperature. Dixter had the highest concentration of the three phenolic acids (caftaric, chlorogenic and cichoric acid) at low temperature (12/8 °C). In contrast Exbury had the highest concentration of the three main phenolic acids (caftaric, chlorogenic and cichoric acid) at high temperature (32/28 °C), the concentration for both varieties was lower at the moderate temperature (22 and 27 °C), (Figure 3.37).



Figure 3.37 The effect of lettuce variety (Dixter and Exbury) and temperature regimes on leaf concentrations of caftaric acid, chlorogenic acid (3-CQA) and cichoric acid. Means with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n = 3).

3.2.6.2 Quercetin derivatives in lettuce

Quercetin derivatives in lettuce leaves (Peaks 5 and 8, Figure 3. 35) were also recorded at 320 nm. A highly significant effect (P < 0.001) of variety on quercetin derivatives, a significant effect of temperature (P < 0.001), as well as significant interaction (P < 0.001) was found between variety and temperature for lettuce (Figure 3.38).

At the lowest temperature (12/8 °C) Dixter had higher concentrations of quercetin derivatives than Exbury, while at the other temperature regimes, both varieties showed broadly similar responses.



Figure 3.38 The effect of lettuce variety (Dixter and Exbury) and temperature regimes on the sum of leaf quercetin derivatives (peaks 5 and 8, from Figure 3. 35). Means with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n = 3).

3.2.6.3 Anthocyanin in lettuce leaves

The anthocyanin in lettuce leaves was recorded at 520 nm at 23.5 min (Figure 3.40).

There were significant effects of variety (P < 0.001) and temperature regime (P < 0.001) on anthocyanin of lettuce leaf. A significant interaction (P < 0.001) was found between variety and temperature (Figure 3.41). Clearly, anthocyanin levels in lettuce leaves were highest at low temperature. Differences between varieties were easily seen: Dixter was much darker green and red (attributed to the high accumulation of anthocyanin) than Exbury, which was lighter green and had less anthocyanin (Figure 3.39).

Anthocyanin accumulated in highest concentration at low temperature (12/8 °C) of both varieties and decreased gradually as temperature increased. Dixter had much higher anthocyanin than Exbury at (12/8 °C), by the order of threefold.



Figure 3.39 The effect of temperature regimes on the accumulation of anthocyanin (red colour) in lettuce leaves of the varieties (Dixter and Exbury).



Figure 3.40 Typical HPLC-DAD chromatogram of anthocyanin of lettuce leaf extract recorded at $\lambda = 520$ nm, (peak 1 with λ max 521 nm at 23.5 min).



Figure 3.41 The effect of lettuce variety (Dixter and Exbury) and temperature regimes on leaf anthocyanin concentration. Means with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n = 3).

3.2.6.4 Comparisons with standards of phenolic acids in carrot:

For both carrot and lettuce leaf, the retention time and UV spectra of chlorogenic acid (3-caffeoylquinic acid, 3-CQA) CAS number 327-97-9, was similar to an authentic standard. There is still confusion as regards (3-CQA) as, in numerous publications, it is named either 3-CQA or (5-caffeoylquinic acid, 5-CQA) CAS number 906-33-2, as demonstrated by (Frota and Tucker, 1972).

Much of the literature (Samuoliene and Duchovskis, 2006; Kreutzmann *et al.*, 2008; Du *et al.*, 2012) has identified 5-CAQ as the main chlorogenic acid in carrots. By contrast, during the present study, both chlorogenic acids (3 and 5-CQA) were tested, but only 3-CQA was found at a similar time and in the UV spectra in samples (leaf and root). For carrot chlorogenic acid (3-CQA or 3-caffeoylquinic acid) with λ max 298, 327 nm at 17.7 min was matched to the standard (peak 2) in leaf (Figure 3. 42) and in root (Figure 3.43 and 3.44).

The other phenolics were unknown and did not match the whole standard (Caffeic acid, 4-Caffeoylquinic acid, 5-Caffeoylquinic acid (5-CQA), 1,3-Dicaffeoylquinic acid, 3,5-Dicaffeoylquinic acid, 3,4-Dicaffeoylquinic acid and 4,5-Dicaffeoylquinic acid) that were tested or to any published in previous literature (section 2.2.3.4.4).

Therefore, all phenolic peaks were calculated as total phenolic acids (the sum of all individual peaks (PK) as mg of chlorogenic acid equivalent / 100g FW). Clearly, the UV spectra characteristics of unknown peaks in the leaf and root of the carrot (Figure 3.44) were matched to UV spectra of caffeic acid derivatives as shown in many publications (section 2.2.3.4.4).



Figure 3.42 Typical HPLC-DAD chromatogram of phenolic acids of carrot leaf extracts recorded at $\lambda = 320$ nm. Peaks: 2 is chlorogenic acid (3-CQA), other peaks are unknown phenolic acids. , IS is internal standard (naringenin).



Figure 3.43 Typical HPLC-DAD chromatogram of phenolic acids of carrot root extracts recorded at $\lambda = 320$ nm. Peaks are: 2 is chlorogenic acid (3-CQA), other peaks are unknown phenolic acids, IS is internal standard (naringenin).



Figure 3.44 UV spectra characteristics of main phenolic peaks 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 8, 9 and 10 in carrot (as shown in Figure 3.43 when detected at 320 nm).

There were no significant effects or interactions of variety or temperature on chlorogenic acid content of carrot roots, (Figure 3.45).

For carrot leaf, there was a significant effect (P < 0.01) of variety, a highly significant effect of temperature (P < 0.001) on chlorogenic acid level and a significant interaction (P < 0.01) between the varieties and temperature, (Figure 3.45).



Figure 3.45 The effect of carrot variety (Parmex and Little Finger) and temperature regimes on chlorogenic acid concentration in the leaves and roots. Means with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n = 3).



Figure 3.46 The effect of carrot variety (Parmex) and temperature regimes on individual phenolic acids concentration in the leaf (as shown in Figure 3.42). Means with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n = 3).



Figure 3.47 The effect of carrot variety (Little Finger) and temperature regimes on individual phenolic acids concentration in the leaf (shown in Figure 3.42). Means with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n = 3).

There was a highly significant effect of temperature (P < 0.001) on the sum of phenolic peaks in carrot leaves (10 peaks in Figure 3.35, based on 3-CQA equivalent), as well as a significant interaction (P < 0.01) between the varieties and temperature: the highest concentration of summed peaks was at 17/ 13 °C in both varieties and at two low temperatures Little Finger had a higher concentration than Parmex, but not at the two high temperatures (Figure 3. 48).



Figure 3.48 The effect of carrot variety (Parmex and Little Finger) and temperature regimes on the sum of phenolic compounds (the sum of 10 individual peaks mg of 3-CQA equivalent) in the leaves. Means with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n = 3).



Figure 3.49 The effect of carrot variety (Parmex) and temperature regimes on individual phenolic acid concentrations in the roots (shown in Figure 3.43). Means with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n = 3).



Figure 3.50 The effect of carrot variety (Little Finger) and temperature regimes on individual phenolic acid concentrations in the roots. Means with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n = 3).

There was no significant effect of variety at each temperature on carrot root but a significant effect of temperature (P < 0.05) on sum of all phenolics (all 10 peaks in Figure 3.36), 3-CQA and other unknown compounds based on 3-CQA equivalent) level. No significant interaction was found between the varieties and temperature, (Figure 3.51). Additionally it was observed that the carrot leaves had much higher concentrations than roots.



Figure 3.51 The effect of carrot variety (Parmex and Little Finger) and temperature regimes on the sum of phenolics (the sum of all individual phenolics (10 peaks) include 3-CQA) in the roots. Means with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n = 3).

	Chlorogenic acid and unknown phenolic peaks (mg/100g FW) of carrot variety (leaf and root)										
	Pk 1	Pk 2 (3-CQA)	Pk 3	Pk 4	Pk 5	Pk 6	Pk 7	Pk 8	Pk 9	Pk 10	Sum of all peaks
ANOVA P-values (Leaf)											
Varieties	0.000	0.007	0.209	0.001	0.236	0.916	0.000	0.000	0.176	0.028	0.002
Temperature	0.026	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
Var * Temp	0.929	0.005	0.588	0.275	0.750	0.988	0.000	0.000	0.210	0.010	0.001
ANOVA P-values (Root)											
Varieties	0.456	0.372	0.837	0.074	0.804	0.877	0.031	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.558
Temperature	0.090	0.417	0.018	0.003	0.147	0.001	0.010	0.000	0.000	0.374	0.012
Var * Temp	0.098	0.234	0.374	0.098	0.081	0.103	0.042	0.001	0.007	0.713	0.080

Table 3.1 Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) for the phenolic peaks of leaf and root of carrot varieties grown at different temperatures

The highlighted P-value indicates significant differences (P<0.05), (n=3).

CHAPTER 4. DISCUSSION

4.1 Effect of temperature on plant growth parameters

4.1.1 Effect of temperature on plant growth rate and time to harvest

Throughout the current study, growth of lettuce proceeded over a wider range of temperatures than the carrot. Under the highest temperature regime (27/23 °C) the growth of carrot was almost entirely suppressed. This concurs with many previous reports which have considered the responses of different plant species and genotypes subject to different growth temperatures throughout the whole of the growth cycle. For example, (Nascimento et al., 2008) observed that under high temperature treatments, the success of carrot germination is dependent on genotype and the extent of the vigour of seeds (although effects of temperature on seed germination were not tested in the experiments reported here). The time to reach harvestable stage was affected by temperature regime: rapid growth and achievement of the appropriate stage of growth or maturity of plants is encouraged by higher temperatures whilst plants grown under lowest temperature regimes take a longer time to reach harvest on account of slower growth and delayed ripening/maturity. This observation was also reported by (Reddy and Hodges, 2000), who stated that early growth of lettuce is determined by temperature, and the production rate increases with increasing temperature. At low temperature slow growth is associated with a slow rate of production of leaves and more limited plant height but increases gradually as temperature regimes increase. This reflects the effect of temperature on the photosynthesis mechanism the rate of which rises with increasing temperature. Consequently, as demonstrated by (Berry and Bjorkman, 1980) temperature is a major environmental factor to which the photosynthesis process in plants is particularly sensitive.

4.1.2 Growth and plant biomass production

It is well-known that plant morphology and growth parameters are affected by growth conditions and, in the present study, plant biomass (leaf and root) were affected significantly by temperature. According to (Tackenberg, 2007), basic plant growth rate and production is the result of effects of growth conditions such as temperature. Growth

(weeks to harvest) was slowest and biomass at harvest highest at lower rather than higher temperatures regimes, since in this experiment the harvest time was defined by the number of leaves, not by the weight of the plant. Although there were clear variety differences in response to temperature regimes for leaf fresh weight, (Dixter had highest leaf (FW) at 17/13 °C, while Exbury had highest leaf (FW) at moderate temperature (22/18 °C) this was mainly due to differences in moisture content.

Both lettuce varieties had highest (DW) at lowest temperature at 12/8 °C. Clearly, the rate of dry matter accumulation is the primary variable affected by temperature in many species, including lettuce (Lopes *et al.*, 2004). However it may also influence the dry matter content of fresh plant material and have an effect on product quality e.g. texture and storage potential of horticultural crops.

The temperature regimes of 12 °C and 17 °C resulted in the highest total biomass of lettuce. This could be due to the adaptation of this species to lower optimal temperatures as a 'cool' crop that performs better at lower rather than at higher temperature. This is especially the case with carrots in which root growth is more severely affected than leaves. Similar results regarding the effects of high temperature on different species were observed (Bewley, 1997). Moreover, within a species there is varietal difference: the total fresh and dry mass of lettuce Dixter (leaf and root) was higher than that of Exbury over the whole of the treatment range due to the differing response of genotypes to temperature regimes.

Since the plants were grown under constant light and similar watering regimes, the significant variations in dry matter were obviously effects of the temperature regimes. Lopes *et al.* (2004) made a similar observation. In addition to the temperature effect, light conditions have an important impact on the dry matter content, due to the strong relationship between the dry matter accumulation and the amount of photosynthetically active radiation of plants (Lopes *et al.*, 2004). Current results concur with (Koontz and Prince, 1986) who concluded that the dry matter of the lettuce plant is higher when exposed to irradiance (< 500 μ mol /m² /s) for a longer period than when exposed to irradiance (> 500 μ mol /m² /s) for shorter periods. This explains the effect of time until harvesting and that differences are dependent on the temperature regime even with a similar light condition (150 μ mol /m²/s), whereas a plant which is grown slowly (longer period) has the highest dry matter in this study specifically that of lettuce. By contrast, at a high temperature, the dry matter content is affected negatively due to an increase in

maintenance respiration (Straten *et al.*, 2010), thus, plants grown at a high temperature have a less dry matter.

4.1.3 Leaf area

The rate of leaf production increased with increasing day temperature regimes which concurs with the conclusion provided by (Wurr *et al.*, 1996): this is consistent with lettuce being a vegetable that matures more quickly and reaches a marketable stage when grown at a high temperature. The temperature response of the leaf area of lettuce was affected by variety: Dixter being more vigorous than Exbury. Temperature had a significant effect on the average leaf area of lettuce varieties for all temperatures, moderate temperature (22/18 °C) gave the highest leaf area, with average of varieties increasing by 45.9 % from 12/8 to 22/18 °C and then decreasing by 22.2 % from 22/18 to 32/28 °C. This could be due to the effects of the lowest and highest regimes on photosynthetic efficiency and hence on the leaf area: 22/18 °C was the optimum regime for lettuce growth.

Al-Hamdani and Todd (1990) observed slow growth, a large leaf area, lower respiration and the lowest net photosynthesis in alfalfa plants grown at 21 °C than those grown at 34 °C, but different light conditions were imposed (850 and 520 μ mol /m² /s). This is similar to the current results, even with much reduced light condition (150 μ mol m² /s).

4.2 Phytochemicals

Clearly, growth temperature regimes effects on morphology and physiological processes lead to impacts on the quality and nutritional value of plant products (Moretti *et al.*, 2010). This is reflected in the large changes in the phytochemical concentrations in this study. However, the response of plants to growth temperature conditions and, thus, the accumulation of phytochemicals differs, as has been reported in previous studies of environmental stress influences (Taub *et al.*, 2000; Moretti *et al.*, 2010; Sanghera *et al.*, 2011).

4.2.1 Sugar content

Accumulation of sugar in both shoots and roots of lettuce and carrot was highest at a low temperature and decreased with increasing temperatures. According to (Pietrini *et al.*, 2002), at low temperatures respiration rates slow down and there is less enzyme activity, which tends to reduce energy demand and leads to a high accumulation of sugar instead of nitrate. By contrast, at a high temperature, increasing respiration (more energy requirement) leads to a decrease in the sugar content with a different response between the genotypes, as a result of the associated active nitrogen metabolism process that utilizes sugars, (Champigny, 1995).

This offers an explanation for current results whereby, the mechanism of sugar production results in high levels in response to the effect of low temperatures, leading to the a reduction of nitrate accumulation associated with an increase in the rate of nitrogen metabolism. Similar observations were made in lettuce leaves by (Zhou *et al.*, 2013) with the same light intensity but a different light quality.

Additionally, the greater concentration of sugar is associated with slow growth and development of plants, due to the main effect of low temperatures on sugar accumulation. This contrasts with higher temperature regimes that lead to more rapid growth and less sugar. Therefore the physiological process (the photosynthesis and respiration alterations caused by temperature) is a possible reason, since dark respiration slows down under low temperature conditions, which causes reduction of carbohydrate consumption (Khayat *et al.*, 1988). Thus carbohydrate levels are influenced by the maturation extent of leaves and shoots (Jiao *et al.*, 1989) in rose plants.

Although effects on sugar content were variable dependent on temperature regimes in the recent study, this was not the case for the content of non-sugar materials (plant residue) of both lettuce and carrot plants, where there are no reported studies to compare with.

4.2.2 Nitrate concentration

Previous research has shown that light (Lillo, 2004; Santamaria, 2006) and temperature (Hill, 1991; Gorenjak and Cencic, 2013) are both important for nitrate accumulation in

plants, they are considered to be the main factors affecting of both uptake and reduction of nitrate in plants.

Nevertheless, in the present study, growth temperature regimes were observed to be a significantly influential factor on nitrate accumulation, while the light was constant for all temperature treatments. Nitrate accumulation in both the leaves and roots of carrots and lettuces increased significantly with temperature. However, concentrations differed between roots and leaves and between different varieties of the same plant species.

It is well known that the enzyme reductase rapidly can convert nitrate to amino acids in the plant, and that its conversion requires important factors that are: light, nutrients, water and appropriate temperature, (Weitzberg and Lundberg, 2013). However, if the plant is exposed to different stresses, the conversion of nitrate to proteins becomes restricted, thereby resulting the accumulation of nitrate (Hill, 1991).

Other studies have demonstrated that lettuce which is grown in winter (low temperature and low conditions) has higher nitrate concentration than those grown in summer (high temperature and high light conditions) due to differences in light intensity thus affecting nitrate reductase enzyme activity leading to variation of nitrate uptake in plant tissues,(more light result in more nitrate being converted into protein) (Leyva *et al.*, 1995). Light energy also stimulates the photosynthetic electron transport to provide the required electrons that are responsible for reduction of nitrate to nitrite, (McCashin, 2000).

However, in complete contrast, in this study nitrate concentration increased with temperature. This is probably due to the fact that light inputs was constant at all temperatures and relatively lower (150 μ mol /m² /s) compared with other reports. According to (Brown *et al.*, 1993) the increase in accumulation of nitrate in plants grown at high temperature is high due to the rapid transpiration of water that occurs at faster rate than the nitrate can be metabolised.

Some studies have raised concerns about links between the nitrate concentration in the diet and some health issues such as cancer in the digestive tract or methaemoglobinaemia in infants. This may be caused by toxic products such as nitrite resulting from the conversion of ingested nitrate in saliva and the gastrointestinal tract, (Lundberg *et al.*, 1994; Bryan and Grinsven, 2013).

However, nitrate concentration of leafy salads and vegetables is a feature related to the European Commission's adopted EC Regulation No. 1822/2005 associated with health requirements of consumers. This specifies the maximum level of nitrate permitted in lettuce and spinach (Table 1.2), Exbury variety had the highest concentration of NO₃

(2690 mg/Kg) at 27/23 °C. This level exceeds the maximum permitted level in lettuce during summer (for crops grown in the open air and under cover) and could therefore have implications for human health. Clearly, there are differential effects of temperature and also variety on leaf nitrogen concentrations which are significant for both producers and consumers.

Carrot root growth was inhibited at a high temperature (27/23 °C), however, it was not possible to measure nitrate concentration in the carrot root at this temperature regime, since the amount of root material (of the tap root) was too small, therefore the nitrate concentrations was investigated in the leaves only. Whereas leaves had the highest accumulation of nitrate under this temperature regime (27/23 °C), so this may also have been the case for the roots, if it had been possible to measure the content in the very small roots that were formed at this regime.

Nitrate accumulation reacts in the opposite way to sugar and increases with an increase in the temperature, as concluded by (Zhang *et al.*, 1997). However, most of the earlier studies show a strong correlation between low light intensity and high accumulation of nitrate in both the field and greenhouse.

In the present study, the growth temperature played a significant role in nitrate accumulation. This observation will thus be useful for growers when growing plants at different temperatures (seasonal differences between summer and winter) and when using fertilizers which lead to an increase in the nitrate level (Brown *et al.*, 1993; Byrne *et al.*, 2004; Bumgarner *et al.*, 2012). Thus nitrogen fertiliser recommendations and determination of the appropriate fertilizer dose to be applied should take account of the prevailing temperature regime, taking into account both light and temperature changes between seasons. On other hand climate change is predicted to increase temperature without changing the light conditions.

Different studies used different experimental design have achieved very different results, however, it is well known that the nitrate concentration can be controlled (reduced) during winter growing in greenhouses by using either a low temperature or with supplementary light or both to develop a strategy of growth, (Ioslovich and Seginer, 2002; Demsar *et al.*, 2004; Lillo, 2004; Xu and Huang, 2011).

4.2.3 Chlorophyll pigments

Many researchers consider that HPLC measurement to be the more accurate quantification technique for chlorophyll pigments and the results of this study was based on this. Also the chlorophylls were measured spectrophotometrically (fresh material), but it was not possible to use the results of the spectrophotometric method because of an error in the procedure used.

According to the observation by (Al-Hamdani and Todd, 1990) chlorophyll a and b increased with increasing temperatures. However, as expected the results showed that the high temperature regimes increased chlorophyll levels of both lettuce and carrot leaves. Similarly, Al-Hamdani and Todd (1990) reported that chlorophylls a and b of Alfalfa grown at 12, 21 and 34 °C under high light conditions increased with an increase in temperatures. Although lettuce varieties respond differently to temperature regimes in terms of chlorophyll accumulation, in the current study, chlorophylls a and b of lettuce increased as the temperature increased. As consideration the chlorophylls are the primary pigments of photosynthesis in plants, and its concentration can affect different factors. Through the present study with constant light conditions, the concentration appears low at the lowest regime and increases with an increase in temperatures due to the greater activity of photosynthesis as observed by (Fitter and Hay, 2002; Qin et al., 2007; Moretti et al., 2010), which in turn increases the chlorophyll concentration. This observation disagrees with the results reported by (Gazula et al., 2005) who observed that lettuce grown at 20 °C has a higher concentration of chlorophyll b than lettuce grown at 30 °C due to pigment degradation at high temperatures, the likely reason for this disagreement is the genotypes variation to temperature response and high light conditions (600 μ mol /m² /s) which is considered high for the light conditions when compared to the current study which is $(150 \,\mu \text{mol} / \text{m}^2)$ /s).

The observation for both chlorophylls a and b concentration of carrot leaves in present study are higher at a moderate temperature 22/18 °C than at a lower temperature and slightly decreased at 27/23 °C (above optimal). This suggests that the optimal temperature regime is 22/18 °C. Consequently, an increase in photosynthesis activity is associated with an increase in chlorophyll pigment concentrations associated with increasing temperatures (up to 32 °C in the present study) and the ability of plants to

118

adapt up to this range. However, it could be that had the temperature range under test been extended above 32 °C there may have been a decrease or/ and inhibition of pigmentation. According to (Berry and Bjorkman, 1980) however, high temperature (> 20 °C) has a negative effect on the photosynthetic apparatus (Photosystem II and CO_2 fixation) through disruption of the functional integrity, due to the high sensitivity of photosynthesis to high temperatures .

As reported by (Nobel, 1999) that the normal ratio of chl a: chl b is (3:1), while the present results shows an increase of chlorophyll a / chlorophyll b ratio, which even exceeded the normal range which is considered to be 4:1.

However, this is most likely in response to the low light condition in this study. A similar observation was reported by (Beneragama and Goto, 2010), who observed increased chlorophyll a/b ratios in Euglena in low light conditions.

4.2.4 Carotenoid composition

In the present study temperature regimes had a highly significant effect on carotenoids' concentration. The concentrations of lutein, β -carotene and Cis β -carotene in the variety Dixter were similar over all temperature regimes except at the moderate temperature (22/18 °C) where it was highest. The variety Exbury also exhibited significant effect of temperature on carotenoid concentration but the concentrations of lutein, β-carotene and Cis β -carotene were broadly similar at all temperature regimes. This could be a varietal response to the temperature effect. Generally, these results concur with those reported by (Mou, 2005), that carotenoids levels in autumn (where the temperature close to 17/13 °C in present study) are lower than in the summer (where the temperature close to 22/18 and 27/23 °C in present study, taking into account the differing light conditions), in addition to the genetic variation that is significant for lettuce varieties. Regarding carrots, however, (Simon and Wolff, 1987) reported that the variation of carotenes' concentration is likely to be caused by genetic and environment factors but the genotypes are considered the main influence on carrot roots. In the present study, the concentrations of lutein, α -carotene and β -carotene were significantly affected by temperature which is consistent with the results for carrot roots, as reported by Nicolle et al. (2004). Carotenoid levels of carrot leaves were also significantly affected by temperature. There is a different response of carotenoids to

temperature regimes and a greater temperature effect on lutein concentration in both carrot leaves and roots, although they respond in different directions. Whereas the lutein in the carrot root increases with an increase in temperature, the concentration in the leaves decreases with an increase in temperature. In this study, it was evident that the effect of temperature on accumulation of lutein in leaves is opposite to that of chlorophyll pigments. Therefore, these results disagree with other studies e.g. Mou (2005) who concluded that both carotenoids and chlorophyll concentrations were both affected in the same direction. The low light conditions in the present study are probably a reason of this disagreement. This observation needs further research to clarify understanding.

The greater β -carotene of carrot root at 17/13 °C could be due to the more prolific growth of roots, dry matter accumulation with advancing maturity and increasingly dark orange colour at this temperature, especially in the Parmex variety (Figure 3.31): this is supported by (Samuoliene and Duchovskis, 2006) who indicated that the carotenes' concentrations increase with the age and size of carrot roots. However, carrot leaves have about twice the concentration of carotenoid levels than the roots.

4.2.5 Polyacetylene compounds of carrot root

Concentration of the three polyacetylene compounds (falcarindiol, falcarinol 3-acetate and falcarinol) varied considerably between the temperature regimes. At the lowest temperature (12/8 °C) both carrot varieties exhibited the highest concentration of polyacetylenes in the roots: on average the concentrations in both varieties decreased by 45.3 % with an increase in temperature (12-22 °C). The influence of temperature on polyacetylenes accumulation is considered to be one of the different defence mechanisms of plants against environmental stresses, including temperature and also pests and diseases. Many studies have reported the antifungal activity and antibacterial properties of polyacetylenes (Mercier *et al.*, 1993; Baranska and Schulz, 2005; Christensen and Brandt, 2006).

Falcarindiol is the most abundant polyacetylene in both varieties of carrot root, as reported by (Czepa and Hofmann, 2003; Czepa and Hofmann, 2004; Christensen and Kreutzmann, 2007; Kjellenberg *et al.*, 2010) and also reported by (Kreutzmann *et al.*, 2008) in the carrot peel. On the other hand, in other studies, Falcarindiol was present at

a lower concentration than Falcarinol (Kreutzmann *et al.*, 2008). Falcarinol differed markedly between the two varieties of carrots, which may reflect the ability of different genotypes to accumulate polyacetylenes, both during growth and in the post-harvest phase which is apparent in the effects of root size and storage conditions as reported by (Kidmose *et al.*, 2004). Many previous studies have shown the sensitivity of polyacetylenes to several different factors, but no reports have highlighted the effects of growth temperature on the polyacetylene concentration in carrots. Information about the accumulation of these bioactive compounds at different temperatures is still new and the present study demonstrates that the low growth temperature regime enhances increased levels of polyacetylenes. This might be due to the role of polyacetylene compounds as a defence against sub-optimal temperature stresses and thus the synthesis effects depend on temperature. Further research is needed to confirm this observation in the absence of clear investigations of growth temperature influences and the associated physiological processes.

4.2.6 Phenolic compounds

4.2.6.1 Phenolic acids

Present results confirm chlorogenic acid, (3-CQA), as the main phenolic acid in carrot root and leaf, and also its presence in lettuce leaves. Other major phenolic acids have been identified by other groups of researchers. However, most of the phenolic standards were tested, which had previously been reported for carrots, were not present in the samples analysed in present study. Therefore, the results reported in the previous literature were probably not correct. However of all of the alternative compounds, the standards were impossible to purchase for phenolic acids. So there is full agreement in all of the literature that these peaks are phenolic acids, it's just not certain which phenolic acids they are.

Regarding lettuce leaves, the current study which identified chlorogenic acid named as (3-CQA) as the main phenolic acid does not concur with (Romani *et al.*, 2002) who reported that the name of main caffeic derivative was (5-CQA).

Many studies have shown the high accumulation of phenolics under the different stresses. Therefore, the current results show similar observations that have previously

been reported (Ellnain-Wojtaszek *et al.*, 2001; Wang and Zheng, 2001; Gliszczynska-Swiglo *et al.*, 2007; Oh *et al.*, 2009): exposure of plants to stresses, increases the action of enzymes that lead to an increase in the production of phenolic acids.

The temperature regimes (22/18 and 27/23 °C) that are considered an the moderate range (least stressful) to growth and development of both species, however, the plants at these regimes had the lowest concentration of phenolic compounds. Clearly, the stress temperature regimes (12/8 and 32/28 °C) particularly lower temperature (12/8 °C) affected the biosynthesis of phenolic compounds (phenolic acids and quercetin) and thus resulted in the accumulation of higher levels in the lettuce and carrot leaves. Similarly, (Dixon and Paiva, 1995) reported during the exposure of plants to diverse stresses such as temperature and/or light conditions, as a result it is likely antioxidants act for the defence through accumulation in response to stress. This reflects on plants which adapt to the surrounding conditions. These defence mechanisms of genetic activity were also reported in lettuce by Oh *et al.* (2009).

Likewise, carrot shoots have a higher concentration of phenolic acids than roots and both parts vary in response to temperatures.

In addition, that the least stressful temperature for carrot is lower than for lettuce, and this corresponds with the temperature where the concentration of phenolic acids is lowest.

The present study provides strong evidence that contributes further to previous reports about accumulation of phenolic compounds under stress. Due to the important role of some enzymes (such as phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (PAL)) and activation resulting from stresses, accumulation of phenolics increases to levels according to the extent of the stress, (Rosa *et al.*, 2001; Oh *et al.*, 2009; Boo *et al.*, 2011).

4.2.6.2 Anthocyanin of lettuce

High concentrations of anthocyanin in lettuce grown at lower temperatures (12/8 and 17/13 °C) can be easily observed by the red pigmentation of the leaves, which is not apparent at higher temperatures (27/23 and 32/28 °C).

Boo *et al.* (2011) also reported higher concentrations of anthocyanin in lettuce grown at relatively low temperatures (13/10 °C and 20/13 °C) compared with higher temperature

(25/20 and 30/25 °C) that had lower concentration, with the same light conditions as the present study. Therefore, the temperature regimes result in significant alterations of plant metabolism which cause different anthocyanin accumulation in lettuce tissue. However, increased occurrence of both activities of PAL (phenylalanine ammonialyase) and PPO (polyphenol oxidase) more quickly at low temperature than at high temperature and increased the anthocyanin accumulation (Boo *et al.*, 2011).

Zhang *et al.* (1997) reported a high accumulation and production of anthocyanin in strawberry cells grown at a lower temperature (15 and 20 °C) than that of higher regimes (30 °C) associated with a longer period of growth, due to the different biosynthesis of anthocyanin. Thus, the physiological mechanisms (response) were different (during various growth temperatures. This concurs with the present study which identified greater levels of anthocyanin in lettuce grown slowly at low temperature regimes even with low light conditions.

By contrast, high temperature suppression of anthocyanin accumulation, could arise because the unstable state, genetic mechanisms of anthocyanin and short periods of growth at high temperatures as concluded by (He *et al.*, 2010). As well as a high temperature is the main influence on anthocyanin accumulation. Two mechanisms were reported by (Chao and Yang, 1996; Shaked-Sachray *et al.*, 2002), one is that the synthesis decreases and the other is an increased rate of degradation, both reducing the concentrations at high temperatures.

The physiological aspects of anthocyanin accumulation at low temperature conditions have been reported by many researchers who are aware of this protective mechanism (Leyva *et al.*, 1995) being an important key of plant growth. This acts as light screening to protect the plants against the temperature stresses and the photo induced oxidative reaction inhibited through the photosynthetic apparatus, whereby anthocyanin molecules provide this protection during low temperatures associated with slow rate of photosynthesis and slow enzyme activity (Chalker-Scott, 1999; Pietrini *et al.*, 2002; Bumgarner *et al.*, 2012). These explanations support the results of the present study as regards low temperature regimes.

The varieties significantly vary in their response to low temperature regimes and thus lead to a variation in anthocyanin levels which could be due to the different genetics and responsiveness. These results provide additional firm confirmation of high accumulations of anthocyanin associated with low temperature regimes and that high temperatures (especially the moderate 22/18 °C) lead to the inhibition of pigment synthesis, as has been reported in many investigations.

In contradiction to the present experiment actually proves that (He *et al.*, 2010) hypothesis is incorrect, and that the anthocyanin can be formed also at high temperatures (the Dixter and Exbury dramatically had slightly increasing of anthocyanin at the highest regime (32/28 °C) than lower moderate regimes), probably when there is stress that requires protection (as mentioned with phenolic acids). However, further researches are required to support this observation.

4.2.7 Effects of temperature on plant composition

Temperature played significant effects on growth rate and the different stages of development of plants.

Practically, this study points out the importance to growers of knowledge and understanding about the different response of varieties to temperature. This may help their decisions about choice of varieties to be grown under different environmental conditions in order to achieve the best yields and quality and hence optimise their returns. On other hand it was clear that some the important photochemical compounds either increased or decreased according to temperature i.e. the optimum was different for different compounds which may mean that compromises may be needed. The present study has shown how the temperature regimes affect two species of vegetable plants, and may be considered as a starting point for further studies focusing on the link between production environment and the effects of these important phytochemicals that relate to diet and human health and effects of climate change that lead to increasing of temperature. The role of some as beneficial antioxidants and others that may have potential toxic effects is still an area of great debate: potential inhibition against diseases such as some cancers by producing plants for human consumption that have high levels of beneficial phytochemicals is an important goal. Just as important is the avoidance of producing potentially harmful levels of phytochemicals for consumption. It is essential however to confirm precisely which are beneficial and which are harmful and in what amounts.

Most previously published work in this area has investigated effects of temperature on individual phytochemicals, in most cases focusing on the types of stress or other environmental influences (e.g light stress, water stress) that are particularly relevant for this type of compounds.

The present study has investigated one specific environmental factor - temperature across a wide range of different phytochemicals in two plant species. For phytochemicals present in both carrots and lettuce, most temperature effects show the same trends for both species, although the temperature optimum for carrot growth is lower than for lettuce.

The present study also confirms that responses to temperature differ between different groups of phytochemicals which have different functions within the plant. Clearly therefore, no single temperature regime can optimize the concentration of all the potentially health-promoting compounds in vegetables. Conclusions based on single-compound investigations are thus likely to contradict comparable outcome focusing on other types of compounds.

This highlights the need for more research to determine which phytochemicals are more or less important for human health, as a necessary basis for any successful implementation of the horticultural/agronomic studies.
CHAPTER 5 . CONCLUSION AND FUTURE WORK

5.1 Conclusion

The results of this study confirm what is well known - that growth temperature regimes have a significant effect on plant morphology, resulting in a variation of growth parameters. The temperature stresses that were imposed had very clear effects on growth. As temperature increased plants grew more rapidly with leaf growth being more positively affected than root growth. On the other hand, low temperatures resulted in slow growth and increased root biomass (especially the roots of carrots). The lettuce plants were able to grow in a wide range of temperature regimes, whilst carrot root growth was more affected than that of shoot growth and at 27/22°C growth became inhibited. Plants grown in a higher temperature regime were significantly taller and had a greater leaf production than in lower regimes. There was a very consistent effect of temperature regimes on dry matter content: the lowest temperature (12/8 °C) produced the highest dry matter content of both shoots and roots.

Clearly growth temperature regimes have an effect on the physiological processes of plants and involve components, which either respond to or defend against extreme temperatures by means of large alterations in phytochemical concentrations.

Highly significant effects of the temperature regimes on the lettuce and carrot varieties were observed. At the lowest temperature, the sugar content increased in both shoot and roots. Growth temperature plays an important role in nitrate accumulation of plants; however it can be concluded that increasing temperatures will increase nitrate under low light conditions. Consequently, the response of sugar and nitrate concentrations to temperature was in the opposite direction.

There was a marked effect of the three temperature regimes for the polyacetylenes in carrot roots which decreased by 45 % at the lowest temperature. Falcarindiol was at the highest level followed by intermediate levels of Falcarinol and Falcarindiol-3-acetate at the lowest level in all temperature regimes. The chlorophylls and carotenoids which are directly involved in photosynthesis were higher at moderate temperatures than in the lowest temperature regimes.

Temperature had a significant effect on total phenolic compounds. The accumulation of phenolic compounds in both carrots and lettuce leaves is associated with both low and high temperature treatments, and the levels at 22/18 °C are only 3-50 % of the highest values, whilst the total phenolics of carrot roots are at consistent levels.

127

Accordingly, it can be noted that growth temperatures, particularly stress regimes, enhance (stimulate) high accumulation of phytochemicals and thus increase the nutritional value of main food plants which, in turn, may help to compensate for the generally below recommended rate of vegetable consumption which is apparent in some populations. To summarize, these effects could become increasingly important aspects as climate change and global warming proceeds with potentially substantial implications for the links between diet and human health.

5.2 Future work and recommendation

Further investigations are required to test the performance and composition of plants under different temperature and light levels with more replications of each treatment to confirm these observations. Continuation of this line of research with various different types of vegetables and different genotypes and how they are affected by different temperature treatments should also be pursued. In terms of nutritional value, it would be interesting to investigate the levels of phytochemicals of plants grown at different temperatures and compare them with the changes in levels that may occur as a result of postharvest storage processes and assess the extent to which such changes in concentrations may be achieved by manipulating environmental conditions in the field, greenhouse or store. It should then be possible to assess the potential benefits or dangers to humans of the changes in nutritional value brought about by such modifications. Furthermore, for commercial vegetable production, detailed knowledge about the interactions between changing environmental temperatures and water and nutrient supply throughout growth that impact on crop nutritional value may help to design and optimise management strategies to control crop product quality future basic research is recommended. For example, it would be useful to investigate and identify the main phenolic compounds present in carrot roots by using new techniques with confirmation of their names and chemical structure.

CHAPTER 6. REFERENCES

6. References

- Agrios, G.N. (ed.) (2005) *Plant Pathology*. Fifth edn. California, USA: Elsevier Academic Press.
- Al-Hamdani, S. and Todd, G.W. (1990) 'Effect of Temperature Regimes on Photosynthesis, Respiration, and Growth in Alfalfa', *Proceedings of the Oklahoma Academy of Science*, 70, pp. 1-4.
- Alasalvar, C., Grigor, J.M., Zhang, D., Quantick, P.C. and Shahidi, F. (2001) 'Comparison of Volatiles, Phenolics, Sugars, Antioxidant Vitamins, and Sensory Quality of Different Colored Carrot Varieties', *Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 49, pp. 1410-1416.
- Albayrak, S. and Çamas, N. (2007) 'Effects of Temperature and Light Intensity On Growth Of Fodder Beet (BETA VULGARIS L. VAR. CRASSA MANSF)', Bangladesh Journal of Botany. 36, pp. 1-12.
- Alexander, J., Benford, D., Cockburn, A., Cravedi, J.-P., Dogliotti, E., Domenico, A.D., Fernández-Cruz, M.L., Fink-Gremmels, J., Fürst, P., Galli, C., Grandjean, P., Gzyl, J., Heinemeyer, G., Johansson, N., Mutti, A., Schlatter, J., Leeuwen, R.v., Peteghem, C.V. and Verger, P. (2008) 'Nitrate in vegetables : Scientific Opinion of the Panel on Contaminants in the Food chain', *European Food Safety Authority (EFSA)*, pp. 1-79.
- Almuairfi, M.S., Brandt, K., Lietz, G., Cooper, J.M. and Leifert, C. (2010) *Water and nitrogen use efficiency in plants and crops*. UK. Aspects of Applied Biology.
- Alves-Rodrigues, A. and Shao, A. (2004) 'The science behind lutein', *Toxicology Letters*, 150(1), pp. 57-83.
- Atkinson, L.J., Campbell, C.D., Zaragoza-Castells, J., Hurry, V. and Atkin, O.K. (2010) 'Impact of growth temperature on scaling relationships linking photosynthetic metabolism to leaf functional traits', *Functional Ecology*, 24(6), pp. 1181-1191.
- Badea, C. and Basu, S.K. (2009) 'The effect of low temperature on metabolism of membrane lipids in plants and associated gene expression', *Plant Omics*, 2(2), pp. 78-84.

- Baranska and Schulz, H. (2005) 'Spatial tissue distribution of polyacetylenes in carrot root', *Analyst*, 130(6), pp. 855-859.
- Baranska, Schulz, H., Baranski, R., Nothnagel, T. and Christensen, L.P. (2005) 'In situ simultaneous analysis of polyacetylenes, carotenoids and polysaccharides in carrot roots', *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 53(17), pp. 6565-6571.
- Barbosa-Filho, J.M., Alencar, A.A., Nunes, X.P., Tomaz, A.C.d.A., Sena-Filho, J.G.,
 Athayde-Filho, P.F., Silva, M.S., Souza, M.F.V.d. and da-Cunha, E.V.L. (2008)
 'Sources of alpha-, beta-, gamma-, delta- and epsilon-carotenes: A twentieth century
 review', *Brazilian Journal of Pharmacognosy*, 18(1), pp. 135-154.
- Baslam, M. and Goicoechea, N. (2012) 'Water deficit improved the capacity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) for inducing the accumulation of antioxidant compounds in lettuce leaves', *Mycorrhiza*, 22(5), pp. 347-359.
- Ben-Amotz, A. and Fishler, R. (1998) 'Analysis of carotenoids with emphasis on 9-*cis* β– carotene in vegetables and fruits commonly consumed in Israel', *Food Chemistry*, 62, pp. 515- 520.
- Beneragama, K.C. and Goto, K. (2010) 'Chlorophyll a: b Ratio Increases Under Low-light in 'Shade-tolerant' Euglena gracilis', *Tropical Agricultural Research*, 22(1), pp. 12-15.
- Bennett, R.N., Mellon, F.A., Rosa, E.A.S., Perkins, L. and Kroon, P.A. (2004) 'Profiling glucosinolates, flavonoids, alkaloids, and other secondary metabolites in tissues of Azima tetracantha L. (Salvadoraceae)', *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 52(19), pp. 5856-5862.
- Berg, H.v.d., Faulks, R., Granado, H.F., Hirschberg, J., Olmedilla, B., Sandmann, G., Southon, S. and Stah, W. (2000) 'The potential for the improvement of carotenoid levels in foods and the likely systemic effects', *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 80, pp. 880-912.

- Berry, J. and Bjorkman, O. (1980) 'Photosynthetin Response and Adaption to Temperature in Higher-Plants.', Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology, 31, pp. 491-543.
- Bewley, J.D. (1997) 'Seed germination and dormancy', Plant Cell, 9(7), pp. 1055-1066.
- Block, G. (1992) 'The Data Support A Role for Antioxidants in Reducing Cancer Risk.', *Nutrition Reviews*, 50(7), pp. 207-213.
- Boo, H.O., Heo, B.G., Gorinstein, S. and Chon, S.U. (2011) 'Positive effects of temperature and growth conditions on enzymatic and antioxidant status in lettuce plants', *Plant Science*, 181(4), pp. 479-484.
- Brown, J.R., Christy, M. and Smith, G.S. (1993) 'Nitrate in Soils and Plants' University of Missouri, 16/5/2012. MU Extension Available at: <u>http://extension.missouri.edu/p/G9804</u>.
- Bryan, N.S. and Grinsven, H.-V. (eds.) (2013) *The Role of Nitrate in Human Health*. Sparks, DL.
- Bumgarner, N.R., Scheerens, J.C., Mullen, R.W., Bennett, M.A., Ling, P.P. and Kleinhenz, M.D. (2012) 'Root-zone temperature and nitrogen affect the yield and secondary metabolite concentration of fall- and spring-grown, high-density leaf lettuce', *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 92(1), pp. 116-124.
- Byrne, C., Maher, M.J., Hennerty, M.J., Mahon, M.J. and Walshe, P.A. (2004) Reducing the nitrate content of protected lettuce. Teagasc research report: teagasc, Kinsealy Research Centre, Malahaide Road, Dublin 17, Ireland. [Online]. Available at: http://www.teagasc.ie/research/reports/horticulture/4561/eopr-4561.pdf.
- Calvo, M.M. (2005) 'Lutein: A valuable ingredient of fruit and vegetables', *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 45(7-8), pp. 671-696.

- Cao, H.-X., Sun, C.-X., Shao, H.-B. and Lei, X.-T. (2011) 'Effects of low temperature and drought on the physiological and growth changes in oil palm seedlings', *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 10(14), pp. 2630-2637.
- Chalker-Scott, L. (1999) 'Environmental significance of anthocyanins in plant stress responses', *Photochemistry and Photobiology*, 70(1), pp. 1-9.
- Champigny, M.L. (1995) 'Integration of photosynthetic carbon and nitrogen metabolism in higher plants', *Photosynthesis Research*, 46(1-2), pp. 117-127.
- Chao, P.-Y.J. and Yang, C.-M. (1996) 'Effect of Heating Pattern on Pigment Degradation of Green Vegetable Leaf', *Taiwania*, 41, pp. 339-345.
- Chen, M., Schliep, M., Willows, R.D., Cai, Z.-L., Neilan, B.A. and Scheer, H. (2010) 'A Red-Shifted Chlorophyll', *Science*, 329(5997), pp. 1318-1319.
- Chinnusamy, V., Zhu, J. and Zhu, J.-K. (2007) 'Cold stress regulation of gene expression in plants', *Trends in Plant Science*, 12(10), pp. 444-451.
- Chormova, D. (2010) Effect of Nitrogen and Potassium Supply on Greenhouse Tomatoes in Relation to Plant Growth, Yield and Quality. Newcastle University.
- Christensen, L. and Brandt, K. (2006) 'Bioactive polyacetylenes in food plants of the Apiaceae family: occurrence, bioactivity and analysis', *Journal of pharmaceutical and biomedical analysis*, 41(3), pp. 683-693.
- Christensen, L. and Kreutzmann, S. (2007) 'Determination of polyacetylenes in carrot roots (Daucus carota L.) by high-performance liquid chromatography coupled with diode array detection', *Journal of Separation Science*, 30(4), pp. 483 – 490.
- Clifford, M.N. (2000) 'Chlorogenic acids and other cinnamates nature, occurrence, dietary burden, absorption and metabolism', *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 80(7), pp. 1033-1043.

- Commission Regulation (EC) No 1822/2005 of 8 November 2005 amending Regulation (EC)
 No 466/2001 as regards nitrate in certain vegetables . Official Journal of the European Communities.
- Craft, N.E. and Soares, J.H. (1992) 'Relative solubility, stability, and absorptivity of lutein and .beta.-carotene in organic solvents', *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 40(3), pp. 431-434.
- Cramer, G.R., Urano, K., Delrot, S., Pezzotti, M. and Shinozaki, K. (2011) 'Effects of abiotic stress on plants: a systems biology perspective', *BMC Plant Biology*, 11(163), pp. 1-14.
- Criddle, R.S., Smith, B.N. and Hansen, L.D. (1997) 'A respiration based description of plant growth rate responses to temperature', *Planta*, 201(4), pp. 441-445.
- Cruz, R., Baptista, P., Cunha, S., Pereira, J.A. and Casal, S. (2012) 'Carotenoids of Lettuce (Lactuca sativa L.) Grown on Soil Enriched with Spent Coffee Grounds', *Molecules*, 17(2), pp. 1535-1547.
- Czepa, A. and Hofmann, T. (2003) 'Structural and sensory characterization of compounds contributing to the bitter off-taste of carrots (Daucus carota 1.) and carrot puree', *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 51(13), pp. 3865-3873.
- Czepa, A. and Hofmann, T. (2004) 'Quantitative studies and sensory analyses on the influence of cultivar, spatial tissue distribution, and industrial processing on the bitter off-taste of carrots (Daucus carota L.) and carrot products', *Journal of Agricultural* and Food Chemistry, 52(14), pp. 4508-4514.
- Dall'Osto, L., Lico, C., Alric, J., Giuliano, G., Havaux, M. and Bassi, R. (2006) 'Lutein is needed for efficient chlorophyll triplet quenching in the major LHCII antenna complex of higher plants and effective photoprotection in vivo under strong light', *BMC Plant Biology*, 6, p. 32.

- Davidson, A. (2010) 'Measuring leaf perimeter and leaf area [Online]. Available at: http://prometheuswiki.publish.csiro.au/tikiindex.php?page=PROTOCOL%3A+Meas uring+leaf+perimeter+and+leaf+area.
- Demsar, J., Osvald, J. and Vodnik, D. (2004) 'The effect of light-dependent application of nitrate on the growth of aeroponically grown lettuce (Lactuca sativa L.)', *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science*, 129(4), pp. 570-575.
- Dich, J., Jarvinen, R., Knekt, P. and Penttila, P.L. (1996) 'Dietary intakes of nitrate, nitrite and NDMA in the Finnish Mobile Clinic Health Examination Survey', *Food Additives and Contaminants*, 13(5), pp. 541-552.
- Dixon, R.A. and Paiva, N.L. (1995) 'Stress-Induced Phenylpropanoid Metabolism', *Plant Cell*, 7(7), pp. 1085-1097.
- Doyle, M. and Hosfield, N. (2001) Health Survey for England 2001: Fruit and vegetable consumption. London UK: The Stationery Office (TSO). [Online]. Available at:http://www.archive2.officialdocuments.co.uk/document/deps/doh/survey01/skf/skf 03.htm (Accessed: 3/10/2012).
- Du, W.-X., Avena-Bustillos, R.J., Breksa, A.P. and McHugh, T.H. (2012) 'Effect of UV-B light and different cutting styles on antioxidant enhancement of commercial fresh-cut carrot products', *Food Chemistry*, 134(4), pp. 1862-1869.
- DuPont, M.S., Mondin, Z., Williamson, G. and Price, K.R. (2000) 'Effect of variety, processing, and storage on the flavonoid glycoside content and composition of lettuce and endive', *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 48(9), pp. 3957-3964.
- Dutta, D., Chaudhuri, U.R. and Chakraborty, R. (2005) 'Structure, health benefits, antioxidant property and processing and storage of carotenoids', *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 4(13), pp. 1510-1520.
- Ellnain-Wojtaszek, M., Kruczynski, Z. and Kasprzak, J. (2001) 'Analysis of the content of flavonoids, phenolic acids as well as free radicals from Ginkgo biloba L. leaves during the vegetative cycle', *Acta poloniae pharmaceutica*, 58(3), pp. 205-9.

- FAOSTAT (2009) 'Crop production database'. 25 Oct. 2010. Available at:<u>http://faostat.fao.org</u>.
- Fitter, A.H. and Hay, R.K.M. (2002) Environmental Physiology of Plants Academic Press.
- Fountain, D.W. and Bewley, J.D. (1976) 'Lettuce Seed Germination', *Plant Physiology* 58, pp. 530-536.
- Food Standards Agency. 1999 UK Monitoring Programme for Nitrate in Lettuce and Spinach. *Food Survey Information Sheet* **16/01**, 2001.
- Frota, J.N.E. and Tucker, T.C. (1972) 'Temperature influence on ammonium and nitrate absorption by lettuce', *Soil Science Society of America Proceedings*, 36(1), pp. 97.
- Gajewski, M., Weglarz, Z., Sereda, A., Bajer, M., Kuczkowska, A. and Majewski, M. (2010)
 'Carotenoid Accumulation by Carrot Storage Roots in Relation to Nitrogen Fertilization Level', *Notulae Botanicae Horti Agrobotanici Cluj-Napoca*, 38(1), pp. 71-75.
- Galindo, F.G., Sjöholm, I., Rasmusson, A.G., Widell, S. and Kaack, K. (2007) 'Plant Stress Physiology: Opportunities and Challenges for the Food Industry', *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition* 47(8), pp. 749-763.
- Gao, J.P., Chao, D.Y. and Lin, H.X. (2007) 'Understanding abiotic stress tolerance mechanisms: Recent studies on stress response in rice', *Journal of Integrative Plant Biology*, 49(6), pp. 742-750.
- Gaweda, M. (2007) 'Changes in the contents of some carbohydrates in vegetables cumulating lead', *Polish Journal of Environmental Studies*, 16(1), pp. 57-62.
- Gazula, A., Kleinhenz, M.D., Streeter, J.G. and Miller, A.R. (2005) 'Temperature and cultivar effects on anthocyanin and chlorophyll b concentrations in three related Lollo Rosso lettuce cultivars', *Hortscience*, 40(6), pp. 1731-1733.
- Gent, M.P.N. (2012) 'Composition of hydroponic lettuce: effect of time of day, plant size, and season', *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 92(3), pp. 542-550.

- Gliszczynska-Swiglo, A., Kaluzewicz, A., Lemanska, K., Knaflewski, M. and Tyrakowska, B. (2007) 'The effect of solar radiation on the flavonol content in broccoli inflorescence', *Food Chemistry*, 100(1), pp. 241-245.
- Gorenjak, A.H. and Cencic, A. (2013) 'Nitrate in Vegetables And Their Impact On Human Health. A Review', *Acta Alimentaria*, 42(2), pp. 158-172.
- Govindjee and Krogmann, D. (2004) 'Discoveries in oxygenic photosynthesis (1727-2003): a perspective', *Photosynthesis Research*, 80(1-3), pp. 15.
- Granado-Lorencio, F., Olmedilla-Alonso, B., Herrero-Barbudo, C., Perez-Sacristan, B., Blanco-Navarro, I. and Blazquez-Garcia, S. (2007) 'Comparative in vitro bioaccessibility of carotenoids from relevant contributors to carotenoid intake', *Journal* of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 55(15), pp. 6387-6394.
- Gray, G.R., Chauvin, L.-P., Sarhan, F. and Huner, N.P.A. (1997) 'Cold Acclimation and Freezing Tolerance', *Plant Physiology* 114, pp. 467-474.

Haferkamp, M.R. (1987) 'Environmental factors affecting plant productivity ', pp. 27-36.

- Hansen, Purup, S. and Christensen, L. (2003) 'Bioactivity of falcarinol and the influence of processing and storage on its content in carrots (Daucus carota L)', *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 83(10), pp. 1010-1017.
- Hansen, L. and Boll, P.M. (1986) 'The polyacetylenic falcarinol as the major allergen in schefflera arboricola', *Phytochemistry*, 25(2), pp. 529-530.
- Harborne, J.B. (ed.) (1998) Phytochemical Methods A Guide to modern techiques of plant analysis. 3 edn. London UK: Chapman & Hall
- Hark, L. and Deen, D. (2005) *Phytochemicals*. Available at: <u>http://nutrition.doctissimo.com/vitamins-minerals/what-are-phytochemicals/phytochemicals.html</u> (Accessed: 8/10/2012).

- Hayashi, E., You, Y., Lewis, R., Calderon, M.C., Wan, G. and Still, D.W. (2012) 'Mapping QTL, epistasis and genotype 3 environment interaction of antioxidant activity, chlorophyll content and head formation in domesticated lettuce (Lactuca sativa)', *Theor Appl Genet*, 124, pp. 1487–1502.
- He, F., Mu, L., Yan, G.L., Liang, N.N., Pan, Q.H., Wang, J., Reeves, M.J. and Duan, C.Q. (2010) 'Biosynthesis of Anthocyanins and Their Regulation in Colored Grapes', *Molecules*, 15(12), pp. 9057-9091.
- Hedges, L.J. and Lister, C.E. (2005) 'Nutritional attributes of salad vegetables' Crop & Food Research Confidential [Report]. New Zealand: New Zealand Institute for Crop & Food Research Limited, pp. 1-29.
- Hendry, G.A.F. and Houghton, J.D. (eds.) (1996) *Natural foods colorants*. Second sdition edn. Glasgow, UK: Blackie Academic and Professional
- Hill, M.J. (1991) Nitrates and Nitrites in Food and Water England: Ellis Horwood.
- Hirt, H. and Shinozaki, K. (eds.) (2003) *Plant Responses to Abiotic Stress*. New York: Springer-Verlag Berlin and Heidelberg GmbH & Co. K.
- Hodges, D.M. and Tolvonen, P.M.A. (2008) 'Quality of fresh-cut fruits and vegetables as affected by exposure to abiotic stress', *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 48(2), pp. 155-162.
- Ikeda, K., Tsujimoto, K., Uozaki, M., Nishide, M., Suzuki, Y., Koyama, A.H. and Yamasaki, H. (2011) 'Inhibition of multiplication of herpes simplex virus by caffeic acid', *International Journal of Molecular Medicine*, 28(4), pp. 595-598.
- Ioslovich, I. and Seginer, I. (2002) 'SE—Structures and Environment: Acceptable Nitrate Concentration of Greenhouse Lettuce: Two Optimal Control Policies', *Biosystems Engineering*, 83(2), pp. 199–215.

- Jacobo-Velazquez, D.A. and Cisneros-Zevallos, L. (2009) 'Correlations of Antioxidant Activity against Phenolic Content Revisited: A New Approach in Data Analysis for Food and Medicinal Plants', *Journal of Food Science*, 74(9), pp. R107-R113.
- Jan, N., Mahboob ul, H. and Andrabi, K.I. (2009) 'Cold resistance in plants: A mystery unresolved', *Electronic Journal of Biotechnology*, 12(3).
- Jiao, J., Gilmour, M., Tsujita, M.J. and Grodzinski, B. (1989) 'Photosynthesis and Carbon Partitioning in Samantha roses', *Canadian Journal of Plant Science*, 69(2), pp. 577-584.
- Johnson, E.J. (2002) 'The Role of Carotenoids in Human Health', *Nutrition in Clinical Care*, 5(2), pp. 56-65.
- Jones, H.G., Flowers, T.J. and Jones, M.B. (eds.) (1989) *Plants Under Stress*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Joy, L. and Roger, P. (2003) The organic salad garden Frances Lincoln Ltd.
- Katsuragi, H., Shimoda, K., Kubota, N., Nakajima, N. and Hamada, H. (2010) 'Biotransformation of Cinnamic Acid, p-Coumaric Acid, Caffeic Acid, and Ferulic Acid by Plant Cell Cultures of Eucalyptus perriniana', *Bioscience Biotechnology and Biochemistry*, 74(9), pp. 1920-1924.
- Kayser, H. (2012) 'Xanthophylls are key constituents of semi-synthetic diets for continuous breeding of Pieris brassicae without food plant', *Journal of Applied Entomology*, 136(6), pp. 464-472.
- Khayat, E., Zieslin, N., Mortensen, L. and Moe, R. (1988) 'Effect of Alternating Temperature on Dark Respiration and 14C Export in Rose Plants', *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 133(2), pp. 199-202.
- Khoo, H.-E., Prasad, K.N., Kong, K.-W., Jiang, Y. and Ismail, A. (2011) 'Carotenoids and Their Isomers: Color Pigments in Fruits and Vegetables', *Molecules*, 16, pp. 1710-1738.

- Kidmose, U., Hansen, S.L., Christensen, L.P., Edelenbos, M., Larsen, E. and Norbaek, R. (2004) 'Effects of genotype, root size, storage, and processing on bioactive compounds in organically grown carrots (Daucus carota L.)', *Journal of Food Science*, 69(9), pp. S388-S394.
- Kijlstra, A., Tian, Y., Kelly, E.R. and Berendschot, T.T.J.M. (2012) 'Lutein: More than just a filter for blue light', *Progress in retinal and eye research*, 31(4), pp. 303-15.
- Kim, J. and DellaPenna, D. (2006) 'Defining the primary route for lutein synthesis in plants: The role of Arabidopsis carotenoid β-ring hydroxylase CYP97A3 ', *Proceedings of the National Academy of the United States of America* 103, pp. 3474-3479.
- Kimball, M.H., Sims, W.I. and Welch, J.E. (1967) 'Plantclimate analysis for lettuce', *California Agriculture* 21, pp. 2-4.
- Kjeldsen, F., Christensen, L.P. and Edelenbos, M. (2003) 'Changes in Volatile Compounds of Carrots (Daucus carota L.) During Refrigerated and Frozen Storage', *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 51, pp. 5400- 5407.
- Kjellenberg, L., Johansson, E., Gustavsson, K.-E. and Olsson, M.E. (2010) 'Effects of Harvesting Date and Storage on the Amounts of Polyacetylenes in Carrots, Daucus carota', *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 58(22), pp. 11703-11708.
- Kjellenberg, L., Johansson, E., Gustavsson, K.-E. and Olsson, M.E. (2012) 'Polyacetylenes in fresh and stored carrots (Daucus carota): relations to root morphology and sugar content', *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 92(8), pp. 1748-1754.
- Knockaert, G., Pulissery, S.K., Lemmens, L., Van Buggenhout, S., Hendrickx, M. and Van Loey, A. (2012) 'Carrot beta-Carotene Degradation and Isomerization Kinetics during Thermal Processing in the Presence of Oil', *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 60(41), pp. 10312-10319.

- Kobæk-Larsen, M., Christensen, L.P., Vach, W., Hoitinga, J.R.-. and Brandt, K. (2005) 'Inhibitory Effects of Feeding with Carrots or (-)-Falcarinol on Development of Azoxymethane-Induced Preneoplastic Lesions in the Rat Colon', *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 53, pp. 1823-1827.
- Koike, S.T., Gladders, P. and Paulus, A.O. (2006) 'Vegetable Diseases : A Color Handbook'. Gulf Professional Publishing, p. 296.
- Koontz, H.V. and Prince, R.P. (1986) 'Effect of 16 and 24 Hours Daily Radiation (Light) on Lettuce Growth.', *Hortscience*, 21(1), pp. 123-124.
- Kopsell, D.A. (2010) 'Improving Carotenoid Phytochemical Concentration in Vegetable Crops,[Online]. Available at: <u>http://www.newenglandvfc.org/pdf_proceedings/2009/ICPCVC.pdf</u>.
- Kopsell, D.A. and Kopsell, D.E. (2006) 'Accumulation and bioavailability of dietary carotenoids in vegetable crops', *Trends in Plant Science*, 11(10), pp. 499-507.
- Kozarewa, I., Cantliffe, D.J., Nagata, R.T. and Stoffell, P.J. (2006) 'High Maturation Temperature of Lettuce Seeds during Development Increased Ethylene Production and Germination at Elevated Temperatures', *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science*, 131(4), pp. 564- 570.
- Kreutzmann, S., Christensen, L.P. and Edelenbos, M. (2008) 'Investigation of bitterness in carrots (Daucus carota L.) based on quantitative chemical and sensory analyses', *Lwt-Food Science and Technology*, 41(2), pp. 193-205.
- Krinsky, N.I. and Johnson, E.J. (2005) 'Carotenoid actions and their relation to health and disease', *Molecular Aspects of Medicine*, 26(6), pp. 459-516.

Lambers, H., Chapin, F.S. and Pons, T.L. (2008) Plant Physiological Ecology. Springer.

Larsen, E. and Christensen, L.P. (2005) 'Simple saponification method for the quantitative determination of carotenoids in green vegetables', *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 53(17), pp. 6598-6602.

- Lastra, O., Luisa Tapia, M., Razeto, B. and Rojas, M. (2009) 'Response of Hydroponic Lettuce Cultivars to Different Treatments of Nitrogen: Grpwth and Foliar Nitrate Content', *Idesia*, 27(1), pp. 83-89.
- Levitt, J. (1972) Responses of plants to evironemental stresses. New York: Academic Press.
- Leyva, A., Jarillo, J.A., Salinas, J. and Martinez-Zapater, J.M. (1995) 'Low Temperature Induces the Accumulation of Phenylalanine Ammonia-Lyase and Chalcone Synthase mRNAs of Arabidopsis thaliana in a Light Dependent Manner', *Plant Physiology* 108, pp. 39-46.
- Li, Y., Scales, N., Blankenship, R.E., Willows, R.D. and Chen, M. (2012) 'Extinction coefficient for red-shifted chlorophylls: Chlorophyll d and chlorophyll f', *Biochimica et biophysica acta*, 1817(8), pp. 1292-8.
- Liang, C., Weihua, J., Lei, J., Ting, C. and Xiaoming, X. (2013) 'A comparative analysis of leaf anatomical and photosynthetic characteristics of Phragmites australis from two different habitations', *Life Science Journal*, 10(1), pp. 1022-1029.
- Lillo, C. (2004) 'Light Regulation of Nitrate uptake, Assimilation and Metabolism', in Amâncio, S. and Stulen, I. (eds.) Nitrogen Acquisition and Assimilation in Higher Plants. Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publishers., pp. 149–184.
- Lin, Y.H. and Yan, Y.J. (2012) 'Biosynthesis of caffeic acid in Escherichia coli using its endogenous hydroxylase complex', *Microbial Cell Factories*, 11.
- Liu, X.-G., Hong, X., Jing-Ya, Z., Guang-Wang, L., Ying-Tuan, L. and Ai-Guang, G. (2012)
 'Effect of low temperature on chlorophyll biosynthesis in albinism line of wheat (Triticum aestivum) FA85', *Physiologia plantarum*, 145(3), pp. 384-94.
- Liu, X., Ardo, S., Bunning, M., Parry, J., Zhou, K., Stushnoff, C., Stoniker, F., Yu, L. and Kendall, P. (2007) 'Total phenolic content and DPPHd radical scavenging activity of lettuce (Lactuca sativa L.) grown in Colorado', *LWT-Food Science and Technology*, 40(3), pp. 552-557.

- Llorach, R., Martinez-Sanchez, A., Tomas-Barberan, F.A., Gil, M.I. and Ferreres, F. (2008) 'Characterisation of polyphenols and antioxidant properties of five lettuce varieties and escarole', *Food Chemistry*, 108(3), pp. 1028-1038.
- Lopes, S.J., Neto, D.D., Manfron, P.A. and Jasniewicz, L.R. (2004) 'Models to estimate phytomass accumulation of hydroponic lettuce', *Scientia Agricola*, 61(4), pp. 392-400.
- Lucier, G. and Jerardo, A. (2005) 'Vegetables and Melons Outlook yearbook', *Electronic Outlook Report from the Economic Research Service USDA*, (VGS-312, pp. 1-45 [Online]. Available at: <u>http://www.ers.usda.gov/media/317042/vgs312.pdf</u>.
- Lucier, G. and Lin, B.-H. (2007) 'Factors Affecting Carrot Consumption in the United States', Outlook Report from the Economic Research Service, VGS-31901, pp. 1-21 [Online]. Available at: <u>http://www.ers.usda.gov/publications/vgs-vegetables-and-pulses-outlook/vgs-31901.aspx</u>.
- Lundberg, J.O., Weitzberg, E., Lundberg, J.M. and Alving, K. (1994) 'Intragastric nitric oxide production in humans: measurements in expelled air', *Gut*, (35), pp. 1543-1546.
- Lv, J., Yu, L., Lu, Y., Niu, Y., Liu, L., Costa, J. and Yu, L.L. (2012) 'Phytochemical compositions, and antioxidant properties, and antiproliferative activities of wheat flour', *Food Chemistry*, 135(2), pp. 325-31.
- Lyons, J.M. (1973) 'Chilling injury in plants , *Annual Review of Plant Physiology*, 24, pp. 445-466.
- Maci, S. (2011) 'Increasing Lutein Consumption Are all Luteins Alike?', *European Ophthalmic Review*, 5(2), pp. 127-129.
- Macko, A. and Grzebelus, D. (2008) 'DcMaster transposon display markers as a tool for diversity evaluation of carrot breeding materials and for hybrid seed purity testing', *Journal of Applied Genetics*, 49(1), pp. 33-39.

- Manach, C., Scalbert, A., Morand, C., Remesy, C. and Jimenez, L. (2004) 'Polyphenols: food sources and bioavailability', *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 79(5), pp. 727-747.
- Manning, W.M. and Strain, H.H. (1943) 'Chlorophyll d, a green pigment of red algae', Journal of Biological Chemistry, 151, pp. 1-19.
- Marinova, D. and Ribarova, F. (2007) 'HPLC determination of carotenoids in Bulgarian berries', *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 20(5), pp. 370-374.
- Marques, V. and Farah, A. (2009) 'Chlorogenic acids and related compounds in medicinal plants and infusions', *Food Chemistry*, 113(4), pp. 1370-1376.
- Martin, E.C., Slack, D.C. and Pegelow, E.J. (2009) 'Water Use in Vegetables— CARROTS', *Arizona Cooperative Extension*, pp. 1-2.
- Matsunaga, H., Katano, M., Yamamoto, H., Fujito, H., Mori, M. and Takata, K. (1990) 'Cytotoxic Activity of Polyacetylene Compounds in Planx-Ginseng Meyer,C.A', *Chemical & Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, 38(12), pp. 3480-3482.
- Mattila, P. and Hellstrom, J. (2007) 'Phenolic acids in potatoes, vegetables, and some of their products', *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 20(3-4), pp. 152-160.
- McCann, S.E., Ambrosone, C.B., Moysich, K.B., Brasure, J., Marshall, J.R., Freudenheim, J.L., Wilkinson, G.S. and Graham, S. (2005) 'Intakes of selected nutrients, foods, and phytochemicals and prostate cancer risk in western New York', *Nutrition and Cancer-an International Journal*, 53(1), pp. 33-41.
- McCashin, G.B. (2000) Association for Biology Laboratory Education (ABLE). University of Alberta, Canada. Available at: http://www.zoo.utoronto.ca/able/volumes/copyright.htm.

- Mendoza, L., Matsuhiro, B., Aguirre, M.J., Isaacs, M., Sotes, G., Cotoras, M. and Melo, R. (2011) 'Characterization of Phenolic Acids Profile From Chilean Red Wines by High-Performance Liquid Chromatography', *Journal of the Chilean Chemical Society*, 56(2), pp. 688-691.
- Mercier, J., Ponnampalam, R., Berard, L.S. and Arul, J. (1993) 'Polyacetylene Content and UV-Induced 6-Methoxymellein Accumulation in Carrot Cultivars', *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 63(3), pp. 313-317.
- Migge, A. and Becker, T.W. (1996) 'In tobacco leaves, the genes encoding the nitratereducting or the ammonium-assimilating enzymes are regulated differently by external nitrogen-sources', *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*, 34(5), pp. 665-671.
- Miranda, K.M., Espey, M.G. and Wink, D.A. (2001) 'A Rapid, Simple Spectrophotometric Method for Simultaneous Detection of Nitrate and Nitrite', *Biology and Chemistry.*, 5(1), pp. 62–71.
- Moretti, C.L., Mattos, L.M., Calbo, A.G. and Sargent, S.A. (2010) 'Climate changes and potential impacts on postharvest quality of fruit and vegetable crops: A review', *Food Research International*, 43(7), pp. 1824-1832.
- Morison, J.I.L. and Lawlor, D.W. (1999) 'Interactions between increasing CO(2) concentration and temperature on plant growth', *Plant Cell and Environment*, 22(6), pp. 659-682.
- Mou, B.Q. (2005) 'Genetic variation of beta-carotene and lutein contents in lettuce', *Journal* of the American Society for Horticultural Science, 130(6), pp. 870-876.
- Mpofu, A., Sapirstein, H.D. and Beta, T. (2006) 'Genotype and environmental variation in phenolic content, phenolic acid composition, and antioxidant activity of hard spring wheat', *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 54(4), pp. 1265-1270.
- Mueller, H. (1997) 'Determination of the carotenoid content in selected vegetables and fruit by HPLC and photodiode array detection', *Zeitschrift fuer Lebensmittel-Untersuchung und -Forschung A*, 202(2), pp. 88-94.

Munro, D.B. and Small, E. (1997) Vegetables of Canada. NRC Research Press.

- Nascimento, W.M., Vieira, J.V., Silva, G.O., Reitsma, K.R. and Cantliffe, D.J. (2008) 'Carrot Seed Germination at High Temperature: Effect of Genotype and Association with Ethylene Production', *HORTScience*, 43(5), pp. 1538–1543.
- Nicolle, C., Simon, G., Rock, E. and Amouroux, P. (2004) 'Genetic variability influences carotenoid, vitamin, phenolic, and mineral content in white, yellow, purple, orange, and dark-orange carrot cultivars', *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science*, 129(4), pp. 523-529.
- Nobel, P.S. (ed.) (2009) *Physicochemical and Environmental Plant Physiology*. Fourth edition edn. Elsevier Science Publishing Co Inc Academic Press Inc.
- O'Neill, M.E., Carroll, Y., Corridan, B., Olmedilla, B., Granado, F., Blanco, I., Berg, H.V.d., Hininger, I., Rousell, A.-M., Chopra, M., Southon, S. and Thurnham, D.I. (2001) 'A European carotenoid database to assess carotenoid intakes and its use in a fivecountry comparative study', *British Journal of Nutrition*, 85, pp. 499- 507.
- O'Sullivan, L., Galvin, K., Aherne, S.A. and O'Brien, N.M. (2010) 'Effects of cooking on the profile and micellarization of 9-cis-, 13-cis -and all-trans-β-carotene in green vegetables', *Food Research International*, 43, pp. 1130–1135.
- Oh, M.M., Trick, H.N. and Rajashekara, C.B. (2009) 'Secondary metabolism and antioxidants are involved in environmental adaptation and stress tolerance in lettuce', *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 166(2), pp. 180-191.
- Paiva, S.A.R. and Russell, R.M. (1999) 'β-Carotene and Other Carotenoids as Antioxidants', *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*, 18(5), pp. 426-433.
- Pandey, K.B. and Rizvi, S.I. (2009) 'Current Understanding of Dietary Polyphenols and their Role in Health and Disease', *Current Nutrition & Food Science*, 5, pp. 249-263.

- Park, J.B. (2009) '5-caffeoylquinic acid and caffeic acid orally administered suppress Pselectin expression on mouse platelets', *Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, 20(10), pp. 800-805.
- Pereira, R.S., Nascimento, W.M. and Vieira, J.V. (2007) 'Germinação e vigor de sementes de cenoura sob condições de altas temperaturas', *Horticultura Brasileira*, 25, pp. 215-219.
- Pietrini, F., Iannelli, M.A. and Massacci, A. (2002) 'Anthocyanin accumulation in the illuminated surface of maize leaves enhances protection from photo-inhibitory risks at low temperature, without further limitation to photosynthesis', *Plant Cell and Environment*, 25(10), pp. 1251-1259.
- Pinheiro-Sant'Ana, H.M., Stringheta, P.C., BrandÃO, S.C.C., PÁEz, H.H. and QueirÓZ, V.M.V.d. (1998) 'Evaluation of total carotenoids, a- and b-carotene in carrots (Daucus carota L.) during home processing', *Ciência e Tecnologia de Alimentos*, 18, pp. 39-44.
- Pinheiro, C. and Chaves, M.M. (2011) 'Photosynthesis and drought: can we make metabolic connections from available data?', *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 62, pp. 869–882.
- Pocock, T., Król, M. and Huner, N.P.A. (2004) 'The Determination and Quantification of Photosynthetic Pigments by Reverse Phase High-Performance Liquid Chromatography, Thin-Layer Chromatography, and Spectrophotometry', *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 274, pp. 137-148.
- Poudyal, H., Panchal, S. and Brown, L. (2010) 'Comparison of purple carrot juice and βcarotene in a high-carbohydrate, high-fat diet-fed rat model of the metabolic syndrome', *British Journal of Nutrition*, 104(09), pp. 1322 -1332.
- Qin, L., He, J., Lee, S.K. and Dodd, I.C. (2007) 'An assessment of the role of ethylene in mediating lettuce (Lactuca sativa) root growth at high temperatures', *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 58(11), pp. 3017-3024.

- Rajendra, N., Karthikeyan, A., Karthikeyan, S. and Reddy, B.V. (2011) 'Inhibitory effect of caffeic acid on cancer cell proliferation by oxidative mechanism in human HT-1080 fibrosarcoma cell line', *Molecular and cellular biochemistry*, 349(1-2), pp. 11-9.
- Raju, M., Varakumar, S., Lakshminarayana, R., Krishnakantha, T.P. and Baskaran, V. (2007) 'Carotenoid composition and vitamin A activity of medicinally important green leafy vegetables', *Food Chemistry*, 101, pp. 1598-1605.
- Rao, K.V.M., Raghavendra, A.S. and Reddy, K.J. (eds.) (2006) Physiology and Molecular Biology of Stress Tolerance in Plants. Dordrecht, Netherlands.
- Rashed, A. (2009) Variation of bioactive constituents, sensory qualities and yield in carrots grown with different types of crop management. University of Newcastle upon Tyne.
- Rawson, A., Brunton, N. and Tuohy, M. (2012) 'High pressure-temperature degradation kinetics of polyacetylenes in carrots', *Food Chemistry*, 133(1), pp. 15-20.
- Reddy, K.R. and Hodges, H.F. (eds.) (2000) *Climate Change and Global Crop Productivity*. USA: CABI Publishing.
- Resch, M., Heilmann, J., Steigel, A. and Bauer, R. (2001) 'Further phenols and polyacetylenes from the rhizomes of Atractylodes lancea and their anti-inflammatory activity', *Planta Medica*, 67(5), pp. 437-442.
- RiceEvans, C.A., Miller, N.J. and Paganga, G. (1996) 'Structure-antioxidant activity relationships of flavonoids and phenolic acids', *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 20(7), pp. 933-956.
- Rickman, J.C., Bruhn, C.M. and Barrett, D.M. (2007) 'Nutritional comparison of fresh, frozen, and canned fruits and vegetables II. Vitamin A and carotenoids, vitamin E, minerals and fiber', *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 87, pp. 1185– 1196.

- Rodic, Z., Simonovska, B., Albreht, A. and Vovk, I. (2012) 'Determination of lutein by highperformance thin-layer chromatography using densitometry and screening of major dietary carotenoids in food supplements', *Journal of Chromatography A*, 1231, pp. 59-65.
- Rodriguez-Amaya, D.B. (2001) A Guide to Carotenoid Analysis in Foods. OMNI Research (ILSI PRESS).
- Rodriguez-Amaya, D.B. and Kimura, M. (2004) 'HarvestPlus Handbook for Carotenoid Analysis', HarvestPlus Technical Monograph 2. Washington, DC and Cali. International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI) and International Center for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT). pp. 2-8.
- Rojdestvenski, I., Cottam, M., Park, Y.-I. and Öquist, G. (1999) 'Robustness and time-scale hierarchy in biological systems', *Biosystems*, 50(1), pp. 71-82.
- Rolland, F., Baena-Gonzalez, E. and Sheen, J. (2006) 'Sugar Sensing and Signaling in Plants: Conserved and Novel Mechanisms', *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 57, pp. 675-709.
- Romani, A., Pinelli, P., Galardi, C., Sani, G., Cimato, A. and Heimler, D. (2002) 'Polyphenols in greenhouse and open-air-grown lettuce', *Food Chemistry*, 79(3), pp. 337-342.
- Rosa, M., Prado, C., Podazza, G., Interdonato, R., Gonzalez, J.A., Hilal, M. and Prado, F.E. (2009) 'Soluble sugars--metabolism, sensing and abiotic stress: a complex network in the life of plants', *Plant signaling & behavior*, 4(5), pp. 388-93.
- Rosa, R.M., Ruiz, J.M., García, P.C., López-Lefebre, L.R., Sánchez, E. and Romero, L. (2001) 'Resistance to cold and heat stress: accumulation of phenolic compounds in tomato and watermelon plants', *Plant Science*, 160(2), pp. 315-321.

- Rousta, M.J., Lotfi, E., Shamsalam, N., Mousavi, F., Heshmati, L.S. and GhasemyfardF, S. (2010) 'Nitrate Situation in Some Vegetables and the Necessity of Crop Production via Organic Farming', 19th World Congress of Soil Science, Soil Solutions for a Changing World, pp. 19-21.
- Ruiz, J.M., Castilla, N. and Romero, L. (2000) 'Nitrogen metabolism in pepper plants applied with different bioregulators', *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 48(7), pp. 2925-2929.
- Samuoliene, G. and Duchovskis, P. (2006) 'Variation of ABA and carotenoids during flowering initiation in carrots', *Acta Biologica Szegediensis*, 50, pp. 121-125.
- Sanders, T. (2007) A dose response study of the effects of increased fruit and vegetable intake on vascular function (N02030). UK, London: Agency, F.S. [Online]. Available at: <u>http://www.foodbase.org.uk/results.php?f_report_id=74</u> <u>http://www.foodbase.org.uk//admintools/reportdocuments/74_116_N02030_-</u> <u>Final_report.pdf</u>.
- Sanghera, G.S., Wani, S.H., Hussain, W. and Singh, N.B. (2011) 'Engineering Cold Stress Tolerance in Crop Plants', *Current Genomics*, 12(1), pp. 30-43.
- Santamaria, P. (2006) 'Nitrate in vegetables: toxicity, content, intake and EC regulation', *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 86, pp. 10-17.
- Scheer, H. (2006) 'An overview of chlorophylls and bacteriochlorophylls: Biochemistry, biophysics, functions and applications.', in Grimm, B., Porra, R.J., Rüdiger, W. and Scheer, H. (eds.) Chlorophylls and Bacteriochlorophylls: Biochemistry, Biophysics, Functions and Applications. Advances in Photosynthesis and Respiration. Springer. Available at: <Go to ISI>://BCI:BCI200700247046.
- Schwarz, D., Rouphael, Y., Colla, G. and Venema, J.H. (2010) 'Grafting as a tool to improve tolerance of vegetables to abiotic stresses: Thermal stress, water stress and organic pollutants', *Scientia Horticulturae*, 127(2), pp. 162-171.

- Seemann, Berry, A. and Downton, W. (1984) 'Photosynthetic Response and Adaptation to High-Temperature in Desert Plants- A Comparison of Gas- Exchange and Fluorescence Methods for Studies of Thermal Tolerance.', *Plant Physiology*, 75(2), pp. 364-368.
- Seljasen, R., Lea, P., Torp, T., Riley, H., Berentsen, E., Thomsen, M. and Bengtsson, G.B. (2012) 'Effects of genotype, soil type, year and fertilisation on sensory and morphological attributes of carrots (Daucus carota L.)', *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 92(8), pp. 1786-1799.
- Shahrzad, S. and Bitsch, I. (1996) 'Determination of some pharmacologically active phenolic acids in juices by high-performance liquid chromatography', *Journal of Chromatography A*, 741, pp. 223-231.
- Shaked-Sachray, L., Weiss, D., Reuveni, M., Nissim-Levi, A. and Oren-Shamir, M. (2002) 'Increased anthocyanin accumulation in aster flowers at elevated temperatures due to magnesium treatment', *Physiologia Plantarum*, 114(4), pp. 559-565.
- Simoes, A.D.N., Allende, A., Tudela, J.A., Puschmann, R. and Gil, M.I. (2011) 'Optimum controlled atmospheres minimise respiration rate and quality losses while increase phenolic compounds of baby carrots', *Lwt-Food Science and Technology*, 44(1), pp. 277-283.
- Simon, P.W. and Wolff, X.Y. (1987) 'Carotenes in Typical and Dark Orange Carrots', *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 35(6), pp. 1017-1022.
- Singh, D.P., Beloy, J., McInerney, J.K. and Day, L. (2012) 'Impact of boron, calcium and genetic factors on vitamin C, carotenoids, phenolic acids, anthocyanins and antioxidant capacity of carrots (Daucus carota)', *Food Chemistry*, 132(3), pp. 1161-1170.
- Sivasankar, S. and Oaks, A. (1996) 'Nitrate assimilation in higher plants: The effect of metabolites and light', *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*, 34(5), pp. 609-620.

- Souza, G.M. and Cardoso, V.J.M. (2003) 'Toward a hierarchical concept of plant stress', *Israel Journal of Plant Sciences* 51, pp. 29 - 37.
- Spencer, J.P.E., Mohsen, M.M.A.E., Minihane, A.-M. and Mathers, J.C. (2008) 'Biomarkers of the intake of dietary polyphenols: strengths, limitations and application in nutrition research', *British Journal of Nutrition*, 99, pp. 12-22.
- Straten, G.v., Henten, E.J.v., Willigenburg, L.G.v. and Ooteghem, R.J.C.v. (2010) *Optimal Control of Greenhouse Cultivation*. CRC press.
- Stringer, M. and Dennis, C. (eds.) (2000) *Chilled Foods: A Comprehensive Guide*. Second edition edn. Cambridge, England: Woodhead Publishing Limited.
- Sung, Y., Cantliffe, D.J. and Nagata, R.T. (1998) 'Seed developmental temperature regulation of thermotolerance in lettuce ', *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science*, 123(4), pp. 700- 705.
- Svanberg, S.J.M., Nyman, E., Andersson, R. and Nilsson, T. (1997) 'Effects of boiling and storage on dietary fibre and digestible carbohydrates in various cultivars of carrots', *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 73(2), pp. 245-254.
- Tackenberg, O. (2007) 'A new method for non-destructive measurement of biomass, growth rates, vertical biomass distribution and dry matter content based on digital image analysis', *Annals of Botany*, 99(4), pp. 777-783.
- Tamiaki, H., Shibata, R. and Mizoguchi, T. (2007) 'The 17-propionate function of (bacterio)chlorophylls: Biological implication of their long esterifying chains in photosynthetic systems', *Photochemistry and Photobiology*, 83(1), pp. 152-162.
- Taub, D.R., Seemann, J.R. and Coleman, J.S. (2000) 'Growth in elevated CO2 protects photosynthesis against high-temperature damage', *Plant Cell and Environment*, 23(6), pp. 649-656.

- Thorup-Kristensen, K. (2006) 'Root growth and nitrogen uptake of carrot, early cabbage, onion and lettuce following a range of green manures', *Soil Use and Management*, 22(1), pp. 29-38.
- Tiwari, U. and Cummins, E. (2011) 'Factors influencing levels of phytochemicals in selected fruit and vegetables during pre- and post-harvest food processing operations', *Food Research International*, (0).
- Toivonen, P.M.A. and Hodges, D.M. (2011) Abiotic Stress in Plants Mechanisms and Adaptations. InTech.
- Tripathy, B.C. and Pattanayak, G.K. (2012) 'Chlorophyll Biosynthesis in Higher Plants', in EatonRye, J.J., Tripathy, B.C. and Sharkey, T.D. (eds.) *Photosynthesis: Plastid Biology, Energy Conversion and Carbon Assimilation*. Dordrecht: Springer, pp. 63-94.
- Tsuchiya, T., Mizoguchi, T., Akimoto, S., Tomo, T., Tamiaki, H. and Mimuro, M. (2012)
 'Metabolic Engineering of the Chl d-Dominated Cyanobacterium Acaryochloris marina: Production of a Novel Chl Species by the Introduction of the Chlorophyllide a Oxygenase Gene', *Plant and Cell Physiology*, 53(3), pp. 518-527.
- Vítolo, H.F., Souza, G.M. and Silveira, J.A.G. (2012) 'Cross-scale multivariate analysis of physiological responses to high temperature in two tropical crops with C3 and C4 metabolism', *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 80(0), pp. 54-62.
- Wahid, A., Gelani, S., Ashraf, M. and Foolad, M.R. (2007) 'Heat tolerance in plants: An overview', *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 61(3), pp. 199-223.
- Wang, Yao, X.S., Ishii, R. and Kitanaka, S. (2001) 'Antiallergic agents from natural sources.
 3. Structures and inhibitory effects on nitric oxide production and histamine release of five novel polyacetylene glucosides from Bidens parviflora WILLD', *Chemical & Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, 49(8), pp. 938-942.
- Wang and Zheng, W. (2001) 'Effect of plant growth temperature on antioxidant capacity in strawberry', *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 49(10), pp. 4977-4982.

- Weitzberg, E. and Lundberg, J.O. (2013) 'Novel aspects of dietary nitrate and human health', *Annual review of nutrition* 33, pp. 129-59.
- Wellburn, A.R. (1994) 'the spectral determination of chlorophylls a and b , as well as total carotenoids, using various solvents with spectrophotometers of different resolution', *Plant Physiol*, 144, pp. 307-313.
- Went, F.W. (1953) 'The Effect of Temperature on Plant Growth', *Annual Review of Plant Physiology*, 4, pp. 347-362.
- Woodward, R.B. (1961) 'The Total Synthesis of Chlorophyll, *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 82(3800), pp. 383-404.
- Wright, P. (2005) 'Carrots, the UK and European experience', in Nichols, M.A. (ed.) Proceedings of the First International Symposium on Root and Tuber Crops: Food Down Under. Leuven 1: International Society Horticultural Science, pp. 27-29.
- Wurr, D.C.E., Fellows, J.R. and Phelps, K. (1996) 'Investigating trends in vegetable crop response to increasing temperature associated with climate change', *Scientia Horticulturae*, 66(3-4), pp. 255-263.
- World Health Organization. (2003). Diet, nutrition and the prevention of chronic diseases. Introduction. In Diet, Nutrition and the Prevention of Chronic Diseases, 916, pp. 1– 149.
- Xu, J. and Huang, P.M. (eds.) (2011) Molecular Environmental Soil Science at the Interfaces in the Earth's Critical Zone. Springer.
- Yadav, S.K. (2010) 'Cold stress tolerance mechanisms in plants. A review', *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, 30(3), pp. 515-527.
- You, Q., Wang, B., Chen, F., Huang, Z., Wang, X. and Luo, P.G. (2011) 'Comparison of anthocyanins and phenolics in organically and conventionally grown blueberries in selected cultivars', *Food Chemistry*, 125(1), pp. 201-208.

- Zhang, W., Seki, M. and Furusaki, S. (1997) 'Effect of temperature and its shift on growth and anthocyanin production in suspension cultures of strawberry cells', *Plant Science*, 127(2), pp. 207-214.
- Zhou, W., Liu, W. and Yang, Q. (2013) 'Reducing Nitrate Content in Lettuce by Pre-Harvest Continuos Light Delivered by Red and Blue Light-Emitting Diodes.', *Journal of Plant Nutrition*, 36(3), pp. 481-490.
- Zidorn, C., Johrer, K., Ganzera, M., Schubert, B., Sigmund, E.M., Mader, J., Greil, R., Ellmerer, E.P. and Stuppner, H. (2005) 'Polyacetylenes from the Apiaceae vegetables carrot, celery, fennel, parsley, and parsnip and their cytotoxic activities', *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 53(7), pp. 2518-2523.

CHAPTER 7 . APPENDIX

7.1 Materials and methods

7.1.1 Experimental overview



Figure 7.1 Growth chamber model Sanyo (MLR-351) and plant trays (replication).



Figure.7.2 Processing of carrot and lettuce variety samples at harvest time: sample collection, storage conditions and milled samples.

7.1.2 Growth parameters

7.1.2.1 Leaf area analysis

The analysis was done as following: each image file was opened in image J program Figure 7.3.



Figure.7.3 Show the steps of measurement of lettuce leaf area

The image menu was opened and the "type" selected. Then "8-bit" was selected, then again from image menu the "adjust" tools were selected, then "threshold". The sliding bars were adjusted until the whole leaf area was all red and the background was white. Then a black and white image appeared. The scale on image were set from toolbar, the straight-line tool was selected then a line drawn across the area of known dimensions (which is = 3 cm). For each plant whole leaves were analysed at one time, by selection of the box or polygon tool from the toolbar and drawing a box or outline around the whole leaf, a single click placed a new line in the shape and double click to close the shape. Also a specific leaf can be measured by selection of required leaf. From the analyse menu "set measurements", were selected and the area box was ticked. Analyse menu again opened "analyse particles" were selected, then a dialogue box were opened, the minimum size of an object where it say "size (cm^2) were selected and clicking OK, then a new box page were appearing with the results.

7.1.3 Phytochemicals analysis

7.1.3.1 Nitrate measurement



Figure 7.4 Flow chart of the nitrate analytical procedure

7.2 Results

7.2.1 Growth rate

7.2.1.1 Plant biomass

Table 7.1 Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) for the weight of lettuce variety root grown in different temperature regime, (n=3).

	Weight of root (g/plant)	
	Fresh weight	Dry weight
<u>Variety</u>		
<u>Dixter</u>		
12/8	$3.057 \pm 0.086 \ a$	0.326 ± 0.027 a
17/13	$1.928\pm0.102\ b$	$0.133\pm0.007~b$
22/18	$1.144 \pm 0.021 \text{ c}$	$0.068 \pm 0.003 \ c$
27/23	$0.579 \pm 0.019 \; d$	$0.037 \pm 0.001 \ c$
32/28	$0.673 \pm 0.052 \; d$	$0.045 \pm 0.003 \ c$
<u>Exbury</u>		
12/8	$1.722 \pm 0.103 \ a$	0.121 ± 0.013 a
17/13	$1.084 \pm 0.113 \; b$	$0.061 \pm 0.005 \; b$
22/18	$0.476\pm0.038\;c$	$0.026\pm0.002\ c$
27/23	$0.277\pm0.018\ c$	$0.017\pm0.001\ c$
32/28	$0.550 \pm 0.076 \; c$	$0.037\pm0.005\ bc$
ANOVA P-Values		
Varieties	0.000	0.000
Temperature	0.000	0.000
Varieties* temperature	0.000	0.000

The values are Mean \pm standard error of means followed by different letters are significantly different, the highlight P-value indicated significant differences (P< 0.05).

	Weight of leaf (g/plant)	
-	Fresh weight	Dry weight
<u>Parmex</u>		
12/8	$1.816 \pm 0.191 \; b$	0.334 ± 0.028 b
17/13	$4.140 \pm 0.179 \ a$	0.657 ± 0.033 a
22/18	4.281 ± 0.191 a	0.668 ± 0.022 a
27/23	$2.535\pm0.422\ b$	0.427 ± 0.026 b
Little Finger		
12/8	$2.229\pm0.089\ b$	$0.436\pm0.031\text{ b}$
17/13	4.508 ± 0.264 a	0.730 ± 0.053 a
22/18	4.070 ± 0.357 a	0.667 ± 0.057 a
27/23	$2.563 \pm 0.143 \; b$	$0.380\pm0.030\text{ b}$
ANOVA P-Values		
Varieties	0.437	0.251
Temperature	0.000	0.000
Varieties* temperature	0.634	0.199

Table 7.2 Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) for the weight of carrot variety leaf grown in different temperature regimes, (n=3).

The values are Mean \pm standard error of means followed by different letters are significantly different, the highlight P-value indicated significant differences (P< 0.05).
Table 7.3	Analysis of	Variance	(ANOVA)	for the	total	plant	weight	(fresh	and	dry)	of
lettuce var	rieties grown	in differe	nt tempera	ture reg	ime, ((n=3).					

	Total pla	nt weight(g)
	Fresh weight	Dry weight
<u>Variety</u>		
<u>Dixter</u>		
12/8	11.57 ± 0.43 a	$1.27\pm0.05~a$
17/13	$13.57 \pm 0.68 \text{ a}$	$0.86\pm0.04\ b$
22/18	$11.59 \pm 0.21 \text{ a}$	$0.66\pm0.01\ c$
27/23	$8.17\pm0.45\;b$	$0.48\pm0.01~d$
32/28	$7.16\pm0.43\ b$	$0.44 \pm 0.02 \; d$
<u>Exbury</u>		
12/8	$8.44\pm0.63\ a$	$0.61\pm0.05~a$
17/13	$7.61\pm0.98\ ab$	$0.43\pm0.05\ b$
22/18	$7.77\pm0.46\ ab$	$0.39\pm0.01\ bc$
27/23	$5.11\pm0.34\ b$	$0.25\pm0.01\ c$
32/28	$6.76\pm0.41\ ab$	$0.43\pm0.03\ b$
ANOVA P-Values		
Varieties	0.000	0.000
Temperature	0.000	0.000
Varieties* temperature	0.001	0.000

The values are Mean \pm standard error of means (SEM) followed by different letters are significantly different; the highlight P-value indicated significant differences (P< 0.05).

	Total plant	weight(g)
	Fresh weight	Dry weight
Variety		
<u>Parmex</u>		
12/8	$4.64\pm0.26\ c$	$0.70 \pm 0.04 c$
17/13	11.78 ± 0.38 a	$1.62 \pm 0.05 \ a$
22/18	$7.52\pm0.54\ b$	$1.03\pm0.07\;b$
27/23	$2.62\pm0.43\ d$	$0.44 \ \pm 0.03 \ d$
Little Finger		
12/8	$3.97 \pm 0.55 \ c$	$0.66\pm0.10\ c$
17/13	$10.81\pm0.56~a$	$1.43\pm0.06\ a$
22/18	$7.69\pm0.87\ b$	$1.05\pm0.12\ b$
27/23	$2.65\pm0.16\ c$	$0.39\pm0.03\ c$
ANOVA P-Values		
Varieties	0.309	0.154
Temperature	0.000	0.000
Varieties* temperature	0.588	0.363

Table 7.4 Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) for the total plant weight (fresh and dry) of carrot varieties grown in different temperature regime, (n=3).

The values are Mean \pm standard error of means followed by different letters are significantly different, the highlight P-value indicated significant differences (P< 0.05).

7.2.2 Chlorophylls and carotenoids

Peak	Retention time	symbol	compound	HPLC- DAD
	(RT)			UV spectrum λ_{max} (nm)
1	38.2	Lut	Lutein	421sh,443,471
2	40.5	Chl b	Chlorophyll b	436sh, 463,470
3	41.8	Chl a	Chlorophyll a	338,385,418,432
4	45.4	α-car	α-carotene	424sh, 444, 472
5	45.7	β-car	β-carotene	422,450,474
6	46.3	Cis β-car	Cis β-carotene	421,446,469

Table 7.5 Carotenoids of lettuce leaves with the HPLC specific UV spectrum



Figure 7.5 The effect of lettuce leaf variety (Dixter and Exbury) and temperature on chlorophyll a and b (mg/cm^2) . Means with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n = 3).

unterent temperature regime, (n=5).								
Sum of chlorophylls and carotenoids of lettuce leaf (mg/ 100g FW)								
	Sum of chlorophylls	sum of carotenoids						
Variety	(a + b)	(Lut, β -car and <i>Cis</i> β -car)						
<u>Dixter</u>								
12/8	$49.34 \pm \ 4.17 \ b$	$5.76\pm0.35~b$						
17/13	$65.61 \pm 4.46 \text{ ab}$	$6.03\pm~0.38~b$						
22/18	82.52 ± 7.69 a	12.98 ± 0.67 a						
27/23	83.61 ± 4.37 a	$5.72\pm~0.18~b$						
32/28	91.13 ± 7.61 a	$5.93 \pm \ 0.45 \ b$						
Exbury								
12/8	$39.44 \pm 1.95 c$	$3.87 \pm 0.18 \text{ ab}$						
17/13	$36.53 \pm 0.11 \text{ c}$	$3.30\pm~0.15~b$						
22/18	$55.02 \pm 5.17 \text{ b}$	$4.87 \pm 0.41 \text{ a}$						
27/23	68.91 ± 2.73 a	$4.68 \pm 0.22 \text{ a}$						
32/28	$39.19 \pm 0.52 c$	$2.01 \pm 0.05 c$						
ANOVA P-Values								
Variety	0.000	0.000						
Temperature	0.000	0.000						
Variety *Temperature	0.002	0.000						

Table 7.6 Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) for the sum chlorophylls (a and b) and carotenoids (Lutein, β -carotene and *Cis* β -carotene) of lettuce leaf varieties grown in different temperature regime, (n=3).

The values are Mean \pm standard error of means within followed by different letters are significantly different, the highlight P-value indicated significant differences (P< 0.05).

Sum of chlorophylls and carotenoids of carrot (mg/100 g FW)								
	_	Root						
	sum of chlorophylls	sum of carotenoids	sum of carotenoids					
	(a + b)	(Lut, β -car and Cis β -car)	(Lut, α -car, β -car and <i>Cis</i> β -car)					
<u>Variety</u>								
Parmex								
12/8	$98.30\pm4.96~a$	$9.22\pm0.33~b$	$3.72\pm0.58~\text{b}$					
17/13	105.00 ± 3.95 a	$9.63\pm0.58~b$	11.43 ± 0.65 a					
22/18	100.90 ± 3.53 a	12.16 ± 0.11 a	7.63 ± 0.42 ab					
27/23	90.90 ± 3.57 a	$4.58\pm0.04\ c$						
Little Finger								
12/8	$106.10 \pm 4.76 a$	$8.19\pm~0.77~bc$	2.33 ± 1.07 a					
17/13	112.90 ± 6.79 a	$9.99\pm~0.47~b$	3.43 ± 0.19 a					
22/18	134.40 ± 9.85 a	16.36 ± 1.41 a	3.34 ± 0.21 a					
27/23	106.40 ± 4.91 a	$5.47\pm0.53~c$						
ANOVA P-values								
Varieties	0.000	0.028	0.000					
Temperature	0.012	0.000	0.001					
Var * Temp	0.082	0.008	0.006					

Table 7.7 Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) for the sum chlorophylls (a + b) and carotenoids (Lut, α -car, β -car and *Cis* β -car) of carrot leaf and root variety grown in different temperature regime, (n=3).

The values are Mean \pm standard error of means within followed by different letters are significantly different, the highlight P-value indicated significant differences (P< 0.05).



Figure 7. 6 The effect of temperature regimes and carrot variety (Parmex and Little Finger) and temperature on total polyacetylene compounds (FaDOH, FaDOAc and FaOH). Means with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05). Error bars indicate Standard Error of Mean, (n = 3).

7.2.4 Phenolic compounds



Figure 7.7 HPLC chromatogram recorded at 520 nm with diode array detector of Anthocyanin in Lettuce leaf grown (at 12/8 °C).

	Chlorogenic acid and unknown phenolic peaks (mg/100g FW) of carrot leaf										
	Pk 1	Pk 2 (3-CQA)	Pk 3	Pk 4	Pk 5	Pk 6	Pk 7	Pk 8	Pk 9	Pk 10	Sum of phenolic (all peaks)
Parmex –											
12/8	$2.65\pm0.64~a$	$16.25 \pm 2.87 \text{ b}$	$1.20\pm0.23\ b$	$8.88\pm0.23~a$	$1.75\pm0.41~a$	$1.82\pm0.35\ a$	$6.42\pm0.44~a$	$11.40 \pm \ 0.63 \ a$	$1.86\pm0.60\ a$	17.93 ± 6.71 a	$70.16\pm9.70\ b$
17/13	$2.79\pm0.49~a$	144.81 ± 5.22 a	$3.81\pm0.44~ab$	$2.01\pm0.60\ b$	$0.50\pm0.22\ b$	$0.49\pm0.04\ b$	$5.00\pm0.43\ a$	$2.37\pm0.45\ b$	$1.69\pm0.23~a$	25.09 ± 1.63 a	188.00 ± 5.38 a
22/18	$3.28\pm0.39\ a$	$11.84\pm4.77~b$	$2.16\pm0.33\ ab$	$1.33\pm0.51~b$	$0.23\pm0.10~b$	$0.41\pm0.09~b$	$1.47\pm0.75\ b$	$0.96\pm0.42\ bc$	$1.65\pm0.49~a$	$11.31 \pm 1.99 \ a$	$34.65\pm9.16\ b$
27/23	$3.84\pm0.68\ a$	$14.87\pm3.99~b$	5.31 ± 1.37 a	$3.04\pm0.92~b$	$0.29\pm0.03~b$	$0.42\pm0.08~b$	$0.87\pm0.17\ b$	$0.38\pm0.13\;c$	$6.25\pm1.60~a$	$30.84 \pm 6.95 \text{ a}$	$66.03 \pm 13.91 \ b$
Little Finger											
12/8	$0.85\pm0.27~b$	$45.05\pm2.06\ b$	$1.93\pm0.10~\text{b}$	$5.54 \pm 1.60 \text{ a}$	$2.17\pm0.31~\text{a}$	$1.88\pm0.56\ a$	$25.85\pm1.32~a$	$25.35\pm2.23~a$	$5.14 \pm 0.93 ab$	$39.33\pm7.17\ ab$	$144.46\pm5.52\ b$
17/13	$1.12\pm0.22~b$	$145.55 \pm 3.53 \; a$	$5.68\pm0.61\ a$	$1.04\pm0.36~b$	$0.66\pm0.01\ b$	$0.51\pm0.06\ b$	$3.74\pm1.14\ b$	$6.74\pm0.95\ b$	$2.42\pm0.17bc$	$49.49\pm7.15~a$	$216.04\pm10.23a$
22/18	$2.10\pm0.47\ ab$	$9.68 \pm 0.74 \ c$	$2.35\pm0.09\ b$	$0.37\pm0.19~b$	$0.32\pm0.08~b$	$0.34\pm0.04\ b$	$0.68\pm0.06\ b$	$1.00\pm0.15\ c$	$1.81\pm0.58\ c$	$6.31 \pm 1.67 \ c$	$24.97 \pm 2.97 \; d$
27/23	$2.31\pm0.20\;a$	$20.82\pm3.75\;c$	$5.36\pm0.92\ a$	$0.50\pm0.03\ b$	$0.30\pm0.06~b$	$0.35\pm0.05\ b$	$0.87\pm0.08\ b$	$0.20\pm0.05\;c$	5.73 ± 0.71 a	25.43 ± 2.54 bc	$61.87 \pm 5.65 \ c$
ANOVA P-values											
Varieties	0.000	0.007	0.209	0.001	0.236	0.916	0.000	0.000	0.176	0.028	0.002
Temperature	0.026	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
Var*Temp	0.929	0.005	0.588	0.275	0.750	0.988	0.000	0.000	0.210	0.010	0.001

Table 7.8 Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) for the phenolic peaks of carrot leaf variety grown in different temperature regime, (n=3).

The values are Mean \pm standard error of mean followed by different letters are significantly different, the highlight P-value indicated significant differences (P< 0.05), (n = 3).

	Chlorogenic acid and unknown phenolic peaks (mg/100g FW) of carrot root										
	Pk 1	Pk 2 (3-CQA)	Pk 3	Pk 4	Pk 5	Pk 6	Pk 7	Pk 8	Pk 9	Pk 10	Sum of phenolics (10 peaks)
Parmex											
12/8	$0.30\pm~0.06~a$	$1.22\pm\ 0.31\ a$	$0.14\pm~0.04~a$	$0.26\pm~0.06~a$	$0.80\pm~0.17~a$	$1.86\pm\ 0.45\ b$	$0.16\pm\ 0.03\ a$	$0.06\pm~0.02~c$	$0.17\pm~0.05~b$	$0.39 \pm \ 0.01 \ a$	5.34 ± 1.13 a
17/13	$0.33\pm~0.02~a$	$1.71\pm\ 0.25\ a$	$0.09\pm~0.01~a$	$0.19\pm~0.01~a$	$0.86\pm0.06~a$	$3.04\pm~0.28~ab$	$0.14\pm0.01~a$	$0.12\pm\ 0.01\ b$	$0.30\pm~0.03~b$	$0.36\pm\ 0.02\ a$	$7.14\pm\ 0.47\ a$
22/18	$0.41\pm0.09~a$	$2.34\pm~0.60~a$	$0.14\pm~0.03~a$	$0.18\pm0.02~a$	$1.01\pm0.21~a$	$5.36 \pm \ 1.22 \ a$	$0.26\pm0.05~a$	$0.19\pm~0.02~a$	$0.54\pm~0.01~a$	$0.40\pm~0.07~a$	$10.83 \pm 2.36 \text{ a}$
Little Finger											
12/8	$0.41\pm0.08~a$	$2.79\pm~1.16~a$	$0.18\pm\ 0.03\ a$	$0.38\pm~0.05~a$	$1.21\pm\ 0.24\ a$	$3.47 \pm \ 0.57 \ ab$	$0.33\pm~0.04~a$	$0.19\pm~0.04~b$	$0.66\pm~0.10~a$	$0.18\pm\ 0.04\ a$	$9.78 \pm 2.07 \ a$
17/13	$0.18\pm0.03~a$	$1.44 \pm 0.40 \text{ a}$	$0.07\pm~0.00~b$	$0.16\pm\ 0.01\ b$	$0.51\pm0.09\ a$	$1.80\pm\ 0.30\ b$	$0.16\pm~0.03~b$	$0.10\pm\ 0.01\ b$	$0.33\pm~0.06~b$	$0.07\pm0.02\ a$	$4.81 \pm 0.93 a$
22/18	$0.34\pm0.05~a$	$2.30 \pm 0.11 \text{ a}$	$0.12\pm0.01~ab$	$0.26 \pm 0.02 ab$	$0.84\pm0.17~a$	$5.24 \pm 0.60 \text{ a}$	$0.26 \pm 0.03 ab$	$0.36\pm~0.01~a$	$0.91\pm~0.04~a$	$0.14\pm~0.03~a$	$10.76 \pm \ 0.86 \ a$
ANOVA P-values											
Varieties	0.456	0.372	0.837	0.074	0.804	0.877	0.031	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.558
Temperature	0.090	0.417	0.018	0.003	0.147	0.001	0.010	0.000	0.000	0.374	0.012
Var*Temp	0.098	0.234	0.374	0.098	0.081	0.103	0.042	0.001	0.007	0.713	0.080

Table 7.9 Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) for the phenolic peaks of carrot root variety grown in different temperature regime, (n=3).

The values are Mean \pm standard error of mean followed by different letters are significantly different, the highlight P-value indicated significant differences (P< 0.05), (n = 3).

Standard, name	Concentration,	Area	nm
	mg/ml		
Lutein	0.000737	200239	450
α-carotene	0.000344	26717	450
β-carotene	0.00193	746815	450
Chlorophyll a	0.01238	111736	450
Chlorophyll b	0.00809	397733	450
Falcarinol	0.5412	19211412	205
Falcarindiol	0.2177	12929874	205
Falcarindiol-3-acetate	0.1230	5975803	205
Caftaric acid	0.1	7563305	320
Chlorogenic acid	0.1	8588202	320
Cichoric acid	0.1	9523060	320

Table 7.10 show the conversion factors of main standards used



Figure 7. 8 Visible spectra of Rutin (A) and chlorogenic acid (B) standards